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PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Performance Overview 

Our vision is for Better Health for Sunderland is delivered through our three key 
strategic objectives: 

 Transforming out of hospital care (through joining up health and social care 
and enable seven day working); 

 Transforming in hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care (and 
enabling seven day working) 

 Enabling self-care and sustainability to ensure the NHS can survive and 
thrive in the future. 

 
In this, our performance overview, we have set out our main areas of work and 
achievements towards this vision during 2017/18, as well as outlining our business 
model, organisational structure, and an overview of our local population. 
 

Statement from the Clinical Chair and Chief Officer 

Welcome to the NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group’s fifth annual report 
covering the financial year 2017/18. 
 
The past 12 months have seen significant achievements in Sunderland’s NHS as we 
work towards the Five Year Forward View vision through a range of initiatives. We 
have made a success of the new models of care vanguard programme, working 
towards community services integration and making a significant improvement to 
services. 
 
This has included a radical cultural change, working closely with our partners and 
stakeholders, in the way care is delivered in Sunderland. As a result, more patients 
are now able to receive the treatment they need outside a hospital environment 
where this is appropriate. 
 
The Recovery at Home teams and community integrated teams are now well known 
across Sunderland and performing well.  Building on this work, we are working 
towards implementing a health-based multi-speciality provider model with our 
partners across the city in order to secure the out of hospital model of care for the 
future.  This is explained in more detail later in this report. 
 
We are reviewing urgent and emergency care services to improve delivery and 
provide a simpler system for patients to access.   
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We have continued to develop new and innovative ways to address the nationally 
recognised shortage of GPs and primary care staff.   We know this is a challenge for 
our practices, and we have taken a series of steps to manage these issues and 
encourage more GPs and primary care staff to start and/or build their careers in 
Sunderland.  
 
These include: 

 GP career start scheme: This scheme enables GPs to train while working, 
and during the past year has helped us to recruit 10 new GPs to work in 
Sunderland 

 ‘Golden hello’ scheme and GP training bursary: These initiatives are also 
supporting GPs to come and work in Sunderland 

 Working with universities: We are working in partnership to develop training 
programmes, with placements now taking place in Sunderland  

 
We will continue to build on this work to ensure a sustainable workforce for 
Sunderland in the future. The announcement of plans for a new medical school at 
the University of Sunderland is another major step forward.   
 
We sought re-assessment against the Investors in People (IIP) standard in July 
2017, having first achieved the gold standard award in 2014.  We wanted to continue 
to utilise the IIP framework as an opportunity to receive feedback on our strengths 
and development areas, with a strong emphasis on continuous improvement.  Our 
assessment took place between July and December 2017 and we were delighted 
that the CCG was accredited with a platinum level award.  This was a huge 
achievement reflects the commitment and hard work of all our staff across every 
level of the organisation.   
 
Healthcare organisations nationally have been challenged to work together to adapt 
local services to address the three care gaps identified in the NHS Five Year 
Forward View - in health and wellbeing, care and quality and finance and efficiency.    
 
Working within this framework, we have worked closely with City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust, NHS South Tyneside CCG and South Tyneside 
NHS Foundation Trust, to review and plan hospital services through a strategic 
transformation programme (reform of services) known as the Path to Excellence.   
 
The programme has been set up to secure the future of local NHS hospital services 
in Sunderland and South Tyneside and to identify new and innovative ways of 
delivering high quality, joined up, safe and sustainable care to benefit our 
populations both now and in the future.  
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We will continue to work towards this shared vision for a five-year transformation of 
healthcare services and ensure we continue to have safe, high quality services for 
our local residents in the future. 
 
 

       
 
Dr Ian Pattison    David Gallagher 
Clinical Chair     Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
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Statement of Purpose 

This section includes descriptions of our business model and environment, 
organisational structure, objectives and strategies. 
 

About NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group 

NHS Sunderland CCG is the statutory body responsible for planning, purchasing and 
monitoring the delivery and quality of most local healthcare and health services for 
the people of Sunderland. It is made up of doctors, nurses and other health 
professionals with management support.  
 
All GP practices in Sunderland are members of the CCG, and together they elect six 
GPs to lead the CCG on their behalf, as part of a governing body which also includes 
a local authority representative, lay members, senior managers, a secondary care 
clinician and a senior nurse.  
 
The Governing Body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the 
strategy for health improvement in the city and ensuring the CCG delivers the 
improvements set out in the strategy whilst maintaining and adhering to good 
governance principles. The Governing Body works closely with a range of partners, 
as part of Sunderland’s Health and Wellbeing Board, to improve the overall wellbeing 
of local people.  
 

Our vision 

Our vision is to achieve Better Health for Sunderland. The CCG uses the following 
seven core values to support the delivery of our vision: 
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These seven core values were informed through local engagement with member 
practices, patients and local people, and they shape everything we do to deliver our 
vision.   
 

System principles 

The following system-wide principles underpin the delivery of all our transformational 
change programmes:  

 Evidence-based 

 Effective, safe care and positive patient experience 

 Prevention-focused  

 Mental and physical health of equal importance  

 7-day services 

 One system for health and social care across Sunderland 

 

Overview of Sunderland 

276,080 people live in Sunderland, with an increase of 2,179 (0.8%) forecast over 
the next 10 years.  
 

 

Source: 2013 mid‐year population estimates, ONS; 2012‐based subnational population projections, ONS 
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The age structure of our population is expected to change significantly over the next 
ten years, with large increases in the number of elderly, and particularly very elderly, 
residents, with significant implications for the future of health care. Even if general 
levels of health in these age groups continue to improve, the shape and structure of 
health services will need to change in order to meet their changing needs, 
particularly as older people use services more often, have more complex needs and 
stay longer in hospital. 
 
Levels of deprivation remain high in Sunderland, with 70 of Sunderland’s 188 super 
output areas being among the fifth most disadvantaged across England.  
Approximately 37% of our population live within these areas. Levels of health and 
underlying risk factors in Sunderland are among the most challenging in the country 
and this presents the CCG with some key challenges which are highlighted below. 
 

Key challenges 

The Five Year Forward View identified three key challenges for the NHS:  

 To improve health and wellbeing: Health is determined by a complex 
interaction between individual characteristics, lifestyle, and the physical, social 
and economic environment. People in Sunderland are living longer but are at 
risk of spending their extended years in poor health as a result of high levels 
of poverty, deprivation and lack of opportunity which influence behaviours 
such as poor diet, lack of exercise, smoking and excessive alcohol use. 
Without greater focus on prevention and the wider determinants of health, 
these inequalities will widen. 

 Improve care and quality: The quality of general practice is very good, but 
pressures are increasing and workforce recruitment and retention in 
Sunderland and the wider North East has historically been challenging. There 
are a number of challenges facing our two local hospital providers, City 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust. 
To ensure safe, sustainable high quality services in the future, it is important 
that the issue of duplication in service provision is addressed. 

 Ensure sustainability: funding and efficiency challenge: 2017/18 has been 
financially challenging for the CCG and we expect this challenge to continue 
and become more difficult in 2018/19. Rapid delivery of financial and 
associated efficiencies, alongside increased productivity, will be needed in 
order to remain within the available allocations. 
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High-level health challenges 

The high level health challenges we face in Sunderland include:  

 Responding to changes in the population structure, including fewer children 
and younger working age adults, an increasing elderly population and greater 
ethnic diversity. 8.3% of our population is aged 75 and over, compared to the 
England average of 8.1% (based on 2014 mid-year population estimates). 

 Tackling poverty through increasing employment, educational attainment and 
skills to give every child the best start in life. In Sunderland, the prevalence of 
childhood poverty is 23.6% against the England average of 18.6% (based on 
the 2013 snapshot from HMRC). In Sunderland 25.3% of the population aged 
16-64 are qualified to NVQ level 4 or equivalent or above (higher education) 
compared to 36.7% for England (based on 2015 data from the Annual 
Population Survey). 

 Tackling the big four lifestyle risk factors – smoking, excessive alcohol use, 
poor diet, and low levels of physical activity. The prevalence of smoking in 
adults aged 18 years and over is 22.8% in Sunderland compared to the 
England average of 18.0% (based on 2014 data from the Integrated 
Household Survey). 

 Preventing early deaths from cancer, cardiovascular disease and respiratory 
disease. People in Sunderland on average live shorter lives than the England 
average. Life expectancy at birth is 77.3 years for males and 80.8 years for 
females, compared to 79.5 for males and 83.2 for females in England (based 
on data for 2012-2014). 

 Managing the likely increase in the level of long term conditions, including 
increasing proportions of people with multiple long term conditions. 

 Delivering better integrated care for individuals and reducing the over-reliance 
on hospital services, through promotion and support for self-care. 

 Tackling poor mental health through prevention and building individual and 
community resilience. 

 Addressing teenage pregnancy, smoking during pregnancy, breastfeeding 
and child obesity. 

 

Strategic objectives 

In order to achieve our vision of Better Health for Sunderland, we have reviewed our 
three key strategic objectives for 2017/18 which are:  
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Transforming out of hospital care:    

 Patient-centred 

 Right care, right place, right time  

 System-wide approach with one common vision  

 Multi-disciplinary teams in localities working together with older people, adults 
and children with long term conditions / complex needs to improve their lives / 
meet their needs  

 Improved overall quality of care for the elderly  

 Reduced variation in primary care  

 A system which is simple to navigate  

 Reduced emergency admissions to hospital as people are cared for 
effectively in the community 

 

Transforming in- hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care: 

 Equality of access across the city to urgent care  

 24/7 hub  

 More seamless transition between services   

 Reduction in emergency admissions 

 

Enabling Self Care and Sustainability: 

 Local people influence and understand the system  

 A city that actively supports / enables people to be and stay healthy, well and 
happy  

 Improved public health outcomes  

 Managing demand and utilising community assets 

 A single Transformation Board to oversee this work 

 Working closely with partners in neighbouring CCGs where our patients use 
services in those areas or where the level of transformation required is on a 
larger footprint than Sunderland. 
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Statement of Activities 

Below we outline our main areas of work and some of our achievements during the 
past year.  
 

Transforming out of hospital care  

All Together Better Sunderland 

As part of NHS England’s new models of care programme, All Together Better has 
played a key role in making services more integrated, person-centred and efficient.  
 
In 2015 Sunderland was awarded ‘vanguard status’ which provided additional 
funding to deliver the Sunderland vision – to transform care out of hospital through 
increased integration of services and more person-centred care. The ‘All Together 
Better Sunderland’ vanguard programme ran between 2015 and December 2017. 
 
Working in partnership, the programme’s collaborative provider board has steered 
our work towards establishing a multi-speciality community provider (MCP) to ensure 
a better co-ordinated response to patients and carers, helping people to stay as well 
as possible and out of hospital if they don’t need to be there.  
 
The core partnership, led by the CCG and Sunderland City Council, brings together 
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust, City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust, Sunderland Care and Support, Sunderland Carers’ Centre, Age UK 
Sunderland, Sunderland GP Alliance, Washington Community Health Care 
Federation and Northumberland Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust. 
 
Over the past year, the provider board has continued to develop our model, with the 
aim of helping patients to live with support in the community. This work includes 
these key elements:  

 Recovery at home – rapid response, intermediate care service: This helps 
to support patients’ recovery after discharge from hospital and prevent 
emergency admissions. Working 24/7, the service provides a single point of 
access for patients and professionals, with key nursing and care teams based 
in one building with shared management arrangements.  

 Community integrated teams: Five community integrated teams have been 
established, with nurses and social workers supporting communities in 
localities across the city. The third sector is integral to our approach, with Age 
UK Sunderland’s Living Well Link workers and Sunderland Carers’ Centre’s 
carer locality leads supporting each GP practice through a multi-disciplinary 
team process. 
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 Enhanced primary care: GPs across the city are working with all primary 
care professionals and other key partners to further improve services for the 
future. This includes working to provide more services in communities and 
outside hospitals and looking at the potential for new technology to support 
the best possible care at home. This work also focuses on how community 
services can work more closely with other support organisations to help 
people stay independent and in the best possible health for longer.   

 
To find out more about All Together Better, visit www.atbsunderland.org.uk.  
 

Multi-Speciality Community Provider  

As a CCG, we currently commission healthcare services from over 40 different 
providers. To secure the out of hospital model of care for the future, we are 
commissioning a multi-specially community provider (MCP) with relevant partners. 
This new body will be responsible for integrating £240m per year of ‘out of hospital’ 
services from April 2019. 
 
During November and December 2017, we conducted an extensive engagement 
exercise to hear the views of patients, the voluntary and community sector, and 
partner organisations about the key principles of the new MCP. Engagement 
activities included: 

 188 paper / on-line survey returns 

 600 street survey interviews 

 21 people attended one of four CCG focus groups 

 64 people attended one of seven VCSO focus groups 

 39 people attended one of two deliberative events 

 Individual stakeholder submissions were also received 

 
Independent interest groups and Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) / third 
sector organisations were invited to hold focus group sessions for the MCP 
engagement, and the following organisations held a focus group: 

 The LGBT Federation North East 

 International Community Organisation of Sunderland 

 Sunderland Carers Centre 

 Sunderland Recovery College 

 Sunderland People First 
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 Healing Opportunities Wellbeing Service (HOPs) 

 Refugee and Asylums seekers association  

 

This engagement followed a significant amount of earlier engagement work with 
patients and partners to plan the MCP and inform the model of care which underpins 
this contract. This work started in 2013 and continued through the All Together 
Better programme, when it began in 2015.  
 
Patients and other stakeholders made it clear that they wished to address the 
fragmentation of community services and ensure more co-ordinated care for the 
people who need it most in our communities.  
 
GP practices were keen to build stronger connections with community health and 
care services so that they can respond effectively to the needs of patients. This 
feedback helped us to shape the local care model as well as the application to be a 
vanguard in 2015.  
 
Local surveys in 2016 and 2017 also helped us gain a better understanding of 
people’s views of  care services and the way they work together, as well as 
awareness of All Together Better itself and feelings about self-care. These showed 
that people’s main concerns included: 

 Staying independent for longer (40%) 

 Faster access to care and support (22%) 

 Seeing a health and social care professional together rather than waiting for 
separate appointments (13%) 

 A single point of contact to access the required services (13%) 

 
In addition, Age UK Sunderland engaged with local groups and communities, 
providing information about the programme and gathering feedback. This offered 
further insights into patient and carer experiences of existing services and people’s 
views of the model of care, as well as raising awareness of the All Together Better 
programme. 
 
The MCP will build on these foundations, integrating all the health services that are 
commissioned to help people manage their health and care needs out of hospital.  
As a result, we aim to improve the quality of care, health and wellbeing, and 
sustainability of the health and care system for the future.  

To find out more about the MCP, visit www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/multi-
specialty-community-provider-mcp-model. 
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Community beds in Sunderland 

We are currently reviewing the community beds provided through the Recovery at 
Home service. An engagement exercise in August 2017 provided valuable feedback 
from patients and staff, as well as considering the kind of care and support that could 
help patients get back home sooner. We are currently reviewing the provision of 
community beds and audit work to inform the new service model is underway. We 
will engage with both staff and patients again during the coming year as this work 
moves forward.  
 

Transforming in-hospital care 

The Path to Excellence 

The Path to Excellence is a five-year transformation of healthcare provision across 
South Tyneside and Sunderland, with the aim of securing the future of local NHS 
hospital services and identifying new and innovative ways to deliver high quality, 
joined up, sustainable care in the future. 
 
The programme is led by the South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership, 
which includes Sunderland and South Tyneside CCGs alongside City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust and South Tyneside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust. All four NHS organisations are committed to delivering the best possible 
services for our local populations for the future through the Path to Excellence 
programme. 
 
This joint working began in 2016, and this year has delivered a programme of 
engagement and consultation on a range of options for three areas of acute hospital 
care which are likely to be vulnerable without change: 

 Stroke care services 
 Maternity (obstetrics) and women’s healthcare (inpatient gynaecology) 

services 
 Children and young people’s (urgent and emergency paediatrics) services 

 
Working together, we have carried out a substantial amount of work to listen to the 
views of patients, communities and partner organisations so that this feedback can 
inform the proposed changes to hospital services. 
 
Following pre-engagement activity from December 2016 to February 2017, public 
consultation started in July and closed in October 2017. This extensive consultation 
work included:   

 Consultation document, summary document and ‘easy read’ version 
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 19 public events, attended by 443 people  

 12 staff events, involving 196 members of staff  

 23 focus groups, listening to 234 people who may be more impacted by any 
potential changes than other residents 

 46 individual or organisational responses 

 290 direct responses from patients with experience of healthcare services  

 862 people completed a paper or online survey  

 807 people took part in on-street survey interviews 

 Two staff feedback sessions and two public feedback events 

 Executive summary and final independent feedback analysis report of public 
insights around the proposed changes to stroke, paediatrics, gynaecology and 
maternity services in South Tyneside and Sunderland.  

 
Independent interest groups and Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) / third 
sector organisations were invited to hold focus group sessions for The Path to 
Excellence consultation, and efforts were made to engage groups considered to 
have protected characteristics and encourage them to take part. The following 
organisations held a focus group for this consultation. 

 Bliss = Ability 

 The LGBT Federation North East 

 North of England Refugee service 

 Stroke association 

 Talk 2 Us 

 WHIST 

 Children and Young People’s mental health service 

 Sight Service 

 South Tyneside CCG Patient Reference Group 

 The Studio @ CIC 

 Talk and sign 

 Patient and toddler group 

 Clervaux toddler morning 

 St Matthews toddler group 

 South Tyneside TEN Young Carers 
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 Apna Ghar 

 Sunderland People First 

 
In addition, two public feedback sessions and two staff feedback sessions were 
organised in early December 2017 so local people could hear directly from the 
analysists who drafted the report for phase one.   
 
Between January – March 2018, further engagement activities were held with staff 
for phase two of the Path to Excellence consultation. 
 
For more information about the Path to Excellence consultation, go to: 
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/path-excellence-public-consultation-
create-best-possible-improvements-health-care-south-tyneside-sunderland/  
 

Working with Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 

A significant part of the Path to Excellence programme involves working with the joint 
overview and scrutiny committee recently established by South Tyneside and 
Sunderland local authorities to scrutinise this work. CCG representatives have 
attended 11 meetings with this formal joint committee since April 2016, with around 
30 hours of scrutiny discussions. 
 
A review of equality delivery will continue to build on the relationships established 
with the community and voluntary sector to develop an equality engagement strategy 
for the programme. This will include working with a charity specialising in giving 
people with learning disability and autism a voice. The programme will also develop 
a new protocol for accessible information for future phases and related work. 
 

Establishment of a stakeholder advisory panel 

As the programme moves into phase two, work is continuing to bring wider staff and 
stakeholders into the process. A key aspect of this has been the establishment of a 
stakeholder advisory panel drawn from trade unions, foundation trust governors, 
local authorities and community and voluntary organisations. The panel will review 
communications and engagement plans and work to ensure that a wide range of 
views is taken into account.  
 

Travel and transport  

At an early stage in the programme, travel and transport were identified as key 
concerns to be addressed. Recognising this concern, the partners organised specific 
travel and transport events as part of the consultation – one for the public, followed 
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by a stakeholder event which considered the feedback in more detail. This has 
helped us to identify people’s concerns in relation to travel and transport and what 
might be needed to mitigate these.  
 
The stakeholder event was attended by travel and transport organisations, bus 
providers, councils and third sector organisations. The issues, concerns and ideas 
raised through these events has helped to frame our discussions with those 
organisations directly involved in travel and transport. A working group is now taking 
these issues forward. 
 

Decision-making 

The governing bodies of the two CCGs have a statutory responsibility to make a 
decision on the final arrangement of the services under consultation. 
 
Following a series of sessions to help governing body members of South Tyneside 
and Sunderland CCGs to consider the issues in detail, the CCGs agreed changes to 
the three services at a meeting held in common in February 2018 which was also 
broadcast live on the internet. 
 
The decision of the two governing bodies at the meeting in common was to 
implement the following: 
 
Stroke consultation option 1 - all acute strokes directed to Sunderland Royal Hospital 
with the consolidation of all inpatient stroke care at Sunderland. This model has been 
running temporarily since December 2016 due to service vulnerability and is already 
showing improvements in patients accessing key diagnostics and thrombolysis 
treatment earlier.  
 
Maternity (obstetrics) and women’s healthcare (inpatient gynaecology) services 
option 1 - the development of a free-standing midwifery-led unit at South Tyneside 
District Hospital and a medically-led obstetric unit at Sunderland Royal Hospital. 
Gynaecology care requiring an overnight hospital stay will be carried out at 
Sunderland Royal Hospital, and care for minor gynaecology conditions, including day 
case surgery and outpatients clinics, will continue at South Tyneside District 
Hospital. 
 
Children and young people (urgent and emergency paediatrics) services option 2 -  
the development of a nurse-led paediatric minor injury and illness facility at South 
Tyneside District Hospital open 8am to 10pm, and a 24/7 paediatric emergency 
department at Sunderland Royal. 
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However, the governing bodies recognised that it would take time to develop this 
model and therefore approved option 1 as a transitional step towards option 2.  
Option 1 was for a daytime paediatric emergency department at South Tyneside 
District Hospital and 24/7 paediatric emergency department at Sunderland Royal. In 
addition, the governing bodies agreed to extend the opening hours of the South 
Tyneside daytime paediatric emergency department service and future nurse-led 
paediatric minor injury and illness facility to 8am to 10pm, extended from 8pm as a 
result of public consultation feedback. 
 

Equality delivery 

The Path to Excellence plans are subject to a rigorous NHS assurance process 
which aims to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of opportunity and ensure 
that, wherever possible, services are provided in ways which might reduce health 
inequalities.   
 
As part of this assurance process, integrated impact assessments (IIAs) were 
conducted in relation to all options for acute stroke, acute paediatrics and maternity 
(obstetric) & gynaecology services.  These IIAs identified groups which could be 
vulnerable to the proposals and the aspects of the services which could reduce or 
deepen health inequalities.   
 
The programme has engaged with existing services and community groups in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland who support people who could be particularly affected by 
the proposals and may face barriers to taking part in the consultation. 
 
This included an offer of practical help and advice, tools and one-to-one tailored 
assistance to ensure local groups, staff and volunteers were supported to carry out 
events. 
 
We carried out a series of integrated impact assessments to ensure that any gaps in 
this equality work could be identified and every vulnerable group could become 
actively involved. 
 
This approach ensured that the Path to Excellence programme was adaptable and 
accessible to members of different groups and communities, depending on their 
particular needs and abilities.  
 
There has been an excellent response to this work, with over 20 local organisations 
delivering a combined total of 32 focus groups, enabling us to hear from over 324 
individuals with protected or vulnerable characteristics.  
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This includes members of BME communities, people with learning disabilities and/or 
sensory impairment including deaf, hearing loss and sight loss and their family and 
carers as well as older people, young carers and young people  with mental illness, 
new mothers and people facing economic hardship, ensuring their voice is heard in 
the consultation. 
 
Find out more about the Path to Excellence by going to: 
www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk.  
 

North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network 

Sunderland CCG is an active part of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network which brings together over 30 organisations to improve 
the quality, safety and equity of access to services.  Established through the New 
Models of Care (vanguards) programme, the network has led on a range of 
innovations which have helped the region to record some of England’s best A&E 
performance figures.  
 
With its vanguard work now completed, the network is focused on a three-year 
strategy to reduce hospital admissions and A&E attendances, make better use of 
GPs and pharmacists, and help patients improve their own health. 
 
Through the network, our hospitals work together as a single, well-coordinated 
system, monitoring demand, sharing information in real time, and supporting each 
other through busy periods. This means emergency responses are better 
coordinated and the risk of queueing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in 
A&E is reduced. 
 
This whole system approach includes: 

 The ‘flight deck’ system, which will monitor emergency care services, 
predicting peaks in demand so that ambulance crews and emergency 
departments can support each other better. The second phase, which is well 
advanced, will improve data quality and take live feeds from hospital bed 
management systems. 

 A new ‘UEC-RAIDR’ urgent care application, using data from Flight Deck, will 
enable wider members of the system to see a clearer picture of system 
pressures at both regional and provider levels. This will show levels of 
ambulance activity, patients present, waiting times in Emergency 
Departments and bed availability. Further development of the app will provide 
proactive alerts showing increases in activity levels, and explore options to 
include a wider range of information, from areas like pharmacy, primary care 
and community services. 
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 Respond, a pioneering training package for professionals involved in mental 
health crisis care to learn together using a simulated scenario with audio and 
video clips. Now accredited for Continuous Professional Development, 
Respond was singled out for praise by HRH The Duke of Cambridge at a 
national conference on mental health and policing.   

 The Clinical Assessment Service (formerly known as the urgent care hub), 
which provides multidisciplinary clinical support for NHS 111 call handlers and 
patients, to ensure that no clinical decision is made in isolation. Every month, 
between 800 and 1,000 patients who would otherwise have been sent directly 
to A&E are provided with this additional intervention, leading to a consistent 
80% channel shift to more appropriate services and a reduction in the number 
referred to emergency departments.  

 Behavioural analysis and multi-award winning social marketing campaigns, 
using detailed evidence about patient choices to support surge management.   

 Successful rollout of the Medical Interoperability Gateway (MIG) system 
means a range of medical professionals now have secure, real-time access to 
a summary of GP-held records, helping them to make clinical decisions more 
safely and efficiently. Since May 2017, GP-held patient records have been 
accessed through the MIG more than 120,000 times.  A further phase is now 
extending sharing throughout receiving trusts, which will ensure seamless 
access to information when patients transfer to another department from A&E. 

 The NHS Child Health app, which gives expert guidance on childhood 
illnesses, as well as when and where to seek treatment. Now downloaded 
almost 20,000 times, initial monitoring suggests that the app may be helping 
to reduce unnecessary A&E attendances by under-fives.  

 Improvements to the Directory of Services, which guides referrals from NHS 
111 and 999, are helping to reduce some of the pressure on emergency 
departments. Monitoring shows that an average of 3-4 patients per setting per 
day are now being referred to more appropriate services instead of A&E.  

 The Community Pharmacy Referral Scheme (CPRS), launched in December 
2017, has enabled around 3,000 additional referrals to community pharmacies 
for minor ailments. The network’s DoS team is now working to improve 
referrals to dental services through NHS 111. 

 A range of other initiatives including a patient flow study which is helping to 
address issues with ambulance handover times, training in falls prevention 
and the National Early Warning System (NEWS) for care home staff, and 
increased sharing of anonymised activity data from GP practices, making it 
easier to predict surges in demand for secondary care. 
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These shared initiatives, alongside careful planning and the skill, commitment and 
hard work of staff throughout our NHS and partner organisations, helped to ensure 
that the region was in a relatively strong position to cope with this year’s winter 
pressures compared with other parts of England.  
 
The Sunderland A&E Delivery Board, chaired by the CCG and involving partners 
from across the city provides the link into the network. The multi-agency surge 
group, involving all partners and chaired by the chief operating officer of Sunderland 
Care and Support has worked closely, often on a daily basis to manage and co-
ordinate the health and social care response to winter and general pressures on the 
urgent care system. 
 
The highly pressured Christmas holiday period showed a reduction in the numbers 
attending A&E inappropriately, while an increase in numbers attending with higher 
acuity and more complex problems, and significant issues arising from flu and 
norovirus, underlined the importance of this collaborative work.  
 

Regional surge campaign 

Following the success of last year’s ‘plasticine people’ campaign, we have once 
again worked with other CCGs in the region to implement a shared regional 
marketing campaign for winter and beyond. The campaign used a social marketing 
approach, building on detailed behavioural analysis research carried out through the 
North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network.  
 
The surge marketing campaign and public relations activities offered positive 
guidance and advice, using the relatable ‘plasticine people’ characters to offer 
positive guidance and advice, signposting people to appropriate services. This is the 
most effective way to influence people’s decisions and the way they choose to use 
urgent care services. 
 
The campaign features a blend of digital, broadcast, print and outdoor advertising, 
mapped closely against peak surge activity at key times of year, and dovetails with 
the national winter campaign agreed by NHS England, Public Health England and 
the Department of Health.  This is backed by weekly media releases and other 
media opportunities where possible. 
 
The campaign will run for 12 months, mapped against peak surge activity at key 
times of the year. Key themes include the NHS Child Health app, first aid kits, GP 
extended access, coughs and colds and stomach bugs, as well as key surge 
messages at peak periods.  We will continue to monitor the impact of the campaign, 
with 569,000 people reached through Facebook alone in the first two months of the 
campaign – and a total of almost 20,000 downloads of the app to date. 
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Northern Clinical Commissioning Group Forum  

In common with all CCGs in the region, we play an active role in the Northern 
Clinical Commissioning Group Forum. The CCGs work together through the forum 
where it makes sense to do so, to advise and make recommendations to the CCG 
governing bodies to assist them in carrying out their commissioning business.  
  
The forum provides leadership to the North East and North Cumbria health system, 
addresses national and regional policy issues and carry out business on a joint basis 
where this will achieve the best outcome. This includes areas like winter pressures, 
CQUIN, implementation of new services and avoidance of inequitable treatment 
through ‘postcode prescribing’.  
  
During 2017/18 the forum has considered and made recommendations to CCG 
governing bodies in relation to: 

 Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) delivery architecture and 
governance 

 Regional value-based commissioning policy 

 Choice policy for drugs used to treat wet age-related macular degeneration 

 Setting up a Joint CCG Committee for Cumbria and the North East 

 Growing the GP workforce 

 Specialised commissioning 

 Current and future provision of urgent and emergency care services 

 Procurement and evaluation of NHS 111 and the Integrated Care Clinical 
Assessment Service 

 Optimisation of acute hospital services 

 Support for medical student expansion proposals – Newcastle and 
Sunderland universities 

 Governance for Regional Medicines Optimisation Committee decisions 

 Demand management endoscopy project  

 
In October 2017, a Northern CCG Joint Committee was set up to make decisions on 
a more limited range subjects recommended to it by the forum. To date it has 
focused on specialist acute services and the NHS 111 service.  With the support of 
our member practices, the CCG is part of this joint committee.   
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Emergency and urgent care  

In November and December 2016, we asked over 800 people how they use 
emergency and urgent care services, to see how they can be improved and how 
things might be done differently in the future. 
 
The term ‘urgent care’ covers the health services for people who need fast access to 
advice, diagnosis and medical care for non-life threatening conditions or injuries that 
can be a treated outside hospital. 
 
Through this engagement, people told us that:  

 The current system is confusing. 

 They want to see their GP when they have an urgent care need 

 If they have a long-term condition, they want to know that they are going to 
receive continuity of care. 

 
People made suggestions for improvements: 

 Wanting to understand what services are for, what their opening times are 
and improve communication about these. 

 More staff and training are required. 

 One place to access services. 

 Opening other services for longer would reduce people going to the 
emergency department. 

 
We considered all the feedback carefully and then worked with partners and 
providers of NHS services to develop a range of potential scenarios to make urgent 
care services better in Sunderland. Each of these scenarios was assessed against 
five design principles: 

1. Be safe, sustainable and provide responsive, high quality care 

2. Increase self-care through access to appropriate clinical advice 

3. Ensure appropriate access to treatment as close to home as possible 

4. Simplify access by improving integration (making sure everything is joined up) 
across health and social care and reducing duplication of services 

5. Meet national requirements 

 
To be considered as a feasible option, all the design principles needed to be met. 
After careful review of all options, two scenarios were chosen, and doctors, nurses 
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and healthcare professionals are confident that both would be suitable for the future 
of NHS healthcare in Sunderland.  
 
The CCG will carry out an extensive consultation on these scenarios between May 
and August 2018 to gather views from the public, patients, voluntary and community 
organisations, partners and other stakeholders. This consultation will include a street 
survey with 400 Sunderland residents, designed to match the demographic profile of 
Sunderland, a paper / online survey, ten public events, including a launch event and 
a dedicated travel and transport event, two dedicated online question and answer 
session events, focus groups through the VCS, focus groups through GP 
participation groups, CCG run focus groups, briefings for providers and stakeholders, 
a roadshow in main shopping areas in Sunderland, attendance at various 
stakeholder meetings, groups, events, and networks, and individual submissions. 
 
In February 2018 an event was held with voluntary and community sector 
organisations (VSCO) in Sunderland. The CCG used this event to engage with 
members of the VCSO to find out how they can best support the Sunderland Urgent 
Care consultation with their service-users. Materials for VCSO focus groups and 
interviews will be developed in-line with the feedback received. The VCSO which 
attended this session are detailed below: 

 Anchor 

 Sunderland Carers 

 Mental Health Matters 

 Sunderland Royal Society for blind 

 Sunderland Mind 

 Sunderland People First 

 Washington Mind 

 Sunderland Mind 

 Friends of the drop in (FODI) 

 Healthwatch 

 Autism in mind 

 Action on Dementia Sunderland 

 HOPS 

 Independent Lay Members 

 
To find out more about the Sunderland Urgent Care consultation, go to: 
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/urgent-care-services/  
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Breast services 

A major piece of work was conducted in 2016/17 to develop and return breast clinics 
to Sunderland, following the closure of the service at Sunderland Royal Hospital.  
We were delighted to see the new facility opening at Grindon Lane in 2017. This was 
the result of a lot of hard work and effort by colleagues in the CCG, Gateshead and 
Sunderland hospitals and particularly the patient groups who helped design the 
service, which provides local access to diagnosis, work up and follow up of breast 
surgery patients. 
 
In order to ensure the service meets the expectations and needs of patients, a 
follow-up evaluation is being developed. This will ask patients to tell us their 
experience of using the service, helping us to identify any areas which need to be 
improved. 
 

Renal Dialysis Transport  

The contract for the CCG’s renal dialysis patient transport service (PTS) was due to 
end in September 2017, with no option to extend. We therefore needed to procure a 
new service from October 2017 to ensure that this vital service continued to be 
available. 
 
We engaged with service users to evaluate the service, which helped to inform the 
procurement of a new service, which began early in 2018. We are continuing to work 
closely with patients and the new provider to improve this service. 
 

Sustainability and transformation partnership for Northumberland, Tyne, Wear 
and North Durham 

The NHS across the region is working together to transform health and care in the 
communities we serve. In the past, organisations have each had their own plans, 
and they will continue to do so – but sustainability and transformation partnerships 
(STPs) are the first time shared plans have been developed across a geographical 
footprint. 
 
The STP footprints are a way to bring people and organisations together to develop 
a shared and joined up plan for better health and care for our local areas.  Draft 
plans for Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham were shared during winter 
2016/17 and the feedback was published in summer 2017 which highlighted the 
following key topics:  



                                Official   

NHS SCCG Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18_FINAL  28 

 Vision – people were supportive of the vision and many suggested it should 
be even more ambitious, having local communities with better health 
outcomes than the rest of the country 

 Finance – concerns were raised about the ability to make improvements 
within current resources 

 Tackling health inequalities – people said this was an important area to 
improve but stressed that it could not be done quickly 

 Workforce – concerns were raised about having enough staff with the right 
skills in the right place at the right time to improve the health of local people 

 Access to services – many people in rural parts of Northumberland and North 
Durham were worried about accessing the help they needed if current 
services change as a result of the draft plan. 

 
We know that health and care services have dramatically improved over the past 
fifteen years – thanks to the commitment of NHS staff - but some challenges remain. 
The quality of care that people receive can vary; preventable illness is common; and 
growing demands on the NHS mean there is financial pressure across the health 
and care system.  
 
The needs and expectations of the public are also changing. We are living longer, 
but often require different, more complex care. New treatments options are emerging 
and we rightly expect better care closer to home. 
 
There is broad agreement that, in order to create a better future for the NHS, we 
need to adapt the way we do things. It does not mean doing less for patients or 
reducing the quality of care. It means finding new ways to meet peoples’ needs, 
more preventative care and identifying ways to do things more efficiently. 
 
We know that one of the most powerful ways to achieve change is through local 
services working together - across entire communities - to find ways to close gaps 
and truly meet the needs of patients in each area.  
 
As a result, we are working with other CCGs, NHS providers and local authorities to 
find new and better ways to improve health and care by 2020/21.  
 
STPs will not necessarily replace existing plans to improve services in an area.  
Instead they will act as an ‘umbrella’ and hold underneath them a number of more 
specific plans to address certain challenges, such as improving cancer diagnosis, 
mental health care, or transforming urgent and emergency care services. 
 
Towards the end of 2017, discussions between the STP leads in North East and 
Cumbria concluded bringing the three STP footprints of Northumberland and Tyne 
and Wear, North Cumbria and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmond and 



                                Official   

NHS SCCG Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18_FINAL  29 

Whitby together under a single STP footprint.  There is also an ambition to develop 
the new STP footprint into an integrated care system (ICS). 
 
Further information about the STP is available at www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/stp.  
 

Enabling Self-care and Sustainability 

Pressure Ulcer Research Project - PROACT 

In April 2017, we began working with Sunderland University to raise awareness of 
prevention of pressure ulcers with patients, carers and healthcare professionals who 
work in care home settings. Pressure ulcers are a major problem for both patients 
and the NHS, as they can have a devastating and even life-threatening impact on 
patients and their families.  
 
Pressure ulcers are associated with an increased risk of secondary infection and are 
a major cause of morbidity, especially in older people. This may lead to increased 
treatment costs, loss of income for patients and repeat visits to GPs and by district 
nurses in out of hospital settings, putting increased demands on services.  
 
This research project aimed to: 

 Align to the national React to Red and SSKIN initiatives to minimise variation 
by creating a Sunderland–wide standardised framework using recognised 
tools outside of hospital settings 

 Embed the importance of identifying signs and symptoms which can lead to 
pressure ulcers and encourage positive action with patients and carers 

 Evaluate the project’s impact from the patient, carer and healthcare 
practitioner perspectives 

 Raise awareness among patients, families and healthcare professionals on 
the importance of preventing pressure ulcers.  

 Liaise with members of the CARE Academy, including the Tissue Viability 
Steering Group at City Hospitals Sunderland and the Tyne and Wear Care 
Alliance, to ensure that a framework for consistent messages and practices 
for prevention of pressure ulcers is developed across the patient care 
pathway 

 To develop a similar project to be rolled out in South Tyneside in 2018-19 

 To empower patients to be more proactive in their self-care at home and in 
other out of hospital settings 
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Patient engagement in General Practice 

We have supported a number of engagement activities to ensure that patients and 
stakeholders were aware of, and able to share their views about, a number of 
changes to local practices over the past year. This included GP contract mergers, 
practice boundary changes, or GP practice dispersals due to termination of 
contracts. In total, we supported eight engagement activities, involving patients from 
14 practices. A further practice boundary engagement activity is due to take place 
shortly. 
 
By communicating with patients and stakeholders the CCG was able to share 
information about proposals to patients GP Practices, elicit the views from patients 
through surveys, invite patients to information sessions where they can let us know 
their thoughts, comments, or concerns about proposals, and to provide further 
contact details for patients. Examples of GP practice engagement activities in 
2017/18 include: 
 
GP Practices Contract 

change type 
Engagement date 

Dr Hegde and Partners, and Dr 
Dixit and Dr Kolla GP Practice, 
Galleries Health Centre 

GP Merger March – April 2017 

Dr Arnett, Roker Family Practice GP list dispersal Nov 2016 – Oct 2017 

Colliery Medical Group and Church 
View Medical Centre, Silksworth 
Health Centre 

GP Merger March – July 2017 

New Silksworth New GP 
Contract 

Sept – Oct 2017 

Harraton Surgery and Springwell 
House Surgery 

GP Merger June – August 2017 

Conishead Medical Group, 
Ryhope Medical Centre 

GP list dispersal June – Dec 2017 

Happy House Boundary 
change 

Sept 2017 

Victoria Medical Practice, Dr 
Thomas, and Dr Bhatt and Dr 
Benn, Victoria Road Health Centre 

GP Merger Nov 2017 – March 
2018 

Dr Nathan, and Dr Bhate and El-
Shakankery, Riverview Health 
Centre 

GP Merger Nov 2017 – March 
2018 

Hylton Medical Group Boundary 
change 

March 2018 

 
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/gp-practice-engagement/  
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In order to improve how NHS Sunderland CCG conducted GP engagement 
activities, a GP Engagement Learning event was held in July 2017. This event 
invited representatives from the following organisations: 

 Sunderland CCG 

 NECS 

 Sunderland City Council 

 NHS England 

 Monkwearmouth Health Centre 

 Southlands Medical Group 

 Dr Stephenson & Partners 

 
This event allowed NHS Sunderland CCG to explore how it can improve 
engagement with patients and stakeholders on GP contractual changes. From this 
learning event, a GP Engagement protocol was produced, shared, and agreed 
amongst the above mentioned organisations. 
 

Encouraging self-care and healthier lifestyle choices 

Throughout the year, we have encouraged patients and the public to adopt healthier 
lifestyle choices, to help them to look after themselves and reduce the need for 
health care services. Examples include: 

 We supported the Smokefree Health Harms campaign (January 2018) and 
Stoptober (September 2017) to encourage people to quit smoking. 

 In January 2018, people were encouraged to look after themselves to ease 
the strain on NHS services, particularly for people with winter coughs and 
colds who are visiting their GP practice or A&E department. 

 In December 2017, we ran a diabetes transformation project to increase the 
number of patients who have improved glucose, blood pressure and 
cholesterol control, by input from community diabetes nurses, effective care 
planning from GP practices and improved self-care through better diet and 
exercise. 

 In November, people were encouraged to take care of themselves with the 
colder weather, to reduce the pressure on NHS services. 

 In September 2017, we supported Falls Prevention Awareness Week, which 
aims to reduce the number of falls in older people in the UK. 

 In August 2017, we supported the C-card scheme, which provides confidential 
sexual health and free condoms to anyone aged 13 – 24. 
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 In July 2017, we supported the Be Clear on Cancer awareness campaign, to 
encourage people with symptoms of some of the leading causes of death in 
England to see their doctor. 

 In May 2017, we supported people to ‘stay savvy in the summer sun’, and 
reminded Sunderland residents to take care while enjoying the warmer 
weather.  

 In May 2017, we promoted healthy fasting during Ramadan, particularly for 
older adults, those with controlled medical conditions such as low or high 
blood pressure, diabetes and those who are receiving dialysis treatment. 

 

Key Issues and Risks 

The CCG identified the following key risks to the delivery of its strategic objectives:  

 Sustainability of IT, workforce and infrastructure within the CCG and general 
practice 

 Financial overspend on CCG programme and running cost budgets  

 Changes in NHS Property Services billing policies, impacting both on the 
CCG and member practices 

 Delivery of productivity plans for 2017/18 

 Delivery of all cancer standards within City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust under the NHS Constitution 

 Delivery of ambulance response targets by North East Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust 

 Providers ability to meet the A&E 95% four hour target  

 Impact on quality of the hospital collaboration work across South Tyneside 
and Sunderland 

 The development of a multi-specialist community provider model  

 Overspend on the delivery of the Better Care Fund 

 Quality within primary care 

 

Performance Analysis 

Performance summary   

Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality 
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to 
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manage performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work 
with internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of 
action plans to mitigate these.  
 
Throughout the year, reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our 
performance against the agreed local and national measures. Monitoring 
performance also helps us in understanding the effectiveness of services, together 
with the role of quality assurance and financial management. 
 
Throughout the year, the CCG has been working hard to achieve our targets as set 
out by the NHS Constitution and CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework. 
The next few pages highlight our performance against the following key areas: 

 Accident and Emergency waiting times  

 Cancer waiting times 

 Referral to treatment (RTT) 

 Mental health 

 Diagnostics 

 Clinical Priorities 

 

Accident and Emergency (A&E) 

The Sunderland health economy (including City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust and Northern Doctors Urgent Care) did not deliver the four hour 
wait standard for 2017/18 with performance of 92.9% for 2017/18.  The local 
Accident and Emergency Delivery Board oversees the achievement of the standard 
and the delivery of an improvement plan.   
 
The CCG continues to work with stakeholders to deliver the improvement plan which 
covers: 

 Implementation of streaming to appropriate services 

 Full roll out of extended access services across the city in five locality hubs, 
one of which is co-located within Pallion GP led urgent care centre 

 Relocation of the GP out of hours Service into ED providing additional 
resource into ED for streaming 

 Whole systems approach to surge and resilience throughout winter and 
throughout the year 

 Paramedic pathfinder project to support reduction of ambulance conveyance 
to hospital 
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 Development of an urgent care strategy 

 
This work will continue into 2018/19, along with targeted engagement with the public 
around the use of the emergency department.  
 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

The CCG remained above the 92% standard for incomplete pathways as at January 
2018.  There were pressures in specialties such as orthopaedics and respiratory 
medicine throughout 2017/18.  Respiratory medicine has improved and progress 
made in meeting the standard early in 2018/19.  Orthopaedics is a more complex 
area but the CCG continues to work across primary and secondary care to address 
the pressures.  
 
The CCG did not have any over 52 week waiters and is in a good position going into 
2018/19 to maintain the national standards and deliver the national expectations. 
   

Ambulance Response Times (Ambulance Response Programme) 

Ambulance trusts are now required to report against the new ambulance standards 
which were implemented in October 2017.  The Ambulance Response Programme 
(ARP) replaces the existing ambulances standards with a focus on making sure the 
best, high quality, most appropriate response is provided for each patient first time. 
 
Reporting is now in place nationally for all ambulance trusts and NEAS are the only 
provider nationally to deliver the national standard for category 2 (life threatening 
illnesses and injuries) and in March 18, NEAS delivered the category four standard 
(less urgent calls) and continue to work towards delivering all standards.  The CCGs 
across the North East and Cumbria continue to work with NEAS to deliver the 
standards and are working together on transformation projects throughout the 
region. 
 
The new Integrated Urgent Care service (currently the 111 service) will go live in 
October 2018 and be provided by NEAS.  It will also help alleviate pressure on the 
ambulance service offering clinical support into the existing 111 service. 
 
The CCG continues to work with NEAS to reduce the number of patients conveyed 
to hospital where alternative dispositions exist.  The CCG commissioned a pilot with 
NEAS called ‘Paramedic Pathfinder’ which continues to reduce the number of 
ambulance conveyances to hospital by stepping down to alternative settings. 
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Cancer Standards 

The CCG delivered all cancer standards in 2017/18 despite some pressures in the 
62 day treatment standard throughout the year.  The focus of the improvement work 
in urological pathways at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust in 
2017/18 has delivered improvements across multiple pathways and additional 
capacity has meant delivery of the standard overall.   Pressures still remain going 
into 2018/19 and the CCG will continue to work with providers and the Cancer 
Alliance to further improve patient outcomes and deliver the national standards. 
 

Mental health - improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT) 

The CCG continues to perform well against all national IAPT standards with 
continued delivery of IAPT access, recovery and waiting times.  The requirement to 
achieve an overall access rate of 16% and a sustained recovery rate of 50% remains 
challenging going into 2018/19. 
 
The CCG has worked with Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 
(NTW) to expand the IAPT service into people with long term conditions in 2017/18 
and this has been agreed to continue in 2018/19. 
 

Children and Young People’s Access Rate (CYPS) 

The CCG is currently on track to deliver the national expectation of 32% of children 
accessing CYPS services with performance of 38%.  There are still some challenges 
around waiting times which are being addressed with improvement plans and 
workforce developments in place to support CYPS.   
 

Dementia Diagnosis 

The CCG continues to deliver the national expectations around dementia diagnosis 
due to the continued engagement with general practice and locally commissioned 
memory protection services.   
 

Diagnostics 

The CCG’s main providers have experienced some short term pressures in 
diagnostic waiting times in 2017/18 but performance has improved and is in a better 
position going into 2018/19.  The short term pressures at City Hospitals Sunderland 
were quickly identified and an improvement plan put in place to reduce delays and 
deliver the standard. 
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Clinical Priority Areas 

The CCG continues to focus on the six clinical priority areas which form part of the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) in 2017/18.  Although formal 
ratings are not yet available for 2017/18, the CCG has made progress against a 
number of the clinical priority areas, and in most places, maintained good 
performance.  The following is a summary position against each of the clinical priority 
areas: 

 Mental health was rated as outstanding in 2016/17 due to performance in 
IAPT and also delivery of the various transformation projects in 2016/17.  This 
has continued into 2017/18 and the CCG continues to perform well.  

 Cancer performance is good due to the improvements in cancer 62 day 
performance.  The CCG was rated as good in 2016/17 and this is expected to 
be maintained in 2017/18. 

 Learning disabilities remains a key focus and we are an active member of the 
Transforming Care Partnership (TCP).  The CCG has made significant 
progress in a number of aspects of learning disabilities, particularly ensuring 
patients have an annual health check.  This work has delivered a significant 
improvement due to focused work with general practice and as such the CCG 
is in a good position to see improvements on 2016/17 position. 

 Dementia performance remains in a good position, again due to focused work 
with general practice but also work across the pathway in Sunderland.  
Particular improvements have been seen in post diagnostic reviews for 
patients with dementia which has improved significantly on the 2016/17 
position. 

 Diabetes is a key priority area in 2017/18 and going into 2018/19.  In 2017/18 
the CCG has collaborated with other CCGs to secure a STP-wide diabetes 
prevention programme, targeting groups of patients with non-diabetic 
hypoglycaemia to prevent or slow down their progress to type 2 diabetes.  
The CCG is working with practices to ensure patients diagnosed with diabetes 
receive optimal care and increase the use of structured education.  The CCG 
has also commissioned a new integrated long terms condition service which 
will provide integrated care for patients with diabetes. 

 Maternity remains a key priority in Sunderland and maternity services were 
prioritised for change as part of the Path to Excellence programme in 
Sunderland and South Tyneside.  The local maternity transformation is set 
against the national vision set out in the ‘Better Births’ programme which sets 
improvement activities to make services in Sunderland and South Tyneside 
safer and more personal. 
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Financial Targets and Performance for the Year 

In accordance with NHS England planning guidance, the CCG is required to deliver 
a surplus of at least 1% of available resources. A planned cumulative surplus of 
£18,181k was agreed with NHS England at the beginning of the financial year which 
included drawdown of £5,400k of historical cumulative surpluses.  
 
As set out in the  2017-19 NHS planning guidance, CCGs were also required to hold 
a 0.5% reserve uncommitted from the start of the year to support system wide 
pressures, created by setting aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise required 
to spend non-recurrently.  This requirement has essentially meant that the CCG has 
only been able to allocate 99.5% of its resources on commissioning healthcare in 
2017/18.  
 
In addition to this in 2017/18 the CCG benefited from a rebate in relation to category 
M drugs.  NHS England requested CCGs generate additional surpluses equivalent to 
the savings generated from this rebate on the expectation that these savings were 
not originally in the CCGs financial plans for 2017/18 and are required to manage 
system wide risk.  For Sunderland CCG this equated to £582k.   
 
The requirement to generate additional surpluses through the release of the 0.5% 
reserve and the savings on category M drugs has resulted in a revised planned 
surplus target of £21,003k for 2017/18. 
 
Through the CCG’s successful management of financial risks and robust financial 
management the target surplus has been delivered as planned. The CCG’s 
successful results are set out in the table below, with further detail included in note 
21 of the full annual accounts published alongside the annual report.  
 

 
 
Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource 
allocation limits within which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There 
are separate resource allocation limits for revenue and capital expenditure, with 
revenue expenditure limits further split between programme spend, delegated 
primary care spend and running costs. 
 

Target  Outcome Target Met

Delivery of 1% cumulative surplus on 

total revenue allocation

Cumulative surplus delivered of £21,160k (4%) against a 

total revenue resource allocation of £528,995k.  
Maintain running costs within the running 

cost allocation

Reported surplus of £322k on running cost budgets.


Maintain capital spending within capital 

allocation 

No capital resource provided to the CCG and no capital 

spend in year.  N/A
Ensure cash spending is within the cash 

limit set

Cash forecast to be managed within available resources.
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Performance measures 

Improvement and assessment framework (IAF) indicator snapshot 

Key performance measures and a summary position against the IAF framework are 
shown in the tables below and on the following pages:  

NHS Constitution 

A&E four hour waits for the Sunderland health community  

 
 
Ambulance Response Times 

 
 
Cancer waiting times – two week waits 

 
 
Cancer waiting times – 31 day waits
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Cancer waiting times – 62 day waits

 
 
Diagnostic waiting times 
 
 (Note this is the year to date position at the time of publication of this report)

 
 
Referral to treatment – 18 weeks

 
 

Other national requirements 

Mental health
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Dementia  

 
 
Summary of the CCG’s assessment against the 2017/18 IAF: 
 

 
 

Sustainable Development  

As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to 
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission 
and procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, 
the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient 
communities.  By making the most of by making the most of social, environmental 
and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term 
even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Spending money well and 
considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act (2012). 
 
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 
28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by 
reducing our carbon emissions 28% by 2020 using 2013 as the baseline year. 
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Modelled Carbon Footprint 

Resulting in an estimated total carbon footprint of 134,903 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we 
commission. 
 

Category tCO2e % CO2e 

Core 87  0.1% 
Commissioning 122,657 91% 
Supply chain 12,116 9% 
Community 43  0.03% 

 

 
 

Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in 
our process and procedures sustainability features. 
 
 
Area Is sustainability considered? 

Procurement (environmental & social aspects) Yes 
Suppliers' impact Yes 
Business Cases Yes 

Travel Yes 

 
One of the ways in which an orgnisation can embed sustainability is through the use 
of a sustainable development management plan (SDMP). The CCG will aim to 
approve a new SDMP by the Governing Body in 2018/19. 

0.1%

91%

9%

0.03%

Proportions of Carbon 
Footprint

Core

Commissioning

Supply chain

Community
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As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a 
sustainable future, we help achieve that goal by running awareness campaigns that 
promote the benefits of sustainability to our staff. 
 
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the 
effects of heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, 
droughts etc. The organisation has identified the need for the development of a 
governing body approved plan to include adaptation for future climate change risks 
affecting our area.  We have not assessed the social and environmental impacts for 
the CCG. 
 

Green space and biodiversity 

Currently the organisation has not got a formal approach to unlock the opportunity 
and benefits of natural capital within a healthcare environment in supporting the 
health and wellbeing of patient, staff and the community and to protect biodiversity. 
 

Partnerships 

As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS 
policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate 
in a sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will 
need to be provided in part through contracting mechanisms. 
 
We have not currently established any strategic partnerships. For commissioned 
services, the sustainability comparator for our providers is detailed below: 

Organisation 
Name 

SDMP 
On track for 
34% 
reduction 

Good 
Corporate 
Citizen 

Healthy 
travel 
plan 

Adaptation 
SD 
Reporting 
score 

North East 
Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Yes 

1. On track to 
meet target 

Yes No Yes Good 

South Tyneside 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Yes 
1. On track to 
meet target No Yes No Minimum 

Northumberland, 
Tyne And Wear 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Yes 

1. On track to 
meet target 

Yes No Yes Minimum 

City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Yes 
1. On track to 
meet target No Yes Yes Good 
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More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx  
 

Performance 

Organisation 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 
28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by 
reducing our carbon emissions 10% by 2015 using 2007 as the baseline year. Here's 
how we have done: 

Table 1: Commissioned activity 

Organisation Name 
Building energy 
use 

Building 
energy use 
per FTE 

Water 
Water use 
per FTE 

Percent 
high cost 
waste 

Waste 
cost 
increase 

North East 
Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation 
Trust 

>10% decrease 0.9 
>20% 
decrease 

5.6 
<=75% 
high cost 

>20% 
decrease 

South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust 

>10% decrease 2.4 
>20% 
increase 

38.7 
<=75% 
high cost 

>20% 
decrease 

Northumberland, 
Tyne And Wear NHS 
Foundation Trust 

>10% decrease 2.3 
0-20% 
decrease 

25.8 
>75% 
high cost 

>20% 
decrease 

City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

>10% decrease 3.3 
>20% 
increase 

56.8 
<=75% 
high cost 

0-20% 
increase 

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx  
 

Travel 

We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by 
promoting active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and 
public that use the services we commission. 
 
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies 
across the board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for 
active travel to improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness. 
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Category Mode 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Staff commute 
miles 0 110,471 120,077 112,392 

tCO2e 0.00 39.95 43.40 40.05 

Business Travel 
miles 57,549 42,101 27,123 26,392 

tCO2e 21.15 15.23 9.80 9.40 

 

Energy 

NHS Sunderland CCG spent £19,129 on energy in 2017/18, which equates to a 
14.4% decrease on energy spend from the previous year.  Our resource use is 
detailed below:  
 
Resource 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Gas 
Use 
(kWh) 137,868 141,073 93,685 175,887 

tCO2e 29 30 20 37 

Electricity 
Use 
(kWh) 110,483 113,144 110,776 101,002 

tCO2e 68 65 57 50 

Total Energy CO2e 97 95 77 87 

Total Energy Spend 
 £ 
19,600  

 £      
20,060  

 £      
22,347  

 £            
19,129  

The information in the above table has been supplied by NHS Property Services 
 
To note, the CCG’s energy costs are received from our landlord NHS Property 
Services and there are at times timing issues for billing which can affect the reporting 
of figures between years. 
 

 

 
 
0% of our electricity use comes from renewable sources. 
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Finite resource use - Water 

Water   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Mains 
m3 442 443 527 1,222 

tCO2e 0.40 0.40 0.48 1.11 

Water & Sewage Spend  £          -  
 £               
-    

 £              
-     £       3,447  

The information in the above table has been supplied by NHS Property Services 
 

Organisation Carbon Footprint by Population 

 
 

Improving quality  

Quality and patient safety are at the heart of everything we do in Sunderland.  The 
CCG has regular quality review group meetings with providers where all information 
related to quality is reviewed and triangulated i.e. safety, effectiveness (including 
performance) and patient experience. 
 

Quality Strategy 2018-21 

During 2017, we undertook a significant amount of work to fresh our quality strategy 
and, following consultation with colleagues across the CCG, we produced a new 
version which continues to reflect the CCG’s commitment to assure the quality of the 
services we commission.  The strategy highlights the seven steps to quality from the 
National Quality Board’s ‘Shared commitment to quality’ document and we used 
these to inform the new quality framework outlined within the strategy.   
 
The strategy was approved by the Governing Body in January 2018 and work to 
implement the strategy is underway.  We also created the ‘strategy on a page’ for 
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ease of use as a reminder that quality and safety is everyone’s business.  A copy of 
the strategy can be found here: www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/?s=quality+strategy  

 

Quality Impact Assessments 

To ensure any decisions that the CCG makes regarding services we commission do 
not have a detrimental effect on quality, we have developed a quality impact 
assessment (QIA) policy and embedded a process across the CCG for staff to use.  
Project leads review proposed changes to services and assess whether there will be 
a positive, neutral or negative effect on safety, patient experience and effectiveness.  
This process is managed by the quality team, with the Medical Director and Director 
of Nursing, Safety and Quality approving any completed QIAs.   
 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a scheme which supports 
providers to innovate care delivery resulting in improvements to the quality of care. 
The CQUIN framework enables commissioners to reward excellence by linking a 
proportion of a provider’s income to the achievement of national and local quality 
improvement goals.  
 
The CCG’s CQUIN schemes for 2017/18 focused on: 

 Developing and improving staff health and wellbeing initiatives 

 Reducing the impact of serious infections (Antimicrobial Resistance and 
Sepsis) 

 Improving services for people with mental health needs who present to A&E 

 Advice and guidance 

 NHS e-Referrals 

 Improving physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people with 
Severe Mental Illness 

 Transitions out of Children and Young people’s Service (Mental Health) 

 
The schemes are outcome based and monitored quarterly against agreed targets. 
They can only include national indicators and are in place for two years covering 
2017-19.  The schemes are also in line with the CCG’s commissioning priorities. 
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Learning from Serious Incidents   

The CCG is responsible for gaining assurance that when serious incidents occur - 
either within providers or within the CCG – there are measures in place which 
safeguard patients.  Incident investigations are undertaken to ensure that lessons 
learned are shared and embedded in improvements to practice. 
 
The incident investigations and outcomes are reviewed by the CCG.  We have 
robust governance processes in place which monitor the serious incidents through a 
combined Serious Incident Panel with NHS South Tyneside CCG.  This panel is led 
by the CCGs’ directors of nursing, quality and Safety who ensure sufficient rigor has 
been applied to the investigations.  
 
Serious incident reports and action plans are reviewed and signed off during these 
panels once appropriate assurances have been gained by the CCG(s).  The CCG 
also monitors serious incident themes and trends across the year and works with 
providers to manage and improve any emerging themes. These are subject to 
debate and scrutiny both during the serious incident panel and quality review group 
meetings. 
 

Healthcare Associated Infections 

The Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI) Improvement Group has been in 
operation throughout the year across Sunderland and South Tyneside, with 
representation from both CCGs and provider organisations.  
 
The group provides leadership and ensures a consistent whole systems approach to 
preventing and controlling healthcare associated infections. The group has robust 
reporting mechanisms and receives regular assurance reports and updates on key 
metrics.  These highlight any quality or patient safety issues as well as any key risks 
that require further action or may require escalating to the CCG’s risk register.  
 
There have been some areas that required a detailed focus to ensure work was 
being undertaken to implement specific requirements and also address areas of 
concern relating infection prevention and control.  These have included: 

 A focus on reducing the number of Clostridium Difficile (C.difficile) and 
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections within 
providers and Sunderland and South Tyneside communities 

 The development of a whole systems HCAI joint action plan for both 
Sunderland South Tyneside, with progress reported at each HCAI 
Improvement Group meeting 
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 The development of an HCAI Root Cause Analysis Peer Review Panel as a 
sub group of the HCAI Improvement Group.  The purpose of this group is to 
review all root cause analyses for C.difficile and MRSA bacteraemias.  The 
panel meets on a bi-monthly basis to review the patient’s journey, ensure 
lessons learnt are discussed and establish whether the case was avoidable or 
unavoidable.   

 
Many challenges remain across health and social care in relation to infection 
prevention and control and the CCG has remained focused throughout the year to 
ensure this is part of patient safety wherever care is delivered. 
 

Quality in Primary Care  

The CCG has delegated responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of 
general medical services.  We support NHS England in relation to our duty to 
improve the quality of primary medical services through agreements and processes 
with our member practices regarding quality and safety.  We have established a local 
Quality review Group, with NHS England and the Care Quality Commission (CQC),  
to monitor the quality of care within general practice; review practices’ achievement 
against a range of national and local quality indicators; share soft intelligence and 
consider the outcome reports following any CQC inspections of general practices.    
 

Local Accident and Emergency Delivery Board 

The Chief Officer chairs Sunderland’s Local Accident and Emergency Delivery 
Board.  The purpose of the Board is to take a whole system approach to improve 
urgent and emergency care standards, including the four hour target. 
 

Patient Experience and Feedback 

This is a key feature within all of our quality assurance processes. Information is 
gathered from quality review group meetings with providers of commissioned 
services, as well as other various sources such as Healthwatch, NHS Choices, the 
friends and family test and via our communication and engagement activities. 
 
A patient story is a regular feature of our Governing Body meetings.  This helps 
provide the Governing Body with an insight in to how services are operating from a 
patient’s perspective. 
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Safeguarding  

Executive leadership for safeguarding is provided via the Executive Director of 
Nursing, Quality and Safety. Other statutory lead roles are delivered by the Head of 
Safeguarding (including the role of Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children), the 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults and the Designated Nurse Looked After 
Children.  Additional safeguarding nursing capacity within the CCG is provided by a 
Safeguarding Children Lead Nurse and Safeguarding Nurse.   
 
The CCG continues to work in partnership with the Safer Sunderland Partnership 
and the local safeguarding children and adults boards to ensure compliance across 
the health economy with all statutory safeguarding children and safeguarding adults’ 
responsibilities.  The commitment to safeguarding can be seen by the representation 
below which outlines the significant leadership commitment across Sunderland: 
 

Statutory Boards 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LSCB) and Local Safeguarding 
Adults Board (LSAB) 

Chief Officer (vice chair of the LSCB) 
Head of Safeguarding (vice chair of the 
LSAB) 
Designated Doctor, Safeguarding Children 
Designated Doctor Looked After Children 
Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Adults  

LSCB and LSAB Executive group 
/Partnership group  

Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 
Head of Safeguarding 
Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Adults  

Safer Sunderland Partnership Head of Safeguarding 

Sunderland Domestic Violence 
Partnership 

Head of Safeguarding  
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults 

Multi-Agency Looked After Children 
Partnership 

Designated Nurse, Looked After Children 

LSCB Sub-Committees 
Performance & Quality Assurance 
Programme Board  

Director of nursing, quality and safety 
(chair) 
Head of safeguarding 

Learning and Improvement in 
Practice 

Head of safeguarding  

Local Child Death Panel Head of safeguarding (chair) 
LSAB Sub-Committees 
Quality assurance  Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Adults 

Safeguarding Nurse 
Learning and Improvement in 
Practice 

Designated Nurse, Safeguarding Adults 
(chair) 
Clinical Quality Officer 

Note: The safeguarding team also ensures attendance of a deputy where 
necessary and supports the chairing and management of a range of sub-groups. 
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The CCG provides safeguarding leadership across the health economy via a Joint 
Designated and Named Assurance Group which meets on a six weekly basis, 
alternating between learning and improvement and provider assurance on a 
quarterly basis.  We have implemented safeguarding dashboard reporting 
arrangements across the provider trusts and this incorporates safeguarding children, 
safeguarding adults, Mental Capacity Act and Prevent.  A safeguarding dashboard 
for primary care has also been developed and approved by the local Quality in 
Primary Care Group.    
 
Through our leadership, we ensure our providers comply with key areas including 
the prevent duty (training target 85%); FGM (mandatory reporting and training 
competencies) and Modern Slavery Act (modern slavery statement). 
 
We have delivered a training programme to support primary care staff compliance 
with mandatory requirements for safeguarding adults and children.  Our 
safeguarding team has also worked in partnership with Sunderland City Council and 
Police and Crime Commissioner to commission a domestic violence primary care 
advocacy pilot. 
 

Engaging people and communities 

Our ‘Involving People’ action plan sets out our commitment to working with the 
public, patients, carers and communities and their representatives, to ensure health 
and social care services are shaped around what people need.  The plan is based 
on NHS England’s revised statutory guidance ‘Involving people in their own health 
and care’ (2017), and covers the following sections: 

 Involve the public in governance 

 Explain public involvement in commissioning plans/business plans (including 
project updates) 

 Demonstrate public involvement in annual reports 

 Promote and publicise public involvement (including the Sunderland Health 
Forum) 

 Access, plan and take action to involve 

 Feedback and evaluate 

 Implement assurance and improvement systems 

 Advance equality and reduce health inequalities (including the Equality & 
Diversity group) 

 Provide support for effective involvement 
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 Hold providers to account 

 
In January 2017, we commissioned North of England Commissioning Support 
(NECS) to extend its communications service to include a full engagement service 
for the CCG. This has increased our access to expert knowledge in relation to public 
participation, engagement and involvement to help ensure we meet our statutory 
requirements.  
 
All engagement activity is planned in line with CCG priorities and includes a bespoke 
communications and engagement plan to support the activity. 
 
We have a long-established communications and engagement steering group, which 
includes key partners across the local health economy, including Healthwatch. It is a 
formal sub-group of the CCG’s executive committee and is chaired by the director of 
nursing, quality and safety.  
 
We have a robust process in place to ensure that patients’ views are taken into 
account when changes to services are being considered. This includes a toolkit for 
staff to use when undertaking service change and guidance on mechanisms and 
techniques that can be used to ensure patient views are captured.   
 
We have taken significant steps to enhance the range of mechanisms available to 
support our engagement activities. Some examples of work carried out over the year 
are included below and on the following pages. 
 

ERS Silver Ministry of Defence Award 

In October 2017, the CCG was awarded a silver ‘Ministry of Defence Employer’s 
Recognition Award’ in respect of the great work practices have taken forward with 
ex-service personnel. 
 
The Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) was launched in 2014 by the Prime 

Minister to recognise employer support for the wider principles of the Armed Forces 

Covenant. The scheme encompasses bronze, silver and gold awards for employers 

that pledge, demonstrate or advocate support to Defence and the Armed Forces 

community. 

 

The CCG was one of few NHS organisations to receive this prestigious award. 

Winning this award recognises the major contribution the CCG is making to the 

defence people agenda. 
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All GP practices within Sunderland worked with Sunderland Armed Forces Network 

and local third sector organisations to take a proactive approach to identify ex-

service personnel to ensure this vulnerable group was being managed appropriately 

and were given priority access where relevant under the Armed Forces Covenant. 

 

Engaging with this initiative was positively received by all organisations involved and 

delivered measurable improvements for the patient group within a short space of 

time. Sunderland Armed Forces Network has also reported an increase in the 

number of referrals from general practice and has a number of examples of where 

the scheme has made a real difference to individuals. 

 

Engagement and Consultation events and activities 

The CCG regularly engages patients, public, stakeholders, and carers in a variety of 
ways. What will follow will be a description of the different engagement and 
consultation methods used for various work-streams. Engagement and consultation 
activities for the following work-streams have already been detailed in the Statement 
of Activities section of the report. 

 Multi-Speciality Community Provider  

 The Path to Excellence 

 Emergency and urgent care 

 Patient engagement in General Practice 

 

Sunderland Health Forum 

The Sunderland Health Forum provides opportunities for the public, patients, and 
partner organisations to help shape decisions about health services in Sunderland. 
 
The forums are held on a quarterly basis - one during the day, the other in the 
evening - to give more people more opportunities to attend and help us make sure 
we develop appropriate services for the local community. 
 
The forum is somewhere where we can talk with our patients, carers, and the public 
and give our local communities the opportunity to share their opinions with decision-
makers from the CCG, allowing them to contribute directly to decisions affecting 
healthcare provision. 
 
We are determined to hear the voices of patients to help make a real difference and 
improve the way we plan and operate services. 
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In 2017/18, the following areas were discussed at the Sunderland Health Forum:  

 The Path to Excellence programme  

 All Together Better Sunderland vanguard programme 

 The Public, Patient, and Care Panel: This panel was developed through the 
work with All Together Better and is made up of Sunderland residents, who 
provide feedback to partner organisations on their proposals to drive health 
and social care change in the city 

 Self-care and courses for carers in Sunderland – providing access to training 
and services for Sunderland residents with caring roles and responsibilities 

 Dementia services – including the clinical side to dementia, and overview of 
pathways and services, and an interactive session from the Alzheimer’s 
Society on Dementia Friends. 

 Mental health services – including the clinical side to mental health issues, 
and overview of pathways and services available, and an interactive session 
from the Washington Mind on Resilience 

 
Find out more about Sunderland Health Forum at www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/shf.  
 

The Public, Patient, and Carer Panel 

The All Together Better programme has invested heavily in public, patient and carer 
engagement, working alongside Age UK Sunderland as partners.  In Autumn 2017, a 
Public, Patient, and Carer Panel was launched to continue this engagement. The 
panel will be made up of Sunderland residents, who provided feedback to partner 
organisations on their proposals to drive health and social care change in the city.  
 
In 2017/18, the panel discussed the following: 

 Sunderland Multispecialty Community Provider (MCP) 

 Make a FUSS* about Falls 

 All Together Better brand development 

 Community staff-based uniforms 

 Identification of patients at risk within the Sunderland Care Model 

 
* FUSS is a mnemonic for a falls risk assessment. It covers: Falls (has the person 
fallen in last 12 months; U-turn (can the person do a simple U-turn without dizziness 
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and unsteadiness; Stand (can the person stand unaided); and Steady (can they walk 
unaided and are steady on their feet). 
 
Find out more about the Public, Patient, and Carer Panel at: 
www.atbsunderland.org.uk/public-patient-carer-panel.   
 

Learning disability health event 

We are currently planning a health event in May 2018 aimed at people with a 
learning disability, named ‘Getting the best healthcare in Sunderland if you have a 
learning disability’. This event will allow us to listen to patients with a learning 
disability, to ensure they are aware of what support is on offer for them to make sure 
they get good health care, and advising them on how to stay healthy.  
 
We will also use this event as an opportunity to gain feedback from patients, on what 
a good health check looks like, in order to ensure all patients are getting the best 
healthcare service available to them. Pop-up clinics and interactive activities have 
also been arranged for the event, such as blood tests / glucose levels test, as well as 
making fruit kebabs to promote healthy wellbeing.  
 

Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

As part of our role in the city’s Children’s Strategic Partnership, we organised a 
‘working together to support the mental health and emotional wellbeing of children 
and young people’ conference in January 2018. The event was held to engage with 
service users to: 

 Promote a better understanding of children and young people’s mental health 
and mental health service provision 

 Increase awareness of, and participation in CAMHS Transformational Plan, 
and the THRIVE* Model 

 Launch the Mental Health Charter Mark 

 Encourage systemic and individual change 

 

* The term THRIVE is used to reflect CAMHS core commitment to young people 
‘thriving’ and to represent the commitment to provision which is Timely, Helpful, 
Respectful, Innovative, Values-based and Efficient. 
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Patient Stories 

Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (SCCG) works with local residents, 
patients, their families and carers to understand personal experiences of health and 
care services in Sunderland.  
 
Gathering patient stories allows us to gather people’s views about local healthcare 
services and helps to improve decision making and buying of services. SCCG puts 
patients at the heart of service development and decision making.  
 
The CCG encourage people to share their experiences, by promoting this on Social 
media, Sunderland Health Forum events, CCG website, as well as patient 
participation groups (described in more detail on the following page).  
 
Collecting patient stories allows us to identify where systems and processes may 
need to be improved, as well as sharing areas of good practice, in order to improve 
people’s experiences and access to health care.  
 
Patient stories are presented at the CCG Governing body meetings 
(www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/corporate-information/governance). There were four 
patient stories presented in July, September, November 2017, and January 2018.  

 Moving Rita – seeing the service from the outside – July 2017.  This 
patient story refers to the altogether better vanguard. A member of the public 
involved in the All Together Better vanguard system both professionally and 
personally, shared her personal experience of the care managed for her 
mother. http://www.atbsunderland.org.uk/2016/10/18/moving-rita/  

 Joined up care gets Eddie back on his feet – September 2017.  Eddie’s 
story focuses on the Recovery at Home service, part of All Together Better, 
which offers short term, community-based care to keep people out of hospital 
and with the right care provided to them at home. Eddie shares his positive 
experience of the service and how staying out of hospital allowed him to stay 
active. http://www.atbsunderland.org.uk/2017/08/07/joined-care-gets-eddie-
back-feet/  

 Caring for carers, thanks to all together better – November 2017 - This 
patient story explores the positive experience of a Sunderland carer, who took 
part in the free training course provided by all together better, to help those 
looking after someone who has a long term health condition. 
http://www.atbsunderland.org.uk/2017/11/14/caring-carers-thanks-together-
better/  

 It’s all about communication – January 2018.  This story talks about the 
experience of a patient who had been rushed in to emergency care at City 
Hospitals Sunderland and focussed on the care and dignity of the patient.   



                                Official   

NHS SCCG Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18_FINAL  56 

http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Agenda-and-
papers-27-March-2018-1.pdf (pg5). 

 
Find out more at www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/your-views-and-
experiences.   

 

Patient Participation Groups  

During 2016/17, we held an engagement event for patients and general practice staff 
to look at the development of patient participation groups (PPGs) within member 
practices.  We carried this work forward into 2017/18 and these groups have now 
been established within the practices and the CCG regularly uses them as a 
resource for engagement and to disseminate information.   
 
Some examples throughout 2017/18 of how the PPGs have been used include: 

 Any service network updates / issues 

 Public health campaigns such as; no smoking day, antibiotics resistance, be 
clear on cancer, and stroke (for example). 

 Health events including Sunderland Health Forums and the Learning 
Disabilities health event 

 Ongoing consultation, ways to get involved including circulating surveys 

 Updates / briefings for MCP 

 New additions to GP surgery screen 

 CCG awards / good work recognition  

 Sharing partner organisation materials (e.g. events / surveys / information) 

 
Find out more at www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/other-ways-to-get-
involved/find-your-patient-participation-group.  
  

Patient Insight and Engagement (PIE) event 

A number of engagement leads from across Sunderland were invited to attend a 
workshop hosted by Sunderland CCG in September 2017. The workshop identified 
patient and public involvement expertise, shared knowledge and insight around key 
engagement and involvement issues and how engagement leads can work better as 
a system around engagement and involvement. 
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Representatives from the following organisations were invited to attend the 
workshop:  

 Sunderland CCG 

 NECS 

 Sunderland Age UK 

 Sunderland Council 

 South Tyneside Council 

 South Tyneside Foundation Trust 

 Northumberland Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust 

 South Tyneside City Hospitals 

 Healthwatch 

 NHS England 

 Healthwatch 

 Northern Doctors Urgent Care Network 

 Deerness Park Medical Group 

 Vocare 

 

Social Media 

We use a variety of social media platforms, such as use Twitter, Facebook and 
YouTube, to directly engage and communicate with the public using a digital 
platform. Between April 2017 and March 2018, the CCG tweeted 578 times on 
Twitter, with over 1000 total retweets, reaching a total number of 2.1M people. 
During this same time period the CCG posted 402 times on the Facebook page. 
Posts were shared a total of 773 times, reaching over 119.6k people on Facebook. 
An example of the type of information NHS Sunderland CCG posts through social 
media includes: 

 Sharing public health ideas 

 Promoting dates for engagement activities 

 Sharing links to online surveys 

 Promoting ways for people to get involved (e.g. sharing patient stories) 

 Promoting healthy lifestyle choices 
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Reducing health inequality 

Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS 
Constitution (http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/NHS-
Sunderland-CCG-Constitution_v4.2_FINALAPPROVED.pdf) , the Equality Act 2010 
and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 
involvement and involve and consult with the public. 
 
We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human 
Rights (EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving 
people in our work as evidenced below. 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty  (PSED) 
which is set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the (Equality) Act 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 
As part of our statutory requirements, the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 we 
publish: 

 Equality objectives, at least every four years  

 Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality 
duty. 

 

Governance 

Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Executive 
Team. The board ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and 
regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers 
national and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for 
sharing issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information 
dissemination and escalation, monitors progress against the equality strategy and 
supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 
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A quarterly governance assurance report is submitted to the Executive Committee 
outlining relevant updates in relation to equality, diversity and health inequalities. 
 

Equality Strategy 

http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/item/equality-diversity-
strategy-july-2014/  
Our Equality Strategy was refreshed in 2016 and aims to ensure that the CCG 
promotes equality of opportunity to all our patients, their families and carers, and our 
staff, and to proactively address discrimination of any kind. 
 
We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and 
workforce, ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage. 
 

Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 

We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have 
been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core 
business functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with 
protected characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010. Working 
through the EDS2 framework has provided an opportunity to raise equality in service 
commissioning and gain insight into the local population’s diverse health needs. 
 
The Executive Team approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that 
individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. 
 
We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare 
our equality objectives, our action plan and objectives are outlined below: 
 

 Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that services 
are commissioned and designed to meet the needs of patients from at least 6 
protected groups. 

 Objective 2 – Improve and simplify the complaints process ensuring that 
complaints are handled efficiently and effectively for at least 6 protected 
groups. 

 Objective 3 – Continuously monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure 
they are engaged, supported and have the tools to carry out their roles 
effectively. 
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 Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and 
promotes Equality and Diversity throughout the organisation. 

 

Equality and Diversity Group 

http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/diverse-ways-working/equality-
diversity-group/  
The CCG has established an Equality and Diversity group which meets on a regular 
basis. The role of the group is to be a ‘critical ‘friend’ in supporting the CCG to meet 
its statutory requirements and to help identify and develop best practice. Participants 
have been recruited from My NHS membership who expressed an interest in 
equality issues.   
 
The group will also receive equality impact assessments for new projects and 
policies and support staff to meet their Equality and Diversity System, 2 (EDS2) 
requirements by providing feedback on the CCG’s equality and diversity action plan. 
 
The outcome of their review will be recorded in the corporate affairs assurance 
report which is reviewed quarterly by the executive committee.  
 
The Equality and Diversity group met five times during 2017 / 18. The following was 
discussed at these meetings: 

 June 2017: The Path to excellence; Multispecialty Community Provider; 
Updates from partners 

 July 2017 – All Together Better; The Path to Excellence; Multispecialty 
Community Provider, updates from partners 

 September 2017 – The Path to Excellence, Sunderland Health Forum future 
planning, Understanding impact of social isolation and loneliness in 
Sunderland 

 November 2018 – Multispecialty Community Provider, Antimicrobial 
Resistance, The Path to Excellence  

 February 2018 – NHS Sunderland CCG Equalities Protocol, Antimicrobial 
Resistance, Multispecialty Community Provider response statistics, improving 
engagement and consultation 

 

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  

We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work 
for us as we recognise the benefits such diversity brings to the 
quality of our work and the nature of our organisation. 
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We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are 
identified as meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable 
adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the 
recruitment process and during employment.  
 
This year, working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability 
Employer’ status for 2017/2018 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the 
right people for our business and continually developing our people.   
 

Workforce Race Equality Standard 

In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and 
Diversity Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic 
minority (BME) backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive 
fair treatment in the workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard (WRES). 
 
We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template 
for 2017. We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance 
from trusts and aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all 
levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 
 

Equality Impact Assessments 

Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core 
business processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, 
patients and staff’s diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 
(Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and 
Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and 
Carers,  as well as including prompts for engagement with protected groups the tool 
also aids compliance with the Accessible Information Standard. 
  
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, 
procedures and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts 
identified we will take immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action 
plan set out in the tool. This will ensure equity of service delivery is available for all 
as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress against challenges 
identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local population. 
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The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Executive 
team is required for monitoring and completion. 
 

Accessible Information Standard 

http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/diverse-ways-working/accessible-
information-standard/  
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have 
access to information that they can understand, and access to any communication 
support they might need. 
 
The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients, 
service users and their carers and parents. This includes making sure that people 
get information in different formats if they need it, such as large print, braille, easy 
read, and via email. Organisations were required to follow the standard in full since 
31 July 2016.  Further information can be found at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/ 
 

Health Inequalities 

We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing 
health services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint 
strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data 
including local health profiles as well as qualitative data through our local 
engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups. 
 
Sunderland has a population of approximately 281,000 people, our organisation 
covers Coalfield, Sunderland East, Sunderland North, Sunderland West and 
Washington localities. 
 
Large increases in the elderly population, and particularly the very elderly, have 
significant implications for healthcare over the next 5, 10 and 20 years. 
 
Our community is also affected by lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking and 
alcohol abuse which pose a major risk to health and wellbeing. 
 
Major health challenges are consistent across our 5 localities. They include: 

 A growing ageing population with escalating health needs 
 Poor health compared to the rest of the UK 
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 Excess deaths, particularly from heart disease, cancer and respiratory 
problems 

 An over-reliance on hospital care 
 Disintegrated healthcare service 
 Health inequalities across the city 

 
The health of people in Sunderland is varied compared with the England average. 
Sunderland is one of the 20% most deprived areas in England and about 26% of 
children live in low income families. 
 
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average with it 
being 10.1 years lower for men and 8.2 years lower for women in the most deprived 
areas of Sunderland than in the least deprived areas. 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local 
community we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual 
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community 
groups, attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient 
surveys, focus groups including our local E&D group and Healthwatch. 
 
As local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that 
are purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate 
that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our 
stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that comments and back from our local 
communities are captured and, where possible, giving local people the opportunity to 
influence local health services and enable people to have their say using a variety of 
communication methods enabling them to influence the way NHS health services are 
commissioned. 
 
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with 
other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy 
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also 
nationally we have been awarded E&D Partner status for 2016/17 and have 
continued to work closely with partners as part of the alumni programme for 2017/18. 
 
Further information can be found at: 

 Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info 
 Public Health England – Local Health: http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
 Sunderland JSNA: https://www.sunderland.gov.uk/article/13880/Joint-

Strategic-Needs-Assessment 
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Health and wellbeing strategy  

http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-work-with/health-and-wellbeing-
board/  
The Health and Wellbeing Board aims to reduce health inequalities and improve the 
health and wellbeing of local residents. Working together with the Council and 
external partners they are committed to prioritising areas of need and allocating 
health and social care resources. 
 
By focusing on areas such as housing, environment, education, employment, 
criminal justice and planning, the Health and Wellbeing Board believe they can have 
a real impact on the community, reducing inequalities in health across the region, 
and improving the quality of health and social care services for the local population. 
 
Over the past year the Health and Wellbeing Board has looked at a range of issues 
including the STP and CCG’s work on out of hospital, integrated teams and recovery 
at home covered by the vanguard, the joint working between City Hospitals and 
South Tyneside foundation trusts, alcohol, smoking, obesity and exercise and 
pharmacy needs assessment.  It has also held joint session with other strategic 
boards in the city considering workforce.  
 
 
David Gallagher  
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
 
 
 
22 May 2018 
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Accountability Report   

Corporate Governance Report 

Members Report 

The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which we, through our appointed 
members, elected GP executives and governing body, implement all statutory 
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services 
for Sunderland. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG 
and Governing Body. 
 
The Constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012 as 
part of the CCG authorisation process and updated in November 2013.  A further 
amendment was made in January 2015 to reflect the changes in relation to 
additional primary medical care commissioning responsibilities the CCG undertook 
from 1 April 2015.  The CCG undertook further reviews of the Constitution in 
November 2016 and December 2017 and it remained fit for purpose. 
 
Each member practice sits within one of five locality regeneration groups and has a 
lead GP elected by the GPs of Sunderland (who is also a member of the executive 
committee) as well as an assigned practice manager, practice nurse and a 
commissioning manager. The locality teams also work in close partnership with the 
local authority and local patients. 
 
The CCG covers the whole of the city of Sunderland and details of our localities and 
member practices can be found on the following pages: 
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Member practice profiles 

 
Coalfields locality practices 
 
Hetton Group Practice  DH5 9EZ 
Herrington Medical Centre  DH4 4LE 
Kepier Medical Practice  DH4 5EQ 
Houghton Medical Group  DH4 4DN 
Grangewood Surgery  DH4 4RB 
Westbourne Medical Group  DH4 4RW 
 
Sunderland East locality practices 
 
Deerness Park Medical Group SR2 8AD 
The New City Medical Centre  SR1 2QB 
Ashburn Medical Centre SR2 8JG 
Dr Brigham and Partners SR2 8AX 
Southlands Medical Group  SR2 0RX 
Park Lane Practice  SR2 7BA 
The Bhate Practice SR1 2HJ 
 
Sunderland North locality practices 
 
Red House Medical Centre SR5 5PS 
Fulwell Medical Centre  SR6 8DZ 
St.Bede Medical Centre  SR6 0QQ 
Dr Choi and Partners  
(Southwick Health Centre) 

SR5 2LT 

Castletown Medical Centre  SR5 3EX 
Monkwearmouth Health Centre SR6 0AB 
Dr Obonna 
(Southwick Health Centre) 

SR5 2LT 

Dr Weatherhead and associates  
(Southwick Health Centre) 

SR5 2LT 

 
Sunderland West locality practices 
 
Wearside Medical Practice  SR4 7XF 
Pallion Family Practice  SR4 7XF 
Village Surgery  SR3 2AN 
The New Silksworth Medical Practice SR3 2AN 
Millfield Medical Group SR4 7AF 
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Forge Medical Practice  SR4 6QE 

The Broadway Medical Practice  SR3 4HG 
Springwell Medical Group  SR3 4HG 
Hylton Medical Group  SR4 7ZF 
Happy House Surgery SR3 4BY 
South Hylton Surgery  SR4 0LS 
Chester Surgery  SR4 7TU 
 
Washington locality practices 
 
The Health Centre, Victoria Road 
(Dr Stephenson and Partners) 

NE37 2PU 

The Galleries Health Centre 
(Dr Dixit and partner)  

NE38 7NQ 

Concord Medical Practice  NE37 2PU 
Encompass Health Care  NE38 7NQ 
Rickleton Medical Centre  NE38 9EH 
Harraton Surgery  NE38 9AB 
Victoria Road Medical Practice  NE37 2PU 

 

Composition of Governing Body 

The Governing Body is made up of the following members: 

 Executive GP chair (elected) 

 Executive GP vice chair (elected) 

 Executive GP x4 (elected) 

 Chief Officer 

 Chief Finance Officer 

 Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 

 Lay Member, Audit and Non-Clinical Vice chair 

 Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement  

 Secondary Care Clinician 

 
In addition to the above members, the following are regular non-voting attendees 
and participants in governing body meetings: 

 Deputy Chief Officer 

 Medical Director 
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 Executive Practice Manager 

 Head of Corporate Affairs  

 Lay member, Primary Care Commissioning 

 Director of Public Health, Sunderland City Council 

 Executive Director of People Services, Sunderland City Council 

 

Governing Body Profiles  

Dr Ian Pattison, Executive GP and Clinical Chair 

Passionate about ensuring patients receive the best care available, Dr Pattison has 
been a GP at the Southland Medical Centre in Ryhope since 2001. With previous 
commissioning experience gained at Wearside Commissioning Group, Ian was 
elected to the CCG as chair in 2011. He is a member of the Governing Body, 
Executive Committee and Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 

With previous experience of working with CCGs in Newcastle, Gateshead, County 
Durham and Darlington, David has been involved with the NHS in both clinical and 
strategic roles.  He has lived locally all his life and has extensive management 
experience including in hospitals and commissioning. He started his career in 1982 
at Sunderland Royal Infirmary and joined the CCG as chief officer in 2012. 
 

Mr David Chandler, Chief Finance Officer 

David has over 20 years’ experience in NHS finance having worked in most sectors 
of the NHS, including acute, community, mental health and 
commissioning organisations.  He began his career in the region at City Hospitals 
Sunderland in 1991 as a trainee accountant.  David joined the CCG in May 2013 as 
head of finance and became the acting chief finance officer from April 2015.  He was 
formally appointed to the role of chief finance officer in August 2015.   
 

Dr Claire Bradford, Medical Director (non-voting) 

Originally from North London, Dr Bradford trained at Nottingham University and 
worked in Nottingham and Plymouth prior to moving (and staying) in the North East 
in 1989.  She has worked in the NHS since 1984 and been a public health physician 
since 1994 working in Newcastle Primary Care Trust, Health Protection Agency, 
North East Public Health Observatory and NHS England.  During her public health 



                                Official   

NHS SCCG Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18_FINAL  70 

career, her achievements have included leading teams to develop the English health 
profiles and the National Library for Public Health. 
 

Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Deputy Chief Officer (non-voting) 

Debbie has spent most of her career working in Sunderland, working across both 
health and social services.  She has worked in Sunderland City Council in planning 
and commissioning social care services for the children and adults before becoming 
deputy director of commissioning within NHS South of Tyne and Wear.  Debbie later 
took on responsibility for preparing the CCG to become a statutory clinical 
commissioning body before taking up her current role. 
 

Mrs Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 

As a registered nurse and with a career in the NHS spanning 30 years, Ann has 
always been an advocate for improving the quality of patient care, their safety and 
overall experience. She has been instrumental in developing new services and 
clinical pathways in areas such as haematology and palliative care, in her role as 
nurse director for the North of England Cancer Network. Prior to her current role, 
Ann was director of clinical care and patient safety at the North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and Informatics (non-voting) 

Scott was born and raised in Sunderland and has spent over twenty years working 
for local health and social care services in the city.  Scott is a qualified health 
informatician, with postgraduate and masters qualifications in information 
management.  He graduated the NHS Leadership Academy’s Nye Bevan 
Programme in 2014 with an award in Executive Healthcare Leadership. 
 

Prof. Mike Bramble, Secondary Care Clinician 

Professor Mike Bramble is a part-time consultant gastroenterologist at the James 
Cook University Hospital in Middleborough. His career spans 31 years and he has a 
range of experience and has advised the government on areas relating to 
endoscopy. He retired in June 2010 and returned to part-time clinical and academic 
work. He was appointed to the Governing Body in 2013 and continued in the role of 
secondary care clinician until his retirement in May 2017. 
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Dr Derek Cruickshank, Secondary Care Clinician 

Derek qualified in Aberdeen in 1980 and has worked in Teesside since 1993 as a 
Consultant at South Tees, retiring from clinical practice in 2017. He was appointed 
the first Head of School for Obstetrics and Gynaecology in the Northern Deanery in 
2008 and was the Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Regional College 
Advisor in the North East.  Derek oversaw the reconfiguration to a standalone 
midwifery led unit at the Friarage Hospital and was appointed to the Northern 
England Senate Council from its inception in 2013. Derek was appointed as 
Secondary Care Clinician for Sunderland CCG in June 2017. 
 

Dr Jacqueline Gillespie, Coalfield locality Executive GP lead 

Dr Gillespie qualified at Glasgow University in 1989 and moved to the North East in 
1992. She has been a GP in Sunderland since 1997 and a partner at Millfield 
Medical Centre since 2000. Having previously been involved with the prescribing 
team in Wearside Commissioning Group, she continued this interest as the GP 
prescribing lead for CCG and works closely with the medicines optimisation team. 
 

Dr Fadi Khalil, Sunderland East locality Executive GP lead and Clinical Vice-
Chair 

Dr Khalil has been a GP in Sunderland since 2010.  He is a GP trainer and partner at 
The Broadway Medical Practice.  He moved to the North East after graduating from 
Egypt in 2002. He is part of the team leading on Sunderland’s multi-specialty 
community provider Vanguard project and is currently the chair of the community 
integrated teams implementation Group.  Dr Khalil has also been involved locally in 
supporting collaboration in primary care. He was appointed to the Governing Body 
and Executive Committee in 2015. 
 

Dr Karthik Gellia, Sunderland North locality Executive GP lead 

After qualifying in medicine (MBBS 1997) and a gaining post-graduate degree (MD 
Dermatology 2003) in India, Dr Gellia came to the UK to work in the NHS.  He 
became a qualified GP in 2010 and has since worked in Sunderland. 
Since qualifying he has been involved in the development of General Practice 
services in the North Locality and has taken on the role of GP lead for the locality. 
He is a member of the Governing Body, Executive Committee and the executive GP 
lead on the newly set up South Tyneside and Sunderland Health care Group 
overseeing the in-hospital transformation programme. 
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Dr Tracey Lucas, Sunderland West locality Executive GP lead 

Dr Lucas moved to the North East after graduating from Glasgow in 1999 to pursue 
a career in paediatric medicine. She qualified as a GP in 2005 and now works at 
Deerness Park Practice. She acted as the clinical lead for Sunderland’s 111 Service 
before being elected to the post of executive GP in April 2014. 
 

Dr Raj Bethapudi, Washington locality Executive GP lead 

Dr Bethapudi is a GP partner and appraiser and has over a decade of experience in 
the NHS. He is also an executive GP and member of the Governing Body.   He is 
working on reforms in cardiovascular and cancer specialities to improve outcomes 
for patients and provide best value for tax payers’ money.  He is also an approved 
trainer for GP registrars. 
 

Mrs Aileen Sullivan, Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement; acting Audit 
Chair (1 April to 31 May 2017); acting Primary Care Commissioning Chair (1 
June to 31 December) 

After beginning her career as a nurse and midwife, Aileen moved into the education 
of health professionals. She became a principal lecturer at Northumbria University in 
1995 and then the director of practice placements. Aileen was actively involved in 
research projects looking at the care older people received in nursing homes. After 
leaving Northumbria she became a non-executive director for Sunderland Teaching 
Primary Care Trust. 
 

Mr Chris Macklin:  Lay Member, Primary Care Commissioning (until 31 May 
2017) (non-voting) - Lay member for Audit and Non-Clinical Vice Chair (1 June  
2017) 

Chris has worked in the NHS since 1975, becoming director of finance for NHS 
South of Tyne and Wear in 2006.  He is a governor of Gateshead College and chairs 
their Audit Committee.  In 2009 he was awarded a fellowship by Healthcare Financial 
Management Association (HFMA) in recognition of his contribution to HFMA and the 
development of NHS Accounting Standards. Chris retired from his post as Chief 
Finance Officer at Sunderland CCG at the end of March 2015 and was appointed as 
Lay Member for Primary Care Commissioning with effect from 1 September 2015, 
becoming the Lay Member for Audit and Non-Clinical Vice Chair from July 2017. 
 

Mrs Pat Harle, Lay Member Primary Care Commissioning (non-voting)  

Pat has over 40 years NHS experience, the last 18 years at board level in NHS 
commissioning and provider services. Most recently she was a non-executive 
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director at South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust prior to joining the CCG in January 
2018. Pat has held a number of national offices, including former president and chair 
of the British Association of Dental Nurses, training advisory board chair, ( a national 
training accreditation organisation) and deputy chair of an examining board. Pat was 
awarded a ‘Probe Lifetime achievement award ‘ and presented with a Medal of 
Distinction from the British Dental Association.  

 
Mr Eric Harrison, Executive Practice Manager (non-voting) 

Born in Durham 1961, Eric joined the forces in 1977 and saw active service in 
Falklands and Northern Ireland before becoming transport manager for Durham 
Constabulary.  Eric joined Deerness Park Medical Group in 2002. He has an MBA, 
first class honours degree in business and management, qualified accountant CIPFA 
and post graduate diploma in advanced NHS commissioning. 
 
(Non-voting members of the Governing Body paid by other organisations)  
 

Mrs Fiona Brown, Executive Director of People services (non-voting) 

Fiona has a number of years’ experience in local government and health, especially 
in health and social care integration, events and designing new forms of service 
delivery vehicles.  All of her career has been spent in the North east, working for a 
number of local authorities and acute health trusts.  She is particularly known for her 
work on strategic commissioning and creating innovative community solutions for 
independent living.  Fiona is an active member of a number of associations. 
 

Mrs Gillian Gibson, Director of Public Health (non-voting) 

Gillian has lived in Sunderland most of her life and worked for the NHS since 1984 
until 2013 when responsibility for public health transferred to local government.  She 
is a registered public health specialist and has been a consultant in public health in 
Sunderland since 2011, taking responsibility for the integration of public health 
services.  She became acting Director of Public Health in April 2015 and was 
appointed substantially in January 2016. 
 

Governing Body Committee(s), including Audit Committee 

Details of the CCG’s committees can be found in the governance section of this 
annual report.  
 



                                Official   

NHS SCCG Annual Report and Accounts 2017-18_FINAL  74 

Register of Interests 

The CCG’s register of interests is available on our public website and can be found 
by using the following link: 
http://www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk/?s=register+of+interests  
 
It is updated on an annual basis in line with current national guidance and reviewed 
by both the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body.  
 

Personal data related incidents 

The CCG has not had any serious incidents or serious information breaches during 
the year. 
 

Principles of Remedy 

The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line 
with current legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes 
adopting the principles as outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling, principles of good 
administration and principles of remedy. 
 

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response  

The CCG has a business continuity plan in place which is fully compliant with NHS 
England’s Emergency Preparedness Framework 2015.  The plan sets out the 
necessary process for staff to follow in the event of a business continuity incident 
and includes key contacts to support this.  In addition, the CCG has completed 
business impact analysis for all its key functions and used these to prioritise which 
activities would need to be continued in the event of such an incident.  The CCG is 
also a member of the Local Health Resilience Forum, however, as a category 2 
responder, is not required to have a major incident plan. 
 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is, or was, a member of the governing body in the year covered 
by this report confirmed that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the CCG’s external auditors are unaware.  Each member 
confirmed they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a member in 
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information. 
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Modern Slavery Act  

The CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery 
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 
2015.  
 

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each clinical 
commissioning group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Sunderland CCG.  
 
My responsibilities as Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  

 The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable,  

 For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the CCG and enable them to 
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction),  

 For safeguarding the clinical commissioning group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities). 

 The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money, 

 Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

 Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  
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The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.  In preparing the financial 
statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in particular 
to: 

 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, 
and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; 
and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.  

 I also confirm that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced 
and understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual 
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable  

 

Governance Statement 

Introduction   

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) is a corporate body 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  
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The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 
services for persons for the purpose of the health service in England.  The CCG is, in 
particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such 
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local 
population.  
 
As at 1 April 2017, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England 
issued under section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation and all GP practices in Sunderland are 
members.  We are clinically led and the membership elected six GPs, one of which is 
the CCG chair, to lead the CCG on their behalf and work as part of the Governing 
Body. We also have a number of nurses and other clinical professionals working 
with us on key areas of improvement and development, as well as other 
professionals with management support and lay members. 
 
The Governing Body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the 
strategy for health improvement for Sunderland and ensured the CCG delivered the 
improvements we set out in our commissioning plans. By doing this, we worked very 
closely with other partners across the city of Sunderland to improve the overall 
wellbeing of our local people. 
 

Scope of Responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my CCG 
Accountable Officer appointment letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity.  I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
governance statement. 
 

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness  

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
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efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which the CCG, through its appointed 
members, elected GP executives and Governing Body, implements all statutory 
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services 
in Sunderland. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG and 
Governing Body and is updated when necessary to ensure it remains fit for purpose 
and in line with current legislation. 
 
The CCG continues to take a locality approach across Sunderland and each member 
practice is in one of five localities (Coalfields, Sunderland East, Sunderland North, 
Sunderland West and Washington). 
 
Each of the localities has a lead GP who is an elected executive and a member of 
the Governing Body and executive committee as well as an assigned practice 
manager and practice nurse. The locality teams also work in close partnership with 
the local authority and local patients. 
 
The CCG has met regularly with all of its member practices as part of the ‘time in 
time out’ clinical educational sessions which are held on a regular basis.  Through 
these sessions, we keep our members up to date on key developments both 
nationally and locally across the CCG, as well as obtaining their views and feedback 
on key issues, improvements and future developments.   
 
We will hold our annual general meeting on 24 July 2018 to give us the opportunity to 
share our key achievements during the year and highlight our priorities for the 
coming year.  We will also give an overview of the CCG’s financial performance to 
demonstrate we have met our statutory duties in relation to these.   
 
We use our governance framework to lead and manage the achievement of our 
vision for ‘Better Health for Sunderland’.  We also use governance to lead and 
manage through our core values (and the public sector values of accountability, 
probity and openness) and our systems (such as governance structures and risk 
management systems).  Details of our strategic objectives and core values can be 
found in the performance report section of CCG’s annual report.   
 
We also use governance as the system of control, accountability and decision-
making at the highest level of the organisation.  The CCG governance framework 
comprises of the systems and processes and culture and values by which the CCG 
is directed and controlled. It enables us to monitor the achievement of our strategic 
objectives and ensure we deliver our vision of delivering appropriate, cost-effective 
services for the residents of Sunderland.   
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The CCG’s system of internal control is a significant part of the governance 
framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate 
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and therefore can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  
 
Our system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 

 Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and 
objectives 

 Evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the impact should they 
materialise,  

 Manage risks efficiently, effectively and economically 

 
The governance framework has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year 
ending 31 March 2018 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of 
accounts. 
 
To ensure effective governance arrangements are in place within the CCG, the 
Governing Body and its sub-committees operate in such a way as to ensure it 
discharges its functions appropriately and all of the functions are managed 
effectively. The Governing Body and committee agendas are structured to ensure 
key risks and issues were addressed and ensure delivery of our corporate 
objectives. 
 
The Governing Body has an agreed assurance framework in place (described in 
more detail in the internal control framework section of this statement) which is 
supported by clear risk management processes to place for identifying, analysing, 
evaluating, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk.  
 
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee has overseen the risk management function 
on behalf of the Governing Body since the inception of the CCG.  However following 
a review of the risk management arrangements in November 2017, the oversight 
function for risk management was transferred to the Audit Committee as from 1 
January 2018 and each committees’ terms of reference updated as appropriate. 
 
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee was renamed the Quality and Safety 
Committee and the Audit Committee renamed the Audit and Risk Committee from 
this date.  
 
The Governing Body used its assurance framework to ensure delivery of the 
corporate objectives and has received regular updates on progress for assurance.  
The Audit and Risk Committee also supported this work and undertook regular 
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reviews of the framework and process associated with it to ensure it remained robust 
throughout the year.  
 
In 2017/18, the Governing Body met on twelve occasions, six of which were held in 
public.  The other six occasions were used as more indepth sessions to continue 
focus developing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, both as individual 
members and as a board, and to review specific topics in more detail.   
 
As highlighted earlier in this report, the Governing Body is made up of twelve voting 
members and includes other regular non-voting attendees and participants.     
 
The Governing Body’s committee structure reflects guidance and best practice and 
includes an executive committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Quality and Safety 
Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee and a Remuneration 
Committee Each committee has agreed terms of reference to outline their key areas 
of responsibility and accountability to the Governing Body.  These terms of reference 
are reviewed on an annual basis (or earlier if required) to ensure they remain relevant 
and reflect the committee’s role and responsibilities.    
 
Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality, assurance, risk 
and governance issues, as well as patient experience via patient stories at public 
governing body meetings.  These arrangements meet the requirements of best 
practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a robust assurance 
framework is in place and consistently reviewed.  They also reflect the public service 
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify, as chief officer, my 
responsibility for ensuring these values are met within the CCG. 
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Governing Body Structure 

 
 
  
*Previously the Quality, Safety and Risk and Audit committees.  The committees were renamed the Quality and Safety Committee 
and Audit and Risk Committee with effect 1 January 2018 to reflect the transfer of the risk management oversight function.   
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Committees of the Governing Body 
 Executive 

Committee 
Quality and Safety 
Committee 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Roles and 
responsibilities 
 
 
 
 
 

 Responsible for the 
delivery of the 
overall management 
to support the CCG 
to work efficiently, 
effectively and 
economically 

 Ensure effective 
clinical engagement 

 Promote 
involvement of all 
member practices in 
the work of the CCG 

 Secure 
improvements in 
commissioning of 
care and services 

 Strategy and 
planning  

 Formulating and 
implementing 
service change  

 Delivery of improved 
outcomes, action 
planning 

 Managing 

 Responsible for 
ensuring appropriate 
governance systems 
and processes are in 
place to commission, 
monitor and ensure the 
delivery of high quality 
safe patient care in 
commissioned 
services, 

 Promote continuous 
improvement and 
innovation – safety of 
services, clinical 
effectiveness and 
patient experience 

 Secure public 
involvement - patient 
and public views are 
properly reflected in 
CCG policies and plans

 Oversight and scrutiny, 
supporting NHS 
England, in securing 
continuous 
improvement in the 

 Responsible for 
critically reviewing 
financial reporting and 
internal control 
principles 

 Provide assurance and 
independent/objective 
views to the Governing 
Body on finance and 
governance systems 
and processes 

 Review the adequacy 
and effectiveness of 
governance, risk 
management and 
internal control 
measures 

 Monitor integrity of 
financial statements 

 Scrutinise the process 
and delivery of 
QIPP/resource 
releasing initiatives 

 Perform the role of 
Auditor Panel 

 Ensure an effective 

 Responsible for 
making decisions on 
the review, planning 
and procurement of 
primary medical care 
services in 
accordance with the 
delegation agreement 
between the CCG 
and NHS England 

 Promote increased 
co-commissioning to 
increase quality, 
efficiency, productivity 
and value for money 

 Management of GMS, 
PMS and APMS 
contracts 

 Design and 
management of 
enhanced services 

 Design of local 
incentive schemes 

 Decisions on 
establishing new GP 
practices in an area, 

Determine and make 
recommendations to 
the Governing Body 
on: 

 Pay and 
remuneration for 
CCG employees 
and people who 
provide services to 
the CCG  

 Allowances under 
any pension 
scheme 
established as an 
alternative to the 
NHS pension 
scheme.  

 Appropriate 
remuneration and 
terms and 
conditions for the 
Accountable 
Officer(Chief 
Officer), GP 
Executives, Very 
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 Executive 
Committee 

Quality and Safety 
Committee 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

performance – 
financial and non-
financial 

 Review of business 
cases and 
supporting 
processes 

 

quality of primary 
medical care 

 Quality in 
commissioned services 
– assurance and 
improvement  

 Seek assurance on 
performance of 
provider organisations 

 Seek assurance in 
relation to medicines 
optimisation, safety 
and cost effective 
prescribing  

 

internal audit function 
that meets mandatory 
NHS Internal Audit 
Standards 

 Review the work and 
findings of external 
auditors 

 Ensure adequate 
counter fraud 
arrangements are in 
place 

 Ensure robust process 
are in place to manage 
conflicts of interest  

 Ensure systems are in 
place to identify, 
assess and prioritise 
risks, both actual and 
potential 

approving practice 
mergers or branch 
closures 

 Review primary 
medical care services 
in Sunderland 

 Financial 
management of 
primary medical care 
services 

Senior Managers,  
Vice Chair 

 Remuneration and 
terms of 
appointment of any 
lay members. 

 Proper calculation 
and scrutiny of 
termination 
payments  

 Fulfil the role of 
Nominations 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chief Officer (Chair) 
Chief Finance Officer 
Director of Nursing, 
Quality and Safety, 
6 Executive GPs 
Strategic Practice 
Manager 

 
Lay Member for Patient 
and Public Involvement 
Chair) 
Director of Nursing, 
Quality and Safety, 
Chief Officer 
Medical Director 

 
Lay Member, Audit 
(Chair) 
Lay Member, Patient and 
Public Involvement 
Independent Audit and 
Risk Committee Member 
 

 
Lay member, Primary 
Care Commissioning 
(Chair) 
Lay Member, Patient 
and Public Involvement 
Chief Officer 
Chief Finance Officer 

 
Lay Member for 
Audit (Chair) 
Lay Member for 
Patient and Public 
Involvement 
CCG Chair  
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 Executive 
Committee 

Quality and Safety 
Committee 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

 
Membership  
 
 
 
 

 
Regular attendees: 
 
Deputy Chief Officer 
Medical Director 
Director of 
Contracting and 
Informatics 
Head of Corporate 
Affairs 
Director of Public 
Health, Sunderland 
City Council 

Secondary Care 
Clinician 
GPs x 2 
Head of Quality and 
Patient Safety 
Head of Safeguarding 
Head of Corporate 
Affairs 
Head of Contracting and 
Performance 
Director of Public Health, 
Sunderland City Council 

Regular attendees: 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
External Audit Mazars – 
Partner and Senior 
Manager 
Head of Internal Audit, 
AuditOne 
Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer 
Head of Corporate 
Affairs 
Counter Fraud Specialist 
 

Executive GP 
GP Primary Care 
Advisor  
Deputy Chief Officer  
 
Regular attendees: 
 
Sunderland City 
Council representative 
Local Healthwatch 
Chair 
NHS England 
representative  
Head of Corporate 
Affairs  
 

Regular attendees: 
 
Chief Officer 
Head of Corporate 
Affairs 
HR Representative 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key issues 
covered 

 Multi-specialist 
community provider 
development  

 Continuing 
healthcare and 
healthcare 
packages 

 Financial 
performance and 
issues for 
consideration/decisi

 CCG quality strategy 
 Safeguarding 
 Quality in 

commissioned 
services, covering 
performance and 
contractual issues that 
impact on quality 
including infection 
control, safety 
thermometer, annual 
survey/audit results, 
mortality reporting, 

 Governing Body 
assurance framework  

 Risk management  
 Annual governance 

statement review  
 Annual report and 

accounts review  
 Financial updates 
 Overview of tender 

waivers 
 QIPP/resource 

 Financial updates on 
the management of 
the delegated general 
practice budgets 

 Practice and branch 
mergers, boundary 
changes and list 
closures 

 Monitored the 
ongoing work in 
relation to the 
General Practice 5 
Year Forward View 

 Automatic 
enrolment relating 
to work pension 
schemes   

 Medical director 
remuneration 
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 Executive 
Committee 

Quality and Safety 
Committee 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

 
 
 
 

on 
 Ambulance 

response times 
 Medicines 

optimisation  
 Map of Medicine 

pathways 
 Quality premium for 

general practice  
 Children and 

adolescent mental 
health services  

 Carers  
 Cancer plan 
 Estates and 

technology 
transformation  

 Anticoagulation 
(INR) monitoring  

 Renal patient 
transport service  

 NHS 111 and 
Integrated urgent 
care  

 0-19 Public Health 
Services 

 General Data 

friends and family test 
results, complaints and 
serious incidents 

 Quality in older 
persons’ commissioned 
services  

 Continuing health care 
 Transforming 

Care/Learning 
disabilities 

 Mental health 
 General practice 

assurance framework   
 Risk management 

(until 31 December 
2017) 

 Medicines optimisation 
 Patient and public 

involvement (including 
compliance with the 
statutory guidance 
‘Involving People’ via 
an action and project 
plan) 

 Medicines optimisation  
 Clinical assurance 

visits with providers 
 Improvement and 

Assessment 
Framework (exception 
report)  

releasing initiatives 
 Register of interests 
 Internal audit strategy 

and progress reports 
 External audit progress 

and completion reports 
 Counter fraud annual 

plan and updates 
 NHS protect self-

assessment 
submission  

 Cyber security and 
information risk  

 Indepth review of the 
CCG’s financial 
management 
arrangements 

 Review of risk 
management reports,  

 Sought assurance on 
mitigating actions to 
address these risks 
and ensures these are 
captured on the 
corporate risk register 

 Maintained the 
independence of the 

 Monitored progress 
on the 
implementation of the 
general practice 
strategy 

 Primary care estates 
subsidiaries 

 Practice resilience 
bids  

 Silksworth 
procurement exercise 

 Shared transfer of 
care 

 Endorsed the CCG’s 
participation in a 
North East model for 
international 
recruitment for GPs  

 Discussed and 
approved a GP 
recruitment and 
retention funding 
proposal   

 Discussed and 
approved a general 
practice engagement 
protocol and 
communications plan  

 Discussed new 
consultation types for 
general practice 
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 Executive 
Committee 

Quality and Safety 
Committee 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Protection 
Regulation 

 Primary care estates 
subsidies  

 Approved a number 
of policies on behalf 
of the Governing 
Body  

 More focussed topics 
including patient group 
directions, quality in 
care homes, 
ambulance response 
times, improving 
access to 
psychological 
therapies, patient and 
public involvement 
statutory duties and 
antimicrobial 
prescribing 

auditor panel  Considered Care 
Quality Commission 
reports for practices 

 General practice 
assurance framework 

 Monitored contractual 
breaches with NHS 
England  

 Project portfolio for 
the Estates and 
Technology 
Transformation Fund 
for general practices 

 Carer’s improvement 
scheme 2017/18 

 Memorandum of 
Understanding with 
NHS England for 
thedelegated co-
commissioning of 
primary medical care 
services 
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Joint Committee Arrangements 

The CCG has joint and collaborative arrangements in place to make commissioning 
decisions through delegation arrangements. These are as follows: 

 Sunderland City Council Health and Wellbeing Board (on which the CCG has 
three voting seats) 

 Joint Health and Social Care Integration Board with Sunderland City Council 
to manage the Better Care Fund set up from April 2016 

 Sunderland City Council (section 75) agreement in place for joint 
commissioning arrangements for the Better Care Fund 

 Collaborative arrangements with the other North East and Cumbria CCGs 
with regard to commissioning arrangements for contracts with NHS healthcare 
providers across the North East and Cumbria 

 Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to determine commissioning for 
health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding requests, 
including conducting an appeals process 

 Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to advise upon and make 
recommendations to CCGs on high cost cancer drugs and high cost 
treatments 

 Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to provide a partnership forum 
to work together with trade union and professional organisation 
representatives to discuss issues relating to employment matters affecting 
their employees 

 South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Healthcare Partnership (made up of 
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust, South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust, NHS South Tyneside CCG and the CCG) in relation to the 
acute reconfiguration programme (Path to Excellence) across South Tyneside 
and Sunderland (Path to Excellence). 

 
The groups identified above have an agreed governance structure in place with 
specific roles, responsibilities and accountabilities or are covered by individual 
CCGs' governance arrangements where appropriate and agreed. Any investments 
and decisions made by these groups are formally documented and reviewed 
regularly as part of the CCG contracting and performance arrangements. 
 
In addition, we continue to work closely with our partner organisations in the local 
health community. A significant part of this partnership working continues to be with 
Sunderland City Council (the Council) in the delivery of the Better Care Fund (BCF) 
through the Health and Social Care Integration Board.   The BCF combines a 
resource of £72m in 2017/18 between health and social care and is enabling us to 
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make much needed changes to improve services across both sectors whilst making 
maximum use of the combined resources. Robust governance arrangements are in 
place around the BCF and demonstrate the strength of the links that we have with 
the Council.   
 
The CCG and Council have worked in partnership over the past two years to 
transform the delivery of care across Sunderland as part of the commitment set out 
in the Five Year Forward View.  As a partnership, we established the ‘All Together 
Better Sunderland’ care programme following the securing of national vanguard 
funding to help strengthen connections between local health services and social care 
services.  We worked together to support the development and delivery of our 
integrated teams, recovery at home and enhanced primary care work as part of our 
out of hospital transformation model and avoid delays in delivering care to patients.  
 
As a result of this care programme, we now have a community-based care model 
that is centred on the patient being managed at home or in the community wherever 
possible.  All Together Better was one of only 14 national multi-specialty community 
provider schemes (Vanguards) chosen to spread good practice to other areas of the 
country.   
 
Robust and transparent governance arrangements are in place around the vanguard 
programmes and the established provider board continues to monitor delivery 
against the required objectives and timescales. The provider board is accountable to 
the System Resilience and Transformation Board, chaired by the CCG, which 
includes senior representatives from the CCG, council and providers.  
 
The CCG is now progressing this work further and looking to look at ways of 
securing this care model for the longer term, combining all of the out of hospital or 
community care services the CCG commissions into one single multi-specialty 
community provider (MCP) contract.  The single contract will bring together those 
services commissioned by the CCG to look after people’s physical and mental health 
(including GPs, nurses and other health professionals, the voluntary sector and 
healthcare managers) to plan and deliver a new form of integrated care designed to 
bring about better health outcomes for the local population.  The MCP will have a 
budget of £240m per year and is planned to run for 10 years, beginning in April 
2019. 
 
The CCG has also continued to maintain close links with NHS England, with 
quarterly assurance meetings being held to consider performance issues and 
priorities across all the CCG activities.  The latest assurance ratings from NHS 
England has rated the CCG as ‘outstanding’ in all domains of planning, performance, 
financial management, delegated functions and well-led organisation.  
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Assessment of the Governing Body Effectiveness 

The CCG’s governance framework is reviewed by NHS England as part of the CCG 
assurance framework requirements. During the year, the CCG has undertaken a self-
assessment of its leadership and governance processes as part of the framework 
put in place by NHS England, Cumbria and the North East who were assured that the 
CCG governance framework was robust and did not raise any issues of concern. 
 
We continuously monitor our process for managing conflicts of interest to ensure any 
actual or potential interests are managed effectively and robustly.  The CCG has 
submitted quarterly assurance returns to NHS England in relation to any breaches in 
managing conflicts of interest and to date we have not had any.  Our register is 
publicly available on the CCG’s website.  
 
Committee and Governing Body Attendance Record 2017/18 (eligible meetings) 
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Mrs Aileen Sullivan – Lay member for Patient and 
Public Involvement* 

6/6  3/5 10/11 6/6 2/2 

Mr Chris Macklin – Lay Member for Audit and 
Governing Body Non-Clinical Vice Chair*  

6/6  3/3  6/6 2/2 

Mrs Pat Harle-  
Lay member for Primary Care Commissioning (from 
01.01.18) 

2/2    1/1  

Mr Neil Weddle – Independent Audit and Risk 
Committee Member 

 
 

 5/5    

Prof Mike Bramble – Secondary Care Clinician* (left 
May 2017) 

1/1   2/2   

Mr Derek Cruickshank – Secondary Care Clinician 
(From June 2017)* 

6/6   6/9   

Dr Ian Pattison – Executive GP and Governing 
Body Clinical Chair * 

6/6 9/11   2/6 1/2 

Dr Raj Bethapudi – Executive GP* 6/6 9/11  
 
 

  

Dr Jacqueline Gillespie – Executive GP* 5/6 9/11  11/11   

Dr Tracey Lucas – Executive GP* 5/6 10/11     

Dr Karthik Gellia – Executive GP* 6/6 11/11  8/11 5/6  
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Dr Fadi Khalil – Executive GP* 6/6 10/11     

Mr David Gallagher – Chief Officer* 6/6 9/11  5/11 6/6 2/2 

Mrs Ann Fox – Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Safety* 

5/6 10/11  8/11 5/6  

Mr David Chandler – Chief Finance Officer * 6/6 10/11 5/5  4/6  

Mrs Debbie Burnicle – Deputy Chief Officer 4/6 10/11   
 

4/6 
 

Dr Claire Bradford – Medical Director 
 

5/6 10/11  10/11   

Mr Scott Watson, Director of Contracting and 
Informatics 

1/6 8/11     

Mrs Florence Gunn – Strategic Practice Nurse  11/11     
Mr Eric Harrison – Executive Practice Manager   4/6 10/11     
Dr Geoff Stephenson – Primary Care Advisor     3/6  
Mrs Gillian Gibson – Director of Public Health, 
Sunderland City Council 

4/6 9/11 
 
 

8/11   

Ms Fiona Brown – Executive Director of Peoples 
Services, Sunderland City Council 

3/6    0/6  

*voting right on the Governing Body 

 
The Governing Body has a detailed programme of development throughout the year, 
utilising external and internal expertise and facilitation, to continuously review, 
develop and enhance its effectiveness. 
 
The sessions covered a range of key topics such as: 

 Collective and individual leadership - governing body responsibilities  

 Strategic direction, planning and priorities  - including the Five year Forward 
View 

 Assurance and organisational development   

 Development of a multi-specialist community provider and the path to 
excellence programme  

 Joint committee arrangements for Cumbria and the North East 
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The Governing Body also undertakes an annual self-assessment questionnaire for 
members to assess their effectiveness and performance, both as individuals and a 
board, based on principles outlined in relevant corporate governance guidance. The 
questionnaire focused on leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration 
and relationships with stakeholders.  
 
Some key assurances from the questionnaire and development sessions of were:   

 Clarity on roles and responsibilities  

 Balance of skills, knowledge and expertise  

 Sufficient information to support the discharge of functions 

 Constructive challenge from lay members to help develop strategies 

 Receives clear and timely information to present a balanced assessment of 
the CCG’s position and prospects  

 Effective mechanisms in place for the CCG’s risk management and internal 
control systems 

 Strong commitment to hearing views and encourage participation of 
stakeholders 

 
The outcome of the self-assessment will be incorporated into the programme of 
Governing Body development sessions going forward.  
 
Having reviewed the effectiveness of the Governing Body’s governance framework 
and associated guidance, I consider that the organisation has followed and applied 
the principles and standards of best practice. 
 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

The arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the corporate 
governance framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to 
ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for membership body and Governing Body decision and the 
scheme of delegation. 
 
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of 
the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I 
can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions 
on delegation of those functions. 
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
The director teams have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary 
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s 
statutory duties. 
 

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness  

Effective risk management is an integral part of the work of the CCG in delivering 
against its corporate objectives and strategic priorities in the stewardship of public 
funds.  The Governing Body has a responsibility to maintain a strategic view of the 
organisation’s risk appetite, as set out in the CCG’s risk management framework, 
and to set boundaries to guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in the 
pursuit of achieving its organisational objectives. 
 
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through: 

 The risk management framework and its supporting policies and procedures 

 The committee structure described earlier in this statement 

 A risk management group, including directors and the senior team  

 The management processes (e.g. used a risk-based approach to help 
prioritise planning and work programmes) 

 The Governing Body assurance framework 

 Risk management skills training, including risk assessments of various types 
and the mandatory and statutory training programme for all staff 

 Raising awareness of a counter fraud culture 

 
The CCG risk management framework takes into account current guidance on risk 
management as well as established best practice. The framework sets out the CCG’s 
approach to risk and the management of risk in the fulfillment of its overall objective 
to commission high quality and safe services. In addition, the adoption and 
embedding of an effective risk management framework and processes helps to 
ensure that the reputation of the CCG is maintained and enhanced, and its 
resources are used effectively to reform services through innovation, large-scale 
prevention, improved quality and greater productivity. 
 
The framework provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of 
risk. Key elements of the framework include: 

 Clear statements on the responsibilities of the Governing Body and its sub 
committees as well as individual accountability for delivery of the framework 

 Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 
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 Clear processes for the management of risk in commissioned services, 
partnership working and the delivery of the quality, innovation, productivity 
and prevention programme 

 A clearly defined process for assessing and managing risks, including 
implementation and dissemination of the framework to all staff 

 Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risks, including 
incident reporting, serious incidents and safeguarding 

 Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting of and managing risks through 
the risk register process 

 Arrangements for monitoring and review of the framework 

 
The overall risk management approach ensures that the framework is coordinated 
across the whole organisation and progress is reported effectively to the Governing 
Body, Quality and Safety and Audit and Risk Committees.   
 
The risk management framework is embedded into the work of CCG in a number of 
ways.  We have a robust incident reporting system and staff are actively encouraged 
to report incidents to help identify risks and we also have a clear policy and process 
in place for staff to raise any concerns in relation to potential fraud risks. The 
planning and reform processes also include a risk management element to ensure 
risks are being identified and mitigated as far as possible, with each of the 
programme boards having a responsibility to escalate risks through to the corporate 
risk register process as appropriate.   
 
Understanding, monitoring and mitigating risks is fundamental to a successful 
organisation as a basic aspect of good governance. As such, it is ultimately the 
responsibility of the Governing Body to ensure effective management and assurance 
processes are in place. 
 

Risk management arrangements until 31 December 2017  

The existing risk management arrangements have been in place since the inception 
of the CCG and have served the organisation well.  However as part of the CCG’s 
commitment to continuous improvement, it was felt timely to review whether the 
existing risk management arrangements still remained fit for purpose. 
 
At the Governing Body meeting in April 2017, the risk management function was 
discussed to establish whether the existing governance structure and underpinning 
processes for managing risk were robust and still provided a high level of assurance 
going forward.  In addition, following AuditOne’s review of the risk management and 
governing body assurance framework arrangements (with an outcome of substantial 
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assurance), a recommendation was put forward for the CCG to further consider how 
well it manages risk and how it challenged whether the actions and assurances 
identified on the risk register and governing body assurance framework to mitigate 
risks were robust. 
 
As a formal sub-committee, the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee assisted the 
Governing Body in its duty to secure continuous improvement in the quality of 
services and improve the quality of primary medical services. It also provided 
assurance to the Governing Body about the quality, safety and risks of the services 
being commissioned and the overall risks to the organisation’s strategic and 
operational plans. This also includes oversight of the CCG’s risk management 
function. 
 
The committee’s specific responsibilities relating to risk management were to:  

 Oversee the risk management system and obtain assurances that there is an 
effective system operating across the CCG 

 Review the management of the corporate risk register and the top risks 

 Report to the Governing Body any significant risk management issues   

 
The Risk Management Group was also established as a sub group of the Quality, 
Safety and Risk Committee in 2014 with the principal purpose of supporting the 
committee in managing risk.  In particular, the aim of the group was to support the 
committee to embed the CCG’s risk management policy and framework, with a 
particular focus on the risk register system and process.   
 
As a formal sub-committee of the Governing Body, the Audit Committee provided the 
Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the CCG’s financial 
systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions 
governing the CCG in so far as they relate to finance. The committee ensured that 
systems are in place and operating effectively for the identification, assessment and 
prioritisation of risks, potential and actual, and to report on any major strategic issues 
and any associated financial implications to the Governing Body and to other 
external agencies as appropriate.  
 
In addition the committee reviewed the governing body assurance framework 
(GBAF) to ensure the Governing Body received assurances that effective controls 
were in place to manage all strategic risks.  
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New risk management arrangements from 1 January 2018 

The Audit Committee maintained its current responsibilities and the following 
responsibilities were transferred from the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee:   

 Oversee the risk management system and obtain assurances that there is an 
effective system operating across the CCG 

 Report to the Governing Body any significant risk management issues  

 
The committee was renamed the Audit and Risk Committee and the Quality, Safety 
and Risk Committee renamed the Quality and Safety Committee. 
 
The Risk Management Group has been incorporated into the business cycle of the 
director and senior team meetings.  The purpose of this is to strengthen the 
membership to include the directors as the risk owners and facilitate more challenge 
and scrutiny on the management of all risks.   
 
The additional responsibility for the director and senior team meeting (incorporating 
the risk management group) is to: 

 Review the corporate risk register and any high level risks  

 Report to the Audit and Risk Committee on any significant risk management 
and assurance issues   

 
The Risk Management Group now meets on a quarterly basis to fit into the business 
cycle of the Audit and Risk Committee and includes a review of all risks, supported 
by a rolling programme of indepth reviews of each individual director’s risks.  This 
will enable further scrutiny and challenge on the assurances and mitigating actions 
identified in the risk register and GBAF.   
 
The executive and quality and safety committees will continue to review and manage 
any strategic or operational risks pertaining to the committee’s area of focus on 
exceptional basis. 
 

Additional risk management support  

The CCG also has a service line agreement in place with the North of England 
Commissioning Support Service (NECS) to provide specialist support and advice in 
relation to risk management in conjunction with the Head of Corporate Affairs.  This 
support includes the management of the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management 
System which is the system the CCG uses to record and analyse all identified risks. 
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Other risk management processes  

The equality impact assessment process (EIA) is well established within the CCG 
and staff receive regular training and updates to ensure any risks associated with 
this are identified and managed. The Governing Body and committee report cover 
sheets also include reference to the EIA process to demonstrate compliance with 
this duty and highlight any potential issues.      
 
The CCG involves key stakeholders and the public in the management of risks 
through its public Governing Body meetings. The risk register is a regular item on 
the public agenda and there is an opportunity for questions to be asked on the 
register as a whole or any specific risks during the meeting. In addition, key 
stakeholders and the public are invited to specific events such to discuss issues and 
topics in detail, which includes identifying and assessing relevant risks.  
 
There is also the opportunity through the Sunderland Health Forum and collaborative 
working across the health economy to discuss risks openly and to help identify ways 
in which they should be managed. By working in an inclusive way with the public, 
this ensures the CCG takes into account the views of the public and key 
stakeholders.  Any such views form a crucial part of developing robust mitigating 
action plans for any identified risks. 
 

Risk Appetite 

Risk appetite is the organisation’s unique attitude towards risk as it is the amount of 
risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or to be exposed to at any 
point in time. It can be influenced by personal experience, political factors and 
external events.  Risks were considered in terms of both opportunities and threats 
and not confined to money.      
 
The CCG tries to reduce risks to the lowest level reasonably practicable.  Where 
risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort is made to mitigate the remaining 
risk.  However, an understanding of the organisation’s risk appetite will ensure the 
CCG supports a varied and diverse approach to commissioning, to work proactively 
and to improve quality, efficiency and value. 
 
In line with best practice, the Governing Body reviewed all of its corporate objectives 
and set the risk appetite for each one individually. It is recognised that the risk 
appetite may differ for each objective depending on the nature of the objective and 
the required actions necessary to deliver that objective. The Governing Body used 
the Good Governance Institute risk appetite matrix for NHS organisations to 
determine the level of risk appetite.  
 



                                Official  

NHS SCCG Annual Report 2017/18_FINAL  97 
 

The Governing Body concluded that the CCG’s overall organisation and individual 
risk appetites are:  

 Seek:  eager to be innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher 
rewards (despite greater inherent risk) 

 

 

Control Mechanisms 

The CCG’s corporate objectives were reviewed by the Governing Body and did not 
change for 2017/18.  These are described in the table in the above risk appetite 
section.   
 
Whenever risks to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives were identified, an 
assessment was undertaken to ensure the appropriate controls were put in place 
(using the existing strategic risks identified on the risk register and aligned to the 
corporate objectives). In addition, supporting action plans were identified and 
implemented to mitigate these risks materialising as far as possible.  A number of 
controls and assurances, along with associated gaps in assurance and controls, 
were also identified and together these formed the Governing Body assurance 
framework (GBAF) for 2017/18. 
 
The Governing Body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management 
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate 
delegated limits, with specified objectives and robust action plans. The Audit and 
Risk Committee provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective 
review on the CCG’s finance and governance systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS in so far as they 
relate to finance and governance.  The Audit and Risk Committee ensures the 

Risk Appetite Matrix 
Objective Risk Appetite  
CO1: ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties Open/Seek 
CO2a: maintain financial control Open 
CO2b: maintain performance targets Seek 
CO3: maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG 
commissioned services 

Seek 

CO4:  ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in 
commissioning and reforming services 

Open 

CO5:  identify and deliver the CCG’s key strategic priorities Seek 
CO6:  continue to develop the CCG localities Open 
CO7:  integrating health and social services, including the 
Better Care Fund 

Seek 

CO8: development and delivery of primary medical care 
commissioning  

Seek  
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adequacy and effectiveness of the GBAF, using it to guide its work and that of audit 
and assurance functions that report to it. 
 
The key risks and issues identified by the CCG during the year are set out on page 
32 of this annual report.  
 
A number of gaps in assurance and controls were identified in reviewing and 
agreeing the assurance framework.  These have been monitored as appropriate 
within the committee structure. 
 
A number of audits have also been conducted throughout the year focusing on key 
governance areas such as standards of business conduct, corporate decision-
making, financial systems and risk management.  The outcomes of these audits 
gave the CCG a rating of substantial assurance for each of these areas. 
 
We have a five year commissioning plan which describes the long term vision for 
health and social care of Sunderland.  The risks to delivery of this plan have been 
systematically identified and quantified for all of the investment and disinvestment 
initiatives as part of the detailed planning process and in collaboration with all 
relevant partners, using a risk-based assessment of likelihood and consequence.   
 
The CCG financial framework also used this risk-based approach to develop a 
balanced financial plan year on year.  Contingencies were identified within the 
financial framework to ensure high level financial risks could be addressed. The 
CCG used its local prioritisation process to enable the balance of investments and 
disinvestments to be robustly assessed and reviewed.  In addition, the process to 
develop and approve business cases has also been reviewed in year.  
 
The CCG is part of the Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham 
sustainability and transformation partnership (STP) as described earlier in the 
performance report. The CCG will continue to work in partnership across the STP 
footprint to help deliver the shared local vision for 2021.  
 
The CCG is also part of the South Tyneside and Sunderland Partnership leading the 
Path to Excellence programme as described earlier in the performance report.  This 
joint working is delivering a programme of engagement about the case for change 
and collection of patient experience to inform the programme of ongoing clinical 
service reviews.   
 
In South Tyneside and Sunderland we have more people using hospital services 
than other parts of the country. We are working with our local GP practices and 
community services to look at how we can develop more services in community 
settings as well as doing more to support people to stay well at home. We want to 
work with local communities to make sure that we have the very best hospital, 
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general practice and community services and we are positive and optimistic that 
together we can achieve this. 
 
The needs and expectations of the public are also changing. New treatment options 
are emerging, and we rightly expect better care closer to home. However, whilst we 
are living longer, in the north east those extra years are often spent in poor health, 
requiring different more complex care. Therefore local people, the local environment 
as well as local health services need to change and work together to improve that 
poor health status, both through more self-care, a more preventive focus, a better 
local economy as well as more effective and efficient local health services. 
 
We have updated our two year operational plan (developed in 2016/17) which 
outlines how we are delivering the Sunderland components of the STP, using a risk-
based approach to develop the plan.  Further detail on the STP can be found in the 
performance report section of this annual report. 
 
The CCG has a duty to work with partners to improve the health of the local 
population. Partnerships can involve high levels of risk due to their complexities 
making robust risk management an essential element of partnership governance.  
The CCG has ensured that any work carried out across the health and social care 
economy adhered to the CCG’s principles of robust risk management, focusing on 
those areas considered to be of highest risk and undertaking appropriate risk 
assessments and mitigating action plans as necessary. 
 

Capacity to Handle Risk 

The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality, safe and sustainable services 
and demonstrates leadership in risk management through the risk management 
framework. The framework sets out clear roles and responsibilities within the CCG 
to implement the risk management process. 
 
The responsibility for risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from 
governing body members, directors and to all managers and staff. 
 
As Chief Officer, I have overall responsibility to ensure the implementation of the 
framework with supporting risk management systems and internal control. I also 
ensure an appropriate committee structure is in place to meet all the statutory 
requirements and ensure positive performance towards the achievement of the 
CCG’s strategic priorities. Day to day responsibility for risk management is 
delegated to the Head of Corporate Affairs. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer provides expert professional advice to the Governing Body 
on the efficient and economic use of the CCG’s financial resources.  This includes 
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ensuring the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place for audit and identifying 
risks and mitigating actions in the delivery of quality QIPP programmes. 
 
The Medical Director, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety and six elected GPs 
promote risk management processes with the CCG’s member practices.   
 
All senior leaders within the CCG have a responsibility to incorporate risk 
management within all aspects of their work in line with the requirements set out in 
the risk management framework as described in an earlier section of this statement.  
Appropriate training has also taken place over the year to enable senior leaders to 
undertake their risk management duties appropriately and enable them to share best 
practice.  The Risk Management Group helps to support this and its membership 
includes all heads of service and directors as part of the director and senior team 
business cycle. 
 
The structure within the CCG to manage risk is detailed below: 
 
Committee Responsibility for Risk 

Management 
Role 

Governing Body  Maintains oversight of the 
internal control and risk 
management frameworks 

Seek assurance on behalf of the 
CCG membership that risks are 
being managed appropriately within 
delegated limits, with specific 
objectives and robust action plans 
to ensure the CCG meets its 
statutory duties and functions. 

Quality and Safety and 
Risk Committee  
(until 31 December 
2017) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Quality and Safety 
Committee 
(from 1 January 2018) 

Main committee with 
responsibility for oversight 
of risk management 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From 1 January 2018 
Reviews quality and safety 
risks (including any clinical 
risks) and key issues on an 
exceptional basis 

Receives regular information on 
risks and provides assurance to the 
Governing Body progress is being 
made towards mitigating these. 
Risk Management Group reports 
into this committee as well as other 
specific groups such as infection 
control and safeguarding who 
manage their specific risks. 
 
From 1 January 2018 
Undertakes this role for additional 
scrutiny when required.   
 

Audit Committee 
(until 31 December 
2017) 
 
 

Oversight of risk 
management and internal 
control arrangements 
 
 

Reviews the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework and provides 
assurance to the Governing Body 
that the CCG is discharging its 
functions appropriately.   
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Committee Responsibility for Risk 
Management 

Role 

 
 
Audit and Risk 
Committee 
(from 1 January 2018) 

 
From 1 January 2018 
Main committee with 
responsibility for oversight 
of risk management  

 
From 1 January 2018 
Receives regular information on 
risks and provides assurance to the 
Governing Body progress is being 
made towards mitigating these 

Risk Management 
Group  

Supports the Quality, Safety 
and Risk Committee as a 
formal sub group in 
managing risk across the 
CCG  
 
 
From 1 January 2018 
Incorporated into the 
director and senior team 
meetings. 

Provides assurance to the Quality, 
Safety and Risk Committee on the 
embedding of the CCG’s risk 
management policy and framework, 
with a particular focus on the risk 
register system and process. 
 
From 1 January 2018 
Provides assurance to the Audit 
and Risk Committee on the 
embedding of the CCG’s risk 
management policy and framework, 
with a particular focus on the risk 
register system and process. 

Executive and Primary 
Care Commissioning 
Committees 

Reviews risks and key 
issues on an exceptional 
basis 

Undertakes this role for additional 
scrutiny when required.   
 

Director and Senior 
team (including the  
Risk Management 
Group)  

Supports the Quality, Safety 
and Risk Committee as a 
formal sub group in 
managing risk across the 
CCG  
 
From 1 January 2018 
Supports the Audit and Risk 
Committee in managing risk 
across the CCG. 

Provides assurance on the 
embedding of the CCG’s risk 
management policy and framework, 
with a particular focus on the risk 
register system and process. 
 
 

 

Risk Assessment  

The CCG has ensured that its risk management processes are embedded throughout 
the organisation and provide a clear process for identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
managing, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk. The types of risks the 
CCG faces include corporate (accountability to the public), clinical (associated with 
our commissioning responsibilities), reputational and financial risks.   
 
The CCG uses a standard matrix methodology in the application of a risk rating to 
ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and effective targeting of 
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resources.  Risks are assessed using the consequence and likelihood of that risk 
occurring, giving an overall rating of high, moderate or low. This rating is recorded 
against the identified risk and managed via a serious of controls and actions and 
progress is monitored via the CCG’s governance processes. The financial impact of 
the identified risk is also assessed and included on the register.   
 
Each director’s team has its own risk register, aligned to the CCG’s corporate 
objectives and assurance framework, to identify existing or prospective risks to the 
organisation.  These registers are supported by a corporate register, which focuses 
on the high risks that have been identified to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic 
objectives and a strategic risk register which supports the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework (covered in more detail in the control mechanisms section 
below).   In addition, risks are identified through our strategic planning process and 
monitored via our performance management system that rates all objectives for risk 
to delivery. 
 
The Quality and Safety Committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body 
to manage risk on its behalf.  The committee has received bi-monthly updates of the 
corporate risk register throughout the year to ensure high risks were being monitored 
and managed effectively to be mitigated as far as possible.   
 
The CCG recognised that as a formal committee, the QSRC could not examine and 
monitor all risks in detail and therefore an operational Risk Management Group has 
been established as a formal sub-group of the QSRC.  The group has met quarterly 
throughout the year and focused on the lower level operational risks to ensure these 
were being managed appropriately and to continuously assess the risk rating as part 
of the overview process.   
  
The framework to monitor and manage each level of risk register is as follows: 
 
Register Type Managed/Reviewed by Frequency of 

review 
Accountable to 

Strategic risk register 
(moderate/high risks 
identified as strategic 
risks to the corporate 
objectives) 

Audit and Risk Committee  
 
Governing Body as part of 
the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework 

Quarterly 
 
Six monthly 

Governing Body 
 
CCG membership 

Corporate risk 
register 
(moderate and high 
risks rated 10-25) 

Director and Senior team 
(incorporating the Risk 
Management Group) 

Bi-monthly Audit and Risk 
Committee  

Operational risk 
register  
(low risks rated 
between 1-9) 

Director and Senior team 
(incorporating the Risk 
Management Group) 

Quarterly Audit and Risk 
Committee  
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The CCG service line agreement with NECS also includes further support, advice 
and training in relation risk assessment.   
 
Using the risk register framework described above has enabled the CCG to maintain 
a continued focus on those risks with a potential greater impact on the organisation 
at both committee and Governing Body level.   
 
Mitigating action plans were put in place to address the high risks identified during 
the year (highlighted on page 32) and progress has been monitored closely by the 
former Quality, Safety and Risk Committee, Audit and Risk Committee and 
Governing Body. 
 

Other Sources of Assurance 

Internal control framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify 
and prioritise risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the 
impact should they materialise, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk.  It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurances of effectiveness. 
 
The committee structure within the CCG has been established to ensure there are 
robust reporting mechanisms and clear lines of accountability in place to provide 
assurance to the Governing Body, and ultimately our members, that the CCG is 
discharging its activities and functions effectively. 
 
The scheme of delegation and reservation sets out the responsibilities of the 
membership, Governing Body and its sub-committees, the chief officer and other 
directors to ensure the CCG discharges its functions appropriately.  The scheme is 
explicit in defining where the responsibilities lie in delivering each of these key 
functions and also provides a framework by which the Governing Body, on behalf of 
the members, can seek assurance these are being done so appropriately.     
 
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the role and responsibilities of the Governing Body 
as well as each of its formal sub-committees.  Each formal sub-committee has its 
own agreed terms of reference in place to ensure it carries out its delegated 
functions on behalf of the Governing Body appropriately and within its remit.  Each of 



                                Official  

NHS SCCG Annual Report 2017/18_FINAL  104 
 

the committees is subject to an annual review of effectiveness and this is reviewed 
by the Governing Body.   
 
The Governing Body assurance framework (GBAF) is in place to identify gaps in 
control and provide assurance against the delivery of the CCG’s corporate 
objectives.  The previous section on risk management describes the assurance 
framework in detail, highlighting the corporate objectives and key risks to the delivery 
of these. 
 
The controls identified within the GBAF were assessed as the key elements needed 
to mitigate risks to delivery of the corporate objectives as far as possible, act as a 
deterrent to risks occurring and provide a structured approach by which identified 
risks could be managed. The GBAF and risk management framework (as described 
in the previous section) both support the delivery of the corporate objectives and 
forms part of the internal control framework. 
 
The CCG financial framework also forms part of the internal control framework, with 
a number of approved policies and procedures in place to ensure the CCG 
manages its finance in accordance with national policy and guidelines. The CCG 
Constitution sets out the prime financial policies and the financial scheme of 
delegation, as approved by the Governing Body, sets out the delegated limits for key 
individuals within the CCG. This ensures these individuals have a clear framework 
in place within which they can make financial decisions.  Compliance with the 
scheme is monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body to 
ensure delegated limits are being adhered to.  In addition the limits set out within the 
scheme have been reviewed by both the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing 
Body during the year to ensure these remain appropriate and reflect individual 
levels of responsibility.   
 
Following the delegation of the primary medical care commissioning function from 
NHS England, further control mechanisms were put in place to ensure the CCG 
delivers the requirements of the delegated function appropriately.  A signed 
delegation agreement between the CCG and NHS England is in place and sets out 
the roles and responsibilities of each organisation.  The CCG’s Constitution was 
updated with the requirements as part of the application process in early 2015 and 
the primary care commissioning committee established with clear terms of reference.   
 
In relation to the Better Care Fund, the CCG also has a signed agreement in place 
with Sunderland City Council to set out the roles and responsibilities for each 
organisation and the delivery requirements for the programme. The CCG monitors 
delivery of this through the transformation board (which the CCG chairs) and the 
health and social care integration board (a sub-committee of the health and wealth 
being board) and regular reporting to the Governing Body. 
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Annual Audit of Conflicts of Interest Management 

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  
 
The CCG has carried out an annual audit of conflicts of interest and received a rating 
of substantial assurance from the CCG’s internal auditors, AuditOne.      
 
AuditOne noted as an example of best practice that the CCG has an effective 
process in place for identifying out of date declarations by using a RAG rated system 
to highlight out of date entries.  This helps to improve both the usefulness of the 
register and the visibility around out of date declarations.   
 
In addition, some suggestions and recommendations were made as to how the CCG 
could further improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the system to manage 
conflicts of interest including: 

 Introduction of a formal GP code of conduct where GP practices are 
potentially providers of services via primary care commissioning 

 Publication of the conflicts of interest guardian on the CCG website separately 
as well as in the standards of business conduct and declarations of interest 
policy to highlight who members of the public should approach if they have 
any concerns 

 Establishing a sponsorship register template 

 Standard agendas for contract monitoring meetings between the CCG and 
providers to include conflicts of interest 

 Seeking formal assurance from NECS around any conflicts of interest that 
may impact on the CCG’s operations that are outsourced to it. 

 
NHS England published mandatory online training for conflicts of interest at the end 
of January 2018, with a deadline for the relevant staff to complete this by May 2018.  
The training is split into three separate modules and NHS England specified which 
members of staff were required to complete the mandatory module one, namely the  
Governing Body and all its formal sub-committee members, clinicians involved in 
procurements or commissioning decisions, governance leads and anyone involved 
or likely to be involved in taking a procurement decision. 
 
To support the CCG’s approach of openness and transparency and to demonstrate 
best practice, the CCG decided that all staff would be required to undertake module 
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one of the training and work is underway to ensure this is completed by the required 
deadline of the end of May. 
 

Data Quality 

The Governing Body and member practices are aware of the importance of 
maintaining high standards of information governance and securing confidentiality of 
patients’ information. As the Accountable Officer, I receive assurance from the 
Director of Contracting and Informatics as senior information risk owner that this 
function is discharged appropriately, with support from the Medical Director as 
Caldicott guardian. The CCG also receives support from NECS via a service line 
agreement for specialist advice and training for information governance issues.  The 
Governing Body and member practices are satisfied with the quality of data used to 
inform decision-making and planning to deliver the commissioning agenda and to 
ensure the CCG meets its statutory requirements. 
 

Information governance 

The NHS information governance framework sets out the processes and procedures 
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.   
 
The CCG has undertaken a self-assessment against the specified criteria within the 
toolkit and assessed ourselves as being overall compliant as at 31 March 2017. 
 
Internal audit conducted an audit of the toolkit submission and we achieved an audit 
rating of substantial assurance.  
 
The Governing Body is aware of the importance of maintaining high standards of 
information governance and securing confidentiality of patients’ information.  The 
Director of Contracting and Informatics as the CCG’s senior information risk owner 
(SIRO) ensures this function is discharged appropriately, with the Executive 
Committee maintaining oversight of this. The CCG Medical Director is our Caldicott 
Guardian and they are both supported in their roles by the Head of Corporate Affairs 
and via a service line agreement with NECS to provide specialist advice, support and 
training on information governance issues. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. 
We have an established information governance framework, including an approved 
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strategy, and have developed information governance processes and procedures in 
line with the information governance toolkit.   
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents and a programme of mandatory training for information risk management 
and incident management. The CCG’s information governance framework helps to 
ensure all staff are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities 
and it is embedded into everyday practice of the CCG.  
 
We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and 
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are 
aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities. 
 
I can confirm the CCG has had no serious information governance breaches in year. 
 

Business Critical Models 

I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide 
quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the 
Macpherson report. 
 

Third Party Assurances  

The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the 
provision of back office services and functions and as such has established an 
internal control system to gain assurance from these. These external services 
include: 

 The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support 
from NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business 
Services is mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in 
producing NHS England group financial accounts through the use of an 
integrated financial ledger system 

 The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit 

 The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from McKesson 

 The provision of practice payment services via the Exeter system processed 
by NHS England 
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 Service auditor reports in relation to primary care co-commissioning from 
Capita and NHS Digital (refer to primary care delegated functions on page 
109)  

 
Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service 
audit reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service providers 
as well as additional testing of controls by the CCG’s internal auditors.  The outcome 
from these audits is reported to the Audit and Risk Committee and subsequently the 
Governing Body via the Audit and Risk Committee minutes. 
 

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of 
Resources 

The CCG was deemed by NHS England to be over-funded by 17.42% and £78m on 
the baseline allocation funding level of £447m at the start of the year.  As such NHS 
England allocated the CCG just 0.16% of growth funding for the year which was to 
cover the impact of all pressures. In effect the CCG was allocated a real terms cut in 
funding.  These real terms cuts will continue for the next three to four financial years 
according to published allocation figures which will create considerable strain on the 
ability of the CCG to commission healthcare services for the people of Sunderland.    
 
For 2017/18 the business rules for CCGs were determined by NHS England. 
CCGs were required to demonstrate achievement of the following: 

 Delivery of a ‘cumulative’ surplus and carry forward of at least 1% 

 A requirement to deliver an in year breakeven position (deficit CCGS have 
specific minimum expectations set out on improvements in their positons).  

 Holding of a contingency reserve of at least 0.5% of the CCG’s total allocation 
for 2017/18 (including delegated budgets) 

 A requirement to set aside 1% of the CCG’s total allocation for 2017/18 non-
recurrently (including delegated budgets). In 2017/18, unlike in 2016/17, the 
CCG was able to allocate resource non-recurrently to support transformation 
with the remainder of the funding to be held uncommitted in a risk reserve to 
support system wide pressures (0.5% of the CCGs allocation excluding 
delegated budgets).   

 Spending no more than the running cost allowance 

 Agreement of a Better Care Fund plan with the Local Authority 

 Continuing to increase investment into mental health services at a level which 
at least matches the CCG’s overall programme allocation increase. 
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The financial plans and budgets approved by the Governing Body in January 2017 
clearly demonstrated plans to achieve these goals. The level of cumulative surplus 
for the CCG was agreed as £18.1m at the start of the year which was considerably in 
excess of the minimum 1% requirement but £5.4m less than the amount carried over 
from the previous year.  Following the agreement of this cumulative surplus position 
the CCG was mandated by NHS England to release £2.82m of its allocation to 
manage system wide pressures in 2017/18. This increased the planned cumulative 
surplus for 2017/18 from £18.1m to £20.92m.  
 
The Governing Body agreed to deliver a surplus in excess of the minimum in 
previous financial years to try and protect the organisation from required future 
financial constraints outlined above.  Any surplus in excess of the minimum will be 
available to the CCG in future years to assist in the management of financial risk.  
 
Throughout the year the CCG has constantly reported to the Governing Body and 
Audit and Risk Committee on the delivery against our plans which demonstrated 
robust financial planning, control and effective uses of resources. Quality, innovation, 
productivity and prevention (QIPP) programmes have been delivered during the year 
releasing funds for managing demand pressures and investment into new services.  
Savings were made in areas such as prescribing, out of hospital reforms, reductions 
in non-recurrent budgets and re-procurement of services. 
 
As mentioned above, as part of the business rules for 2017/18, all CCGs were 
mandated by NHS England to hold an additional 0.5% of their total funding allocation 
(excluding delegated budgets) uncommitted as a ‘risk reserve’.  For Sunderland 
CCG this equated to £2.24m. NHS England required the CCG to leave this funding 
uncommitted during the financial year.   
 
In March 2018, NHS England confirmed that all CCGs were required to increase 
their cumulative surplus by the value of this risk reserve.  Effectively this meant the 
CCG was only able to spend circa 99.5% of its original confirmed funding allocation 
for the financial year on commissioning healthcare for the population of Sunderland. 
This additional surplus will be used by NHS England nationally to offset financial 
pressures on the wider NHS system. 
 
In addition to this in 2017/18 the CCG benefited from a rebate in relation to category 
M drugs. NHS England has requested CCGs to generate additional surpluses 
equivalent to the savings generated from this rebate on the expectation that these 
savings were not originally in the CCGs financial plans for 2017/18 and are required 
to manage system wide risk. For Sunderland CCG this equated to £0.58m.   
 
A summary of the CCG’s final cumulative surplus position at the end of the financial 
year is as follows: 
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This final surplus balance of £21.16m is not a ‘profit’ or surplus generated during the 
financial year.  The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried forward from 
previous financial years, with an additional £2.82m of surplus generated during 
2017/18 as a result of NHS England requirements.  These additional surpluses will 
be carried forward for drawdown in future years.  
 
CCGs can utilise cumulative surpluses above 1% and it has been agreed with NHS 
England that the CCG’s cumulative surplus above 1% of £16.02m will be utilised 
over the next three financial years as follows: 
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AuditOne has undertaken a review during the year of the CCG’s financial planning 
and financial systems.  In addition, the finance team participated in an audit relating 
to continuing healthcare.  The CCG achieved an outcome rating of substantial 
assurance for financial planning and a rating of substantial assurance for financial 
systems.  
 
As part of the annual audit the external auditors are required to form an opinion 
whether the CCG has proper arrangements in place for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.  Mazars are only required to report where 
they conclude that arrangements are not in place. For 2017/18 we are pleased to 
confirm that Mazars have not reported any issues to the CCG’s Governing Body.     
 
All clinical commissioning groups in England are subject to a comprehensive annual 
assessment by NHS England. This examines key components and considers the 
strengths, challenges and areas for improvement before applying a headline rating of 
outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate.  NHS England publishes 
the CCG assessment outcomes on My NHS www.nhs.uk/mynhs. The latest available 
results (2016/17) show the CCG’s assessment rating for the previous year (2016/17) 
as ‘green star’ (outstanding). 
 

Delegation of Functions 

Primary care delegated functions  

NHS England delegated authority to the CCG to exercise primary medical care 
commissioning functions from April 2015 (often referred to as ‘level 3 delegated co-
commissioning’). 
 

Utilisation £m

2018/19 drawdown of cumulative surpluses 4.9

2019/20 to 2020/21 drawdown of cumulative surpluses* 3.56

Additional drawdown of mandated in 2016/17 and 2017/18 to 
manage system wide risk** 7.72

Total 16.18

**Please note that NHS England are yet to inform CCGs how and when they might 
be able to access and use the additional in year surplus of 1% mandated in 

*2019/20 to 2020/21 drawdown yet to be formally confirmed by NHS England. 
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For 2017/18 the following sources of assurances relating to the financial reporting 
with the CCG’s accounts are as follows: 

 ISA3402 report - NHS Digital – this report provides assurance in relation to 
this processes used to maintain demographic data on populations used to 
calculate GMS / PMS payments for the period 2017/18.  This report has been 
received and reported no control exceptions 

 ISAE3402 report - NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) ISFE service auditor 
report - this report covers financial processes operated by NHS SBS, 
including controls on the National Health Applications and Infrastructure 
Services (NHAIS) interface between Exeter and the ISFE ledger 

 ISAE3402 report – Capita service auditor report – a type 1 audit carried out in 
October 2017 with an interim Type 2 report covering the period from 1st 
October 2017 to 31 December 2017 and a type 2 report covering the period 
from 1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018 - these reports cover the services of 
all primary care support in 2017/18.  

 CCG controls - control mechanisms that are in place to review and approve 
recharges posted into the CCG ledger by CCG senior officers 

 Financial reporting - review of financial reporting against budget by the 
Executive Committee on a monthly basis and Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee on a bi-monthly basis.    

 
The CCG has received a copy of the ISAE3402 Type 1 report for Capita carried out 
in October 2017 by KPMG. This report outlined that significant progress had been 
made to address gaps in the control environment which were identified in the 
2016/17 Service Auditor Report. Effective controls were identified for 14 out of 16 
control objectives. One of the controls noted as not operating effectively related to 
processes surrounding authorisation of payments in Clacton-on-Sea. The remaining 
control issue was identified in relation to access controls for Capita staff to systems. 
The CCG had in place other financial control systems that mitigated the control 
weaknesses identified. 
 
The CCG has also received a copy of the ISAE3402 Type 2 report for Capita for the 
period covering 1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018 carried out by KPMG.  This report 
identified exceptions with 7 out of the 16 control objectives. KPMG has noted that the 
design of controls is robust however they have not been consistently applied across 
the organisation. A review has been carried out by the CCG on the control 
exceptions and it has been confirmed that the CCG had in place internal controls to 
mitigate the control exceptions identified.  
 
These in-house controls were audited by internal audit as part of the financial 
systems audit in 2017/18 gaining significant assurance.  
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North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS) 

The CCG contracts with NECS for the provision of a number of commissioning 
support functions such as human resources, information technology and some 
finance services. The CCG has established an internal control system to gain 
assurance from NECS on these functions. 
 
Service auditor reports from NECS provided assurance on the internal controls and 
control procedures operated by this service organisation to its customers and their 
auditors.  Finance and payroll services service auditor reports (SAR) have been 
received from NECS covering the full year. 
 
The first report was for the period covering 1 March 2017 to 31 August 2017.  When 
reporting on the internal controls and control procedures Deloitte noted five control 
lapses. Following publication of the SAR NECS reviewed the control exceptions 
noted and formulated actions to ensure compliance in future periods.  
 
All of these control exceptions were applicable to Sunderland CCG and related to 
process and controls in payroll services, training of finance staff and journal 
corrections.    
 
A second report was received for the period September 2017 to March 2018. 
Deloitte noted one exception in relation to a control in payroll services in this report.  
 
Following a review by the CCG of the control exceptions from both reports, it has 
been confirmed that the CCG had in place other financial control systems that 
mitigated the control weaknesses identified within NECS. These in-house controls 
were audited by internal audit as part of the financial systems audit in 2017/18 
gaining significant assurance. 
 

Counter Fraud arrangements  

The CCG’s counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the 
organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed 
by the Audit and Risk Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, 
detection and investigation of fraud. 
 
Through the contract with AuditOne, the CCG has counter fraud arrangements in 
place that comply with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption including: 

 An accredited counter fraud specialist who is contracted to undertake counter 
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.    
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 A report against each of the standards for commissioners received by the 
Audit and Risk Committee at least annually.   

 Executive support and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to 
address identified risks.   

 The chief finance officer, as a member of the Governing Body, is proactively 
and demonstrably responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption. 

 Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance 
recommendations. 

 
The CCG was made aware of one potential incident of fraud during the year.  This is 
being formally investigated by the CCG’s Local Counter Fraud Service.   
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. This opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 

1. Overall opinion 

2. Basis for the opinion 

 

1. Overall Opinion 

 
 
 
 
 

2. Basis of the Opinion  

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

 An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management 
of risk 

 An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing substantial 
assurance that the system of internal control has been effectively designed to 
meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are being consistently 
applied. 
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throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses 

 Brought forward Internal Audit assurances 

 An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 
recommendations 

 Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS Sunderland CCG for the 
co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.  
 
Stuart Fallowfield 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
 
 
21 May 2018  
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Table one - summary of internal audit work undertaken 

Audit area  Assurance Framework 
Reference 

Assurance Level 
Substantial Good 

CORE AREAS 
SCCG 1718/01: 
Financial and 
Strategic Planning 

CO2a: Maintain Financial 
Control. 
 
CO5: Identify and Deliver 
the CCG's Key Strategic 
Priorities. 

√  

SCCG 1718/05: 
Performance 
Management and 
Reporting 

CO2a: Maintain Financial 
Control 
 
CO3: Maintain and Improve 
the Quality and Safety of 
CCG Commissioned 
Services 

√  

SCCG 1718/06: 
Financial Contract 
Monitoring and 
CQUIN  

CO2a: Maintain financial 
control. 
 
CO3: Maintain and improve 
the quality and safety CCG 
commission services. 

√  

SCCG 1718/07: Cost 
Improvement and 
QIPP 

CO2a: Maintain financial 
control. 
 
CO3: Maintain and improve 
the quality and safety CCG 
commission services. 

√  

SCCG 1718/10: 
Conflicts of Interest  

CO1: Ensure that the CCG 
meets its public 
accountability duties. 

√  

SCCG 1718/09: 
Information 
Governance  

CO1: Ensure that the CCG 
meets its public 
accountability duties. 

At the date of our review 
February 2018, we 

identified six out of seven 
requirements reviewed 

which could be 
substantiated at the level 
claimed.  Feedback was 
provided to the CCG to 

enable action on the 
remaining requirement 

before the final 
submission date of 31 

March 2018. 
SCCG 1718/11: Key 
Financial Controls 

CO2a: Maintain financial 
control. 
 

√  

SCCG 1718/12: 
Governance and 
Assurance 
Arrangements  

CO1: Ensure that the CCG 
meets its public 
accountability duties. 

√  

RISK BASED AUDITS 
SCCG 1718/02: 
Stakeholder 
Engagement  
 

CO4: Ensure the CCG 
involves patients and the 
public in commissioning 
and reforming services. 

√  

SCCG 1718/04: CO1: Ensure that CCG √  
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Audit area  Assurance Framework 
Reference 

Assurance Level 
Substantial Good 

Safeguarding – LAC 
and SEND [draft 
report] 

meets its public 
accountability duties. 
 
CO3: Maintain and improve 
the quality and safety of 
CCG commissioned 
services. 

SCCG 1718/08: 
Service 
Transformation MCA 
[fieldwork ongoing] 

Corporate Objective 4: 
Ensure the CCG involves 
patients and the public in 
commissioning and 
reforming services 
 
Corporate Objective 5: 
Identify and Deliver the 
CCG’s key strategic 
priorities 

√  

SCCG 1718/13: 
Continuing 
Healthcare and 
Funded Nursing 
Care  

CO2a: Maintain financial 
control. 
 
CO3: Maintain and improve 
the quality and safety of 
CCG commissioned 
services. 

 √ 

 

Table 2: Definitions of assurance levels 

 Assurance Levels 

Substantial Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide substantial 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with the 
control framework was found to be taking place.  

Good Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level of 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.  A high level of 
compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place. Minor 
remedial action is required 

Reasonable Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide reasonable 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with the 
control framework was not found to be taking place in a consistent manner.  
Some moderate remedial action is required. 

Limited Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with the 
control framework was not found to be taking place.  Immediate and fundamental 
remedial action is required. 
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Review of Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal 
Control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their reports.  
 
Our Governing Body Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles have 
been reviewed.  I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by: 

 The Governing Body,  
 The Audit and Risk Committee  
 The Quality and safety committee 
 The system of internal control mechanisms 
 Internal Audit 

The Governing Body, Audit and Risk Committee and Quality and Safety Committee 
have concluded through their annual review processes that the CCG has effective 
governance, risk management and internal control mechanisms in place to ensure 
the CCG to meet its statutory duties.   
 
The internal control section earlier in this statement describes in detail the process 
that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
system of internal control.   
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal 
control. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion has been included in the previous section.  

Conclusion 

As Chief Officer, I have reviewed the governance and risk management processes 
within the CCG and am assured the CCG had an effective system of internal control 
over the previous year with no significant control issues. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of NHS Sunderland 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical 
Commissioning Group (‘the CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2018. The financial 
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to the financial statements, including the 
summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 2017/18 as contained in the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18, and the Accounts Direction issued 
by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as 
relevant to clinical commissioning groups in England (“the Accounts Direction”). 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 
and of its net operating expenditure for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health 
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18; and 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 and the Accounts Direction issued 
thereunder. 

 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are 
independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
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accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Use of the audit report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS 
Sunderland CCG, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 

 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 
CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 

 

Other information 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
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conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice 

In our opinion: 
 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Direction made 
under the National Health Service Act 2006; and 

 the other information published together with the audited financial statements 
in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required to report to you if: 
 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the 

guidance issued by NHS England; or 
 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the 
CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision 
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under schedule 7(1) of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under schedule 7(2) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2018. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
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fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity 
of expenditure and income.  
 
The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual and prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis, unless the CCG is informed of the intention for dissolution 
without transfer of services or function to another entity. The Accountable Officer is 
responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the CCG to 
prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern.  
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and 
income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  We are not required 
to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
 



                                Official  

NHS SCCG Annual Report 2017/18_FINAL  123 
 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in November 2017, as to whether the CCG had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The 
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG 
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary. 
 

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS 
Sunderland CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 

 

 

Cameron Waddell 
Partner 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

 

Salvus House 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 

 

Date:  
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Remuneration and Staff Report  

 
The remuneration and staff report gives details of CCG staff and remuneration. It 
sets out the CCG’s remuneration policy for directors and senior managers, reports 
on how that policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to 
directors and senior managers and where relevant the link between performance 
and remuneration.  
 

Remuneration Report   

 

Remuneration Committee 

The remuneration committee was established to advise the governing body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the chief officer and other senior 
staff. The committee has delegated authority from the governing body to make 
recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration.  Further details of 
the membership and roles and responsibilities of this committee can be found in the 
corporate governance report of this annual report.    
 

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

The policy for remuneration of very senior managers within the CCG is in line with 
the national Very Senior Managers (VSM) pay framework, taking into account 
Sunderland is a medium sized CCG at a level 2. 
 
All senior manager contracts, specifying terms and conditions of service are in line 
with the VSM pay framework or Agenda for Change as appropriate. The medical 
director terms and conditions of service are in line with the medical consultant 
contract.  All other senior managers are remunerated in line with Agenda for Change 
requirements. 
 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of 
service and guidance issued by the Department of Health.  
 
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG on 
VSM are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by 
either party.  
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Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No payments have been 
made during the year (will be subject to audit). 
 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose where the salary of senior managers is in 
excess of the prime minister’s salary of £150,000 on a pro rata basis. There were six 
senior officers who received a salary in excess of the prime minister’s salary in 
2017/18 on a pro rata basis (2016/17: six in excess of the prime minister’s salary of 
£142,500). The agreement to reasonable pay and conditions for very senior 
managers is considered by the CCG’s Remuneration Committee. 
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Senior Officer Remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2017/18 (subject to audit) 

 

 

Salary

 (bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest £100

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

All pension-
related 
beneifts 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
Remuneration 

 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Salary

 (bands of 
£5,000)

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest £100

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

All pension-
related 
beneifts 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total 
Remuneration 

 
(bands of 
£5,000)

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair 65 - 70 - - - 17.5 - 20.0 80 - 85 60 - 65 - - - 15.0 - 17.5 80 - 85

David Gallagher Chief Officer 115 - 120 94 - - 15.0 - 17.5 140 - 145 115 - 120 14 - - 25.0 - 27.5 140 - 145

Dr Claire Bradford Medical Director 55 - 60 38 - - 17.5 - 20.0 80 - 85 55 - 60 38 - - 90.0 - 92.5 150 - 155

Debbie Burnicle Deputy Chief Officer 100 - 105 77 - - 15.0 - 17.5 120 - 125 100 - 105 35 - - 95.0 - 97.5 200 - 205

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer 95 - 100 94 - - 30.0 - 32.5 135 - 140 95 - 100 114 - - 50.0 - 52.5 155 - 160

Ann Fox Note 2 Director Of Nursing, Quality And Safety 100 - 105 83 - - 15.0 - 17.5 120 - 125 75 - 80 1 - - 22.5 - 25.0 100 - 105

Dr Fadi Khalil Executive GP 45 - 50 - - - 12.5 - 15.0 60 - 65 40 - 45 - - - 167.5 - 170.0 210 - 215

Dr Jackie Gillespie Executive GP 30 - 35 - - - 7.5 - 10.0 40 - 45 30 - 35 - - - 7.5 - 10.0 40 - 45

Dr Tracey Lucas Executive GP 30 - 35 - - - 10.0 - 12.5 40 - 45 30 - 35 - - - 20.0 - 22.5 50 - 55

Dr Raj Bethapudi Executive GP 30 - 35 - - - 7.5 - 10.0 40 - 45 30 - 35 - - - 97.5 - 100.0 130 - 135

Dr Karthik Gelia Executive GP 30 - 35 - - - 2.5 - 5.0 35 - 40 30 - 35 - - - 197.5 - 200.0 230 - 235

Eric Harrison Note 1 Practice Manager Representative 20 - 25 - - - - 20 - 25 20 - 25 - - - -                 20 - 25
Florence Gunn Note 1 Strategic Practice Nurse 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 15 - 20 - - - -                 15 - 20
Aileen Sullivan Note 1 & Note 4 Lay Member, Public Patient Involvement (PPI) 15 - 20 4 - - - 15 - 20 10 - 15 5 - - -                 10 - 15

Pat Taylor Note 1
Lay Member, Vice Chair And Chair Of The Audit 
Committee (until 31/03/2017) 10 - 15 11 - - -                 15 - 20

Pat Taylor Note 1
Senior Independent Audit Advisor (from 01/04/2017 to 
31/05/2017) 0 - 5 3 - - - 0 - 5

Chris Macklin Note 1
Lay Member, Primary Care Committee (until 
31/05/2017) 0 - 5 3 - - - 0 - 5 10 - 15 19 - - -                 10 - 15

Chris Macklin Note 1 Chair, Audit and Risk Committee (from 01/06/2017) 10 - 15 18 - - - 10 - 15

Pat Harle
Lay Member, Primary Care Committee (from 
01/01/2018) 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5

Neil Weddle Note 1 Independent Audit Committee Member 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5 0 - 5 - - - -                 0 - 5

Prof. Mike Bramble Note 1 Secondary Care Clinician (until 31/05/2017) 0 - 5 3 - - - 0 - 5 10 - 15 8 - - -                 10 - 15

Derek Cruickshank Note 1 Secondary Care Clinician (from 01/06/2017) 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15
Scott Watson Note 1 Director of Contracting and Informatics 90 - 95 143 - - - 105 - 110 85 - 90 73 - - -                 90 - 95

Ian Holliday Note 1
Project Director of Integrated Commissioning (from 
01/09/2016) 45 - 50 - - - - 45 - 50 25 - 30 - - - - 25 - 30

Ian Holliday Note 2
Head of Service Reform and Joint Commissioning 
(until 30/07/2016) 25 - 30 1 - - 5.0 - 7.5 30 - 35

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD & Workforce 70 - 75 2 - - 27.5 - 30.0 100 - 105 75 - 80 8 - -  80.0 - 82.5 155 - 160

Tarryn Lake Deputy Chief Finance Officer 70 - 75 44 - - 22.5 - 25.0 100 - 105 65 - 70 52 - -  22.5 - 25.0 95 - 100

Matt Thubron Head of Contracting and Performance 65 - 70 59 - - 27.5 - 30.0 95 - 100 60 - 65 56 - - 32.5 - 35.0 95 - 100

Helen Steadman Note 3 Strategy & Planning Manager (from 01/08/2016) 60 - 65 - - - 20.0 - 22.5 80 - 85 35 - 40 - - -  95.0 - 97.5 135 - 140

Notes

Note 1 D Cruickshank, E Harrison, F Gunn, A Sullivan, P Taylor, C Macklin, N Weddle, M Bramble, I Holliday and S Watson are not in the NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 2 A Fox - until 31/08/2016 40% of WTE was spent working for South Tyneside CCG. Pension remuneration reported in 2016/17 relates to 1 WTE. Full salary for 2016/17 is in the £95k - £100k band. 

Note 3 H Steadman appointed as Strategy and Planning Manager from 01/08/2016. Pension remuneration reported in 2016/17 relates to the full financial year. 

Note 4 A Sullivan acted as Chair of Audit and Risk Committee from 01/04/2017 to 31/05/2017 and as Chair of Primary Care Committee from 01/06/2017 to 31/12/2017.

Expense Payments Expense payments include lease car allowances and mileage claims. 

Please note that the Pension Related Benefits include all benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the NHS Pensions Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme where annual pension entitlements for retired individuals are
based on their final salary. The disclosed amounts represent the increase in pension entitlement upon retiring for individuals and do not represent a cash payment made to individuals in the financial year. 

Please note that bandings utilised in the table for each area of remuneration differ in line with national guidance

Name Title 2016/17 (Restatement)2017/18
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Senior Officer Pension benefits 2017/18 (subject to audit) 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV, it does not include the increase in accrued 
pension due to inflation. 
 

Pay multiples (subject to audit)  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member of NHS Sunderland 
CCG in the financial year 2017/18 was £115,000 - £120,000 (2016/17: £115,000 - 
£120,000).  This was 2.81 times (2016/17: 2.94 times) the median remuneration of 
the workforce, which was £41,787 (2016/17: £40,028). 
 
In 2017/18, 0 (2016/17: 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the 
highest-paid director/member.  Remuneration ranged from £2,719 to £107,751 
(2016/17: £2,693 to £106,757). 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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There has been a decrease in the ratio of the median remuneration of the workforce 
in comparison to the highest paid director/member. This is due to an increase in the 
median total remuneration of all staff. 
 
2017/18 highest paid director/member:     
      
Chief Officer    115 - 120  
      
2016/17 highest paid director/member:     
      
Chief Officer    115 - 120  

 
 
 
 
 

Staff Report  

Number of senior managers 

The CCG had a total of 25 senior managers during 2017/18 (2016/17: 24) 

2017/18 2016/17

Band of Highest Paid Director/Member Total Remuneration (£'000) 115 - 120 115 - 120

Median Total Remuneration (£) 41,787 40,028

Ratio 2.81 2.94
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Staff numbers and costs (subject to audit) 

Staff Costs 
 

Staff Costs 
2017/18 

Total Admin Programme 

Total 
 

£’000 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Salaries and 
wages 

3,765 3,699 66 2,631 2,565 66 1,134 1,134 0 

Social security 
costs 

412 412 0 323 323 0 89 89 0 

Employer 
contributions to 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

450 450 0 344 344 0 106 106 0 

Apprenticeship 
Levy <1> 

5 5 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 

Total employee 
benefits 
expenditure 

4,632 4,566 66 3,303 3237 66 1,329 1,329 0 
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Staff Costs 
2016/17 
 

Total Admin Programme 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Permanent 
Employees 

£’000 
 

Other 
 

£’000 
 

Salaries and 
wages 

3,738 3,516 222 2,618 2,509 109 1,120 1,007 113 

Social security 
costs 

399 399 0 310 310 0 89 89 0 

Employer 
contributions to 
NHS Pension 
Scheme 

442 442 0 340 340 0 102 102 0 

Total employee 
benefits 
expenditure 

4,579 4,357 222 3,268 3,159 109 1,311 1,198 113 

 
 
Average number of people employed 
 
 2017-18 2016/17 
  Total Numbers Permanently 

Employed 
Number  

Other Number Total Numbers Permanently 
Employed 
Number 

Other Number 

Total Staff 80 78 2 78 74 4 
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Staff composition (subject to audit) 

 

 
*This figure includes substantive voting members only as detailed in the 
accountability report section of this annual report.  The Governing Body figures are 
provided as standalone figures, they do not contribute to the total figure for the whole 
CCG as some members may also be senior managers and some may not be on the 
payroll and not included in the total. 
**The CCG’s VSM are employees and are all members of the Governing Body 
therefore are included in all the figures shown above 
 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement 
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work 
rated as of equal value, being entitled to equal pay. 
 

Sickness absence data 

The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures 
all staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers 
and HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services. 
 
Average of 12 
months  
(2017 calendar 
year) 
 

Average FTE 
2017 
 

FTE Days 
Available 
 

FTE days 
Lost to 
sickness 
absence  

Average 
Sick 
Days per 
FTE 
 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Sickness 
Absence 
 

4.08% 79.97 17,993 735 9.2 £161,331 

Category of staff 
2017/18 

 
Total number of 
staff/members  

 
Number of male 
staff/members 
 

 
Number of 
female 
staff/members 
 

Governing body* 
members  

13 8 5 

Senior officers** (VSM 
and above) 

5 3 2 

 
All other employees  
 

137 38 99 

Total employees 
 

142 41 101 
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Staff policies 

The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps 
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and 
consultation with employees, including: 

 Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern to 
them as employees 

 Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the 
views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are 
likely to affect their interests 

 Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance  
 Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the 

part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the 
performance of the CCG 

 Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives 
and CCG managers from across the region meet together 

 

Trade union facility time 

As set out in the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 
2017, the CCG is required to publish the number of employees who were trade union 
officials during this period and any information about paid facility time and trade 
union activities.  
 
The CCG did not have any employees who were trade union representatives during 
the year.   
 

Expenditure on consultancy 

The CCG has spent a total of £68,008.49 on consultancy during 2017/18 in relation 
to the development of the multi-specialty community provider care model (2016/17: 
£44,120.40).    
 

Average of 12 
months 
(2016 calendar 
year) 
 

Average FTE 
2016 
 

FTE Days 
Available 
 

FTE days 
Lost to 
sickness 
absence 

Average 
Sick 
Days per 
FTE 
 

Estimated 
Cost of 
Sickness 
Absence 
 

3.27% 
 

80.36 18,081 591 7.4 £133,352 
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Off-payroll engagements  

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that 
last longer than six months are detailed below: 
 
 Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018  5 
Of which, the number that have existed:  
 
for less than one year at the time of reporting  
 

5 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

 
All existing off-payroll engagements, have at some point, been subject to a risk 
based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying 
the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.  
 
All new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2017 and March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that last for 
longer than six months are detailed below: 
 
 Number 
No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018  
 

5 

Of which: 
 
No. assessed as caught by IR35  
 

4 

No. assessed as not caught by IR35  
 

1 

 
No. engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the entity) and are on the 
entity’s payroll  
 

0 

No. of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes 
during the year.  

5 

No. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the 
consistency review  

4 

 
 
Off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018: 
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 Number 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year.  

0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure must 
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. 
 

25 

 

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that 
last longer than six months are detailed below: 
 
 Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 1  
Of which, the number that have existed:  
 
for less than one year at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting  
 

1 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting  
 

0 

 
All existing off-payroll engagements, have at some point, been subject to a risk 
based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying 
the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.  
 
Off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than 
£220 per day and that lasted longer than six months: 
 
          Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 

1 
 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
CCG the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and 
National Insurance obligations 

1 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 1 
Of which: 

 assurance has been received 1 
 assurance has not been received 0 
 engagements terminated as a result of assurance not 

being received 
0 
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Off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017: 
 
             Number 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the 
financial year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, 
and/or senior officers with significant financial responsibility’, 
during the financial year.  This figure includes both off-payroll 
and on-payroll engagements 

24 
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Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit) 

 
Exit package 
cost band 
(inc. any 
special 
payment 
element) 
2017/18 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed 

Cost of other 
departures 
agreed 

Total 
number of 
exit 
packages 

Total cost of 
exit packages 

Number of 
departures 
where special 
payments 
have been 
made 

Cost of special 
payment 
element 
included in exit 
packages 

 WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

£10,001 - 
£25,000 

0 0 1 17,245 1 17,245 0 0 

TOTALS 0 0 1 17,245 1 17,245 0 0 
 
 
 
Exit package 
cost band 
(inc. any 
special 
payment 
element) 
2016/17 

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed 

Cost of 
other 
departures 
agreed 

Total 
number of 
exit 
packages 

Total cost of 
exit packages 

Number of 
departures 
where special 
payments 
have been 
made 

Cost of special 
payment 
element 
included in exit 
packages 

 WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

WHOLE 
NUMBERS 
ONLY £s 

£10,001 - 
£25,000 

1 19,342 0 0 1 19,342 0 0 

TOTALS 1 19,342 0 0 1 19,342 0 0 
 
Exit costs in this note are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of 
departure.   
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

 
NHS Sunderland CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. 
 
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and 
fees and charges where applicable are included as notes in the financial statements 
of this report at page 140. 
 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this annual report at pages 119-123.  
 
 
 
 
 
David Gallagher  
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
   
 
 
 
 
22 May 2018 
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NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2018
2017-18 2016-17

Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (3) (59)

Other operating income 2 (907) (662)

Total operating income (910) (721)

Staff costs 4,632 4,579

Purchase of goods and services 503,986 492,741

Depreciation and impairment charges 0 39

Provision expense (89) 578

Other operating expenditure 216 243

Total operating expenditure 5 508,745 498,180

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 507,835 497,459
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Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2018
31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 8 0 0

Total non-current assets 0 0

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 9 2,884 1,704

Cash and cash equivalents 10 91 249

Total current assets 2,975 1,953

Total assets 2,975 1,953

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 (34,240) (30,575)

Provisions 12 (149) (578)

Total current liabilities (34,389) (31,153)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (31,414) (29,200)

Assets less liabilities (31,414) (29,200)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity

General fund (31,414) (29,200)

Total taxpayers' equity: (31,414) (29,200)

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

David Gallagher 

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)

22 May 2018

The financial statements on pages 1 to 25 were approved by the Governing Body on 22 May 2018 and signed on its behalf 

by:
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended

31 March 2018

General fund

Total 

reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

CCG balance at 1 April 2017 (29,200) (29,200)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18

Net operating cost for the financial year (507,835) (507,835)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial  year (507,835) (507,835)

Net Parliamentary funding 505,621 505,621

Balance at 31 March 2018 (31,414) (31,414)

General fund Total reserves

£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

CCG balance at 1 April 2016 (22,069) (22,069)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Net operating cost for the financial year (497,459) (497,459)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial  year (497,459) (497,459)

Net Parliamentary funding 490,328 490,328

Balance at 31 March 2017 (29,200) (29,200)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2018
2017-18 2016-17

Note £'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (507,835) (497,459)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 0 39

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 (1,180) (313)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 3,665 6,985

Provisions utilised 12 (340) 0

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (89) 578

Net cash outflow from operating activities (505,779) (490,170)

Net cash outflow before financing (505,779) (490,170)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net funding received 505,621 490,328

Net cash inflow from financing activities 505,621 490,328

Net increase in cash & cash equivalents 10 (158) 158

Cash & cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the beginning of the financial year 249 91

Cash & cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial year 91 249
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained 

in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to 

clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group 

Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 

circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 

adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material 

in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 

evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 

assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements.  If 

services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 

the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled 

budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

These arrangements can be either joint operations or joint ventures. Joint operations are arrangements where contractual agreements are in 

place under which the clinical commissioning and one or more parties share control. Operations deemed to be joint ventures would give the 

clinical commissioning group rights to assets and obligations in relation to liabilities.

The clinical commissioning group has a pooled budget arrangement with Sunderland City Council for the Better Care Fund, which the Council 

hosts. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled budget 

agreement. The annual contribution to the pooled budget for 2017-18 was £59,234,195 (2016-17 £95,758,595).

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those 

estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

1.4.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of 

applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements:

·                None

1.4.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting 

policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 - The assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment spells as at the Statement of 

Financial Position date. The full value of partially completed spells included in the financial statements for the clinical commissioning group as at 

the Statement of Financial Position date is £2,178,535 (for the period to 31st March 2017 the full value included in the financial statements 

totalled £1,544,052). The value is determined through assessment of the estimations made by service providers of the expected liability payable 

by the clinical commissioning group as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

 - The assumptions applied in the estimation of prescribing liabilities not yet billed as at the Statement of Financial Position date. Nationally 

derived phasing profiles from the NHS Business Services Authority provided for forecasting the likely prescribing outturn has been utilised in 

deriving the estimated liability of costs not yet billed for the clinical commissioning group. This was estimated at £8,636,778 as at the Statement 

of Financial Position date (for the period 31st March 2017 the full value included in the financial statements totalled £8,696,095).

1.5 Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

The CCG does not receive any material revenue other than parliamentary funding.
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NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18

Notes to the financial statements

1.6 Employee Benefits

1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 

bonuses earned but not yet taken.

  

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 

employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme 

that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. 

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 

liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 

participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 

liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless 

of the method of payment.

1.7 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 

value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, 

which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.8.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are 

functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 

single managerial control; or,

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective 

cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated 

as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2 Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset 

and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Property and 

plant are measured subsequently at valuation.

Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial 

position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be 

determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:

·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,

·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it 

would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes 

professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. 

Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing 

use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously 

recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation 

decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation 

reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear 

consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other 

comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where 

subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item 

replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.9 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-

current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 

service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain 

economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical 

life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a 

prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and 

equipment or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount 

of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 

for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the 

revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise 

from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 

the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there 

been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged 

there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases 

are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the 

present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned 

between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as 

a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 

operating or finance leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 

are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 

insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 

integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12   Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 

reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate:

·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)

·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)

·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 

recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 

raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features 

to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 

are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.13   Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, 

which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively 

responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.14  Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 

schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with 

the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to 

operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014-2015 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.  

Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

The contributions made by the clinical commissioning group are determined by NHS England and disclosed in Note 5.

The clinical commissioning group entered into risk share arrangements with local clinical commissioning groups for continuing healthcare in 2014-

2015 for a period of four financial years.  The contributions made by the clinical commissioning group to this arrangement are included within the 

reported accounts.

1.16 Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is 

not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 

measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 

of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 

inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.17 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 

receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 

asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

·                Held to maturity investments;

·                Available for sale financial assets; and,

·                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.17.1 Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After 

initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the 

effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the 

initial fair value of the financial asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value 

through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment 

as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in 

expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount 

of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 

been recognised.

1.18  Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-

recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from 

Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective 

interest method.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.19 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 

fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20  Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the 

generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would 

have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums 

then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The DHSC Group accounting manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18.  These standards 

are still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.

·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)

·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the above Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that year.  

It is not yet possible to estimate the impact of IFRS 16 as detailed guidance has not as yet been published

Page 9 of 25



NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2017-18

2. Other Operating Revenue
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Non-patient care services to other bodies 3 0 3 59 0 59

Other revenue 907 0 907 662 8 654

Total other operating revenue 910 0 910 721 8 713

3. Revenue
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

From rendering of services 910 0 910 721 8 713

Total 910 0 910 721 8 713

  

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the clinical 

commissioning group and credited to the General Fund.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1. Employee benefits 2017-18 Admin Programme

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Salaries and wages 3,765 3,699 66 2,631 2,565 66 1,134 1,134 0

Social security costs 412 412 0 323 323 0 89 89 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 450 450 0 344 344 0 106 106 0

Apprenticeship levy 5 5 0 5 5 0 0 0 0

Total gross employee benefits expenditure 4,632 4,566 66 3,303 3,237 66 1,329 1,329 0

2016-17 Admin Programme

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Salaries and wages 3,738 3,516 222 2,618 2,509 109 1,120 1,007 113

Social security costs 399 399 0 310 310 0 89 89 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 442 442 0 340 340 0 102 102 0

Total gross employee benefits expenditure 4,579 4,357 222 3,268 3,159 109 1,311 1,198 113

  

4.2. Average number of people employed

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 80 78 2 78 74 4

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2016-17: None).

4.3.  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2017-18 2016-17

Number Number

Total Days Lost 735 591

Total Staff Years 80 80

Average working Days Lost 9 7

The staff sickness numbers for 2017-18 are based on data for the calendar year January 2017 to December 2017 (2016-17: based on data from January 2016 to December 2016).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2016-17: None).

4.4. Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Number £ Number £ Number £

£10,001 to £25,000 0 0 1 17,245 1 17,245

Total 0 0 1 17,245 1 17,245

Number £ Number £ Number £

£10,001 to £25,000 1 19,342 0 0 1 19,342

Total 1 19,342 0 0 1 19,342

4.4.1. Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Number £ Number £

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 1 17,245 0 0

Total 1 17,245 0 0

Redundancy costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the national Agenda for Change terms and conditions of service. 

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.

The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.

2017-182017-182017-18

Total

Total

2017-18 2016-17

Other agreed departures

Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures

Other agreed departures

Total

2016-17 2016-17

2017-18 2016-17

2016-17

Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures Total
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4.5. Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and 

rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.

Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction 

of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify 

their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in 

each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall 

be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1. Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at 

the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 

membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 

reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, 

updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 

methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been 

used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the 

annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. 

Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2. Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account 

recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. 

The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent 

of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed 

The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are 

published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed 

off by the scheme actuary.  This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the 

Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or 

contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any 

required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation 

with the relevant stakeholders.

For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £450,213.65 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £441,177.81) were

payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer

contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest

review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in

the NHS pension line of note 4.1. 
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5.1. Operating expenses
2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 4,001 2,671 1,330 3,891 2,580 1,311

Executive governing body members 631 631 0 688 688 0

Total gross employee benefits 4,632 3,302 1,330 4,579 3,268 1,311

Other costs

Purchase of healthcare from NHS bodies: Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,920 1,061 1,859 2,547 922 1,625

Purchase of healthcare from NHS bodies: Services from foundation trusts 323,002 0 323,002 321,131 45 321,086

Purchase of healthcare from NHS bodies: Services from other NHS trusts 441 0 441 378 0 378

Services from other WGA bodies 587 0 587 307 0 307

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 74,882 0 74,882 75,871 0 75,871

Purchase of social care 8,452 0 8,452 0 0 0

Chair and Non Executive Members 150 150 0 154 154 0

Supplies and services – general 784 209 575 551 246 305

Consultancy services 68 2 66 44 44 0

Establishment 308 228 80 486 336 150

Transport 36 16 20 35 13 22

Premises 1,511 189 1,322 2,145 263 1,882

Impairments and reversals of receivables 0 0 0 89 0 89

Depreciation 0 0 0 39 0 39

External audit fees 65 65 0 81 81 0

Prescribing costs 51,831 0 51,831 51,470 0 51,470

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 38,560 0 38,560 36,379 0 36,379

Other professional fees excl. audit 49 48 1 58 13 45

Legal fees 209 106 103 0 0 0

Grants to other bodies 66 0 66 0 0 0

Education, training and conferences 281 230 51 217 177 40

Provisions (89) 0 (89) 578 0 578

CHC Risk Pool contributions 0 0 0 1,041 0 1,041

Total other costs 504,113 2,304 501,809 493,601 2,294 491,307

Total operating expenses 508,745 5,606 503,139 498,180 5,562 492,618

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

Included within Premises is £1,269k (2016-17: £1,899k) for rentals under operating leases paid to NHS Property Services which is reported in note 7.

5.2. Analysis of non NHS healthcare operating expenditure

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2017-18

Total Independent/ 

Private 

Voluntary / 

Not-for-Profit

Local Authorities Devolved 

Administrations

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Total primary healthcare purchased 2,359 2,359 0 0 0

Purchase of secondary healthcare

Mental health 9,990 1,622 342 8,026 0

Maternity 65 0 65 0 0

General and acute 4,974 4,832 1 0 141

Accident and emergency 2,855 2,855 0 0 0

Community health services 25,748 13,507 2,636 9,605 0

Continuing care incl different types of NHS funded care provided on continuous basis 28,891 1,188 0 27,703 0

Total secondary healthcare purchased 72,523 24,004 3,044 45,334 141

Social Care 8,452 0 0 8,452 0

Total non NHS healthcare operation expenditure 83,334 26,363 3,044 53,786 141

2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Total Independent/ 

Private 

Voluntary Local Authorities Devolved 

Administrations

£000s £000s £000s £000s

Total Primary Healthcare Purchased 1,526 1,526 0 0 0

Purchase of Secondary Healthcare

Social Care 47 47 0 0 0

Mental Health 2,525 352 359 1,814 0

Maternity 90 90 0 0 0

General and Acute 4,896 4,815 0 0 81

Accident and Emergency 2,976 2,976 0 0 0

Community Health Services 30,624 13,683 2,060 14,880 1

Continuing Care incl different types of NHS funded care provided on continuous basis 33,187 1,180 0 32,007 0

Total Secondary Healthcare Purchased 74,345 23,143 2,419 48,701 82

Total Non NHS Healthcare Operation Expenditure 75,871 24,669 2,419 48,701 82

The purchase of social care expenditure category has been introduced in 2017/18. This expenditure has previously been reported within the purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies category. The expenditure 

relating to the purchase of social care reported under the purchase of health non-NHS bodies category in 2016/17 was £8,781k.

The legal fees expenditure category has been introduced in 2017/18.  This expenditure has previously been reported within the other professional fees excl. audit category.  The expenditure relating to legal fees reported 

under the other professional fees excl. audit category in 2016/17 was £21k.
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6. Better Payment Practice Code

6.1. Measure of compliance 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 6,499 119,214 6,682 112,699

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,425 118,870 6,616 112,390

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.86% 99.71% 99.01% 99.73%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices paid in the year 2,183 330,302 2,020 322,770

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 2,182 330,253 2,019 322,769

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.95% 99.99% 99.95% 100.00%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of 

receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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7. Operating leases

7.1. As lessee

7.1.1. Payments recognised as an expense

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 1,269 17 1,286 1,899 40 1,939

Total 1,269 17 1,286 1,899 40 1,939

7.1.2. Future minimum lease payments

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 88 14 102 88            16           104

Between one and five years 441 9 450 441          23           464

After five years 42 0 42 130          0 130

Total 571 23 594 659 39 698

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and photocopiers, 

none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of 

arrangement involved.

The clinical commissioning group also has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services in respect of the utilisation of various clinical and non-

clinical properties.  These largely relate to payments made in respect of void and sessional space in clinical properties, as well as for the clinical 

commissioning group's accommodation costs. Funding in respect of void and sessional spaces was made available from NHS England in the clinical 

commissioning group's allocation. 

Although formal signed leases are not in place for void spaces in these properties, the transactions involved do convey the right of the clinical 

commissioning group to use property assets.  The clinical commissioning group has considered the substance of these arrangements under IFRIC 4 

'Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease' and determined that the arrangements are (or contain) leases.  

Accordingly the payments made in 2017-18 for void and sessional spaces are disclosed as minimum lease payments in the buildings category in 

note 7.1.1 below.  In the absence of formal contracts however, it is not possible to confirm minimum lease payments for future years hence no 

figures are included in note 7.1.2 below for these arrangements.  It is expected that the payments recognised in 2017-18 would continue to be 

minimum lease payments in 2018-19.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

31 March 2018

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost/ valuation at 01 April 252 0 252

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 252 0 252

Depreciation at 01 April 252 0 252

Depreciation at 31 March 252 0 252

Net Book Value at 31 March 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 0 0 0

31 March 2017

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 01 April 252 3 255

Disposals 0 -3 -3

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 252 0 252

Depreciation 01 April 213 3 216

Disposals 0 -3 -3

Charged during the year 39 0 39

Depreciation at 31 March 252 0 252

Net Book Value at 31 March 0 0 0

Total at 31 March 0 0 0

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000

Plant & machinery 252 252

Total 252 252
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9.  Trade and other receivables Current Current

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 1,676 253

NHS prepayments 931 963

NHS accrued income 0 153

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 201 320

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 66 29

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 0 44

Provision for the impairment of receivables 0 (89)

VAT 8 29

Other receivables and accruals 2 2

Total Trade & other receivables 2,884 1,704

Total current 2,884 1,704

9.1. Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

By up to three months 131 108

Total 131 108

£121k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

9.2.  Provision for impairment of receivables 31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April (89) (2)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables impaired 89 (87)

Balance at 31 March 0 (89)

10. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 249 91

Net change in year (158) 158

Balance at 31 March 91 249

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 91 249

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 91 249

Balance at 31 March 91 249

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical 

commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring for NHS England is considered necessary.

The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: 

£0).

The clinical commissioning group held no cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2018 on behalf of patients (31 March 2017: £0).
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Current Current

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: revenue 2,618 3,748

NHS accruals 2,122 3,354

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 5,768 4,466

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 21,053 18,471

Social security costs 59 56

Tax 55 56

Other payables and accruals 2,565 424

Total Trade & Other Payables 34,240 30,575

Total current 34,240 30,575

12.  Provisions
Current Current

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

Other 149 578

  149 578

Total current 149 578

Other Total

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2017 578 578

Arising during the year 149 149

Utilised during the year (340) (340)

Reversed unused (238) (238)

Balance at 31 March 2018 149 149

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 149 149

Balance at 31 March 2018 149 149

Other Total

£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2016 0 0

Arising during the year 578 578

Balance at 31 March 2017 578 578

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 578 578

Balance at 31 March 2017 578 578

The clinical commissioning group has included a provision relating to a potential sustainability issue with a provider organisation.

13. Contingencies

The clinical commissioning group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017 None).

The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: None).

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, 24 February 2015, 22 February 2016 and 11 

April 2017, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to 

periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the clinical 

commissioning group. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on 

behalf of this clinical commissioning group at 31 March 2018 is £147k (31 March 2017: £540k). 

11. Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2018, the clinical commissioning group had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the 

liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2017: £0).

Other payables include £345k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: £343k).

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, 24 February 2015, 22 February 2016 and 11 

April 2017, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to 

periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the clinical 

commissioning group. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare contingent liabilities accounted for by NHS 

England on behalf of this clinical commissioning group at 31 March 2018 is £322k (31 March 2017: £598k). 
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14. Financial instruments

14.1. Financial risk management

14.1.1. Currency risk

14.1.2. Interest rate risk

14.1.3. Credit risk

14.1.4. Liquidity risk

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from 

resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need 

arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 

changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk 

faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical 

of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to 

borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being 

held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the clinical 

commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review 

by the clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 

being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The clinical commissioning 

group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS 

England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National 

Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate 

fluctuations.

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group's revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group  

has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 

disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
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14. Financial instruments cont'd

14.2. Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2018 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Receivables:

·          NHS 1,676 1,676

·          Non-NHS 201 201

Cash at bank and in hand 91 91

Other financial assets 1 1

Total at 31 March 2018 1,969 1,969

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

Receivables:

·          NHS 406 406

·          Non-NHS 365 365

Cash at bank and in hand 249 249

Other financial assets 1 1

Total at 31 March 2017 1,021 1,021

14.3. Financial liabilities

Other Total

31 March 2018 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Payables:

·          NHS 4,739 4,739

·          Non-NHS 29,386 29,386

Total at 31 March 2018 34,125 34,125

Other Total

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000

Payables:

·          NHS 7,102 7,102

·          Non-NHS 23,360 23,360

Total at 31 March 2017 30,462 30,462

15. Operating segments

The clinical commissioning group has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 

operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the clinical commissioning group's governing body, considered to 

be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the clinical commissioning group, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and 

assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the clinical commissioning group relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  

As a result, the clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare 

services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the statement of comprehensive 

net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.
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16. Pooled budgets

2017-18 2016-17

£'000 £'000

Income 0 0

Expenditure (59,234) (95,759)

17. Intra-government and other balances

Current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables
31 March 2018 31 March 2018

£000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 8 1,338

·          Local Authorities 200 5,242

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies within the NHS England Group 1,634 446

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 974 4,293

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 2,608 4,739

·          Bodies external to Government 68 22,921

Total balances at 31 March 2018 2,884 34,240

Current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£000 £000
  

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 31 1,090

·          Local Authorities 150 3,985

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies within the NHS England Group 195 324

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 1,175 6,778

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,370 7,102

·          Bodies external to Government 153 18,398

Total balances at 31 March 2017 1,704 30,575

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Sunderland City Council. The pool is hosted 

by Sunderland City Council.

Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Better Care Fund and a 

Mental Capacity Act safeguarding practitioner. 

The clinical commissioning group’s shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the 

financial year were:

The clinical commissioning group has reduced the number of services included within the Section 75 agreement with 

Sunderland City Council for the Better Care Fund in 2017-18. This has resulted in a decrease in the pooled budget 

disclosure note of £36,525k in 2017-18.
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18. Related party transactions

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related Party

Amounts due 

from Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ian Pattison Governing Body Chair GP Partner at Southlands Medical Group Southlands Medical Group 861 0 40 0

Ian Pattison Governing Body Chair Partner is a locum GP at Southlands Medical Group Southlands Medical Group 861 0 40 0

Ian Pattison Governing Body Chair GP Appraiser NHS England 214 829 69 1,593

Mike Bramble Secondary Care Clinician (to May 

2017)

Consultant Gastroenterologist South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 428 0 200 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Friends with Assistant Finance Director Income and Contracts, Newcastle 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 11,125 0 149 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Friends with Head of Finance and Budgeting, Northumberland Tyne & 

Wear NHS Foundation Trust

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 

Foundation Trust

53,659 0 626 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Wife is Assistant Director of Finance – Costing & Contracting at 

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 22,861 0 69 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Brother is a nurse in ITU unit South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 31,436 88 528 18

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer HFMA Northern Branch Chair HFMA 9 0 0 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Friends with Finance Lead NHS Property Services NHS Property Services Limited 1,598 0 1,652 0

Ann Fox Director of Nursing, Quality and 

Safety

Visiting Professor at University of Sunderland University of Sunderland 1 8 0 16

Scott Watson Director of Contracting and 

Informatics

Father was leader of Sunderland City Council Sunderland City Council 52,430 553 4,919 1,570

Tarryn Lake Deputy Chief Finance Officer HFMA Northern Branch Treasurer HFMA 9 0 0 0

Claire Bradford Medical Director Deputy medical referee Newcastle City Council Newcastle City Council 0 17 0 0

Raj Bethapudi Executive GP GP Partner,  Dr Cloak and Partners Dr Cloak and Partners 1,307 0 71 0

Raj Bethapudi Executive GP Brother is a consultant radiologist at County Durham and Darlington NHS 

Foundation Trust

County Durham and Darlington NHS 

Foundation Trust

6,592 0 22 6

Karthik Gellia Executive GP GP Partner, Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman Dr Gellia and Dr Balaraman 430 0 40 0

Jackie Gillespie Executive GP GP Partner, Millfield Medical Centre Millfield Medical Centre 1,819 0 84 0

Fadi Khalil Executive GP GP Partner at Broadway Medical Practice Broadway Medical Practice 767 0 87 0

Fadi Khalil Executive GP Partner provides consultancy support to Sunderland GP Alliance Sunderland GP Alliance 7,060 0 541 9

Tracey Lucas Executive GP GP Partner at Deerness Park Medical Group Deerness Park Medical Group 1,847 0 160 0

Eric Harrison Executive Practice Manager Practice Manager at Deerness Park Medical Group Deerness Park Medical Group 1,847 0 160 0

Chris Macklin Lay Member, Audit and Risk 

Committee

Carer Governor for Adult Mental Health at Northumberland, Tyne and 

Wear Mental Health Trust  1 December 2015 to 21 June 2017

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 

Foundation Trust

53,659 0 626 0

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD and 

Workforce

Ex daughter-in-law is Directorate Manager for Trauma and Orthopaedics 

with Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 22,861 0 69 0

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD and 

Workforce

Sister is employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust as the 

integration agenda lead.      

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 22,861 0 69 0

Florence Gunn Executive Practice Nurse Practice Nurse at Pallion Family Practice Pallion Family Practice 1,307 0 182 0

Matt Thubron Head of Contracting and 

Performance

Sister-in-law is employed by City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 

Trust

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 

Trust

185,306 46 2,139 946

Helen Steadman Head of Strategy and Planning Brother is Estates Officer at Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 11,125 0 149 0

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due 

from Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair GP Partner, Southlands Medical Group Southlands Medical Group 645 0 36 0

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair Partner is employed by Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust

Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

11,307 5 146 0

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair Contracted by NHS England to perform GP appraisals NHS England 124 57 106 0

Pat Taylor Lay Vice Chair Husband is employed by the North of England Commissioning Support 

Unit

North of England Commissioning Support 

Unit

2,692 33 49 0

Pat Taylor Lay Vice Chair Governor at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust until 31 

March 2017.

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 

Trust

180,355 22 3,698 985

Prof. Mike Bramble Secondary Care Clinician Employed as a Consultant Gastroenterologist by South Tees Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 606 0 3 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Wife is employed by South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust as the Head 

of Costing, Income and Contracts until 12 January 2017.

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 31,506 82 789 37

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Sister is employed as a nurse in the ITU Unit by South Tyneside NHS 

Foundation Trust

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 31,506 82 789 37

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Friend  of Assistant Finance Director Income and Contracts at Newcastle 

Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

11,307 5 146 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Friend of Head of Finance and Budgeting  at Northumberland, Tyne and 

Wear NHS Foundation Trust

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 

Foundation Trust

51,861 0 1,318 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer HFMA Northern Branch Committee Vice Chair to 22 March 2017; Chair 

from 23 March 2017.

HFMA 4 0 4 0

David Chandler Chief Finance Officer Wife is employed by Gateshead NHS Foundation Trust as the Head of 

Costing, Income and Contracts from 3 January 2017.

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 21,093 0 368 0

Tarryn Lake Deputy Chief Finance Officer HFMA Northern Branch Treasurer HFMA 4 0 4 0

Scott Watson Director of Informatics and 

Contracting

Father is leader of Sunderland City Council. Sunderland City Council 48,362 1,008 3,985 232

Dr Jackie Gillespie Executive GP GP Partner, Millfield Medical Group Millfield medical Group 1,654 0 99 0

Dr Jackie Gillespie Executive GP Husband is GP partner in The Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland. The Old Forge Surgery 1,055 0 69 0

Dr Fadi Khalil Executive GP GP Partner, The Broadway Medical Practice The Broadway Medical Practice 735 0 71 0

Dr Fadi Khalil Executive GP Partner was a Clinical Business Manager at South Tyneside NHS 

Foundation Trust until 31 July 2016

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 31,506 82 789 37

Dr Fadi Khalil Executive GP Partner is a Lead Nurse for Career Start Scheme (commenced 1 August 

2016).

Sunderland GP Alliance 4,537 59 1,124 36

Dr Raj Bethapudi Executive GP GP Partner,  Dr Cloak and Partners Dr Cloak and Partners 1,178 0 119 0

Dr Raj Bethapudi Executive GP Brother is consultant radiologist at County Durham and Darlington NHS 

Foundation Trust

County Durham and Darlington NHS 

Foundation Trust

7,269 0 0 151

Dr Karthik Gellia Executive GP GP Partner, Monkwearmouth Health Centre Monkwearmouth Medical Centre 440 0 0 0

Dr Tracey Lucas Executive GP GP Partners, Deerness Park Medical Group Deerness Park Medical Group 1,825 0 252 0

Eric Harrison Executive Practice Manager Employed by Deerness Park Medical Group Deerness Park Medical Group 1,825 0 252 0

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD and 

Workforce

Sister is employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 21,093 0 368 0

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD and 

Workforce

Ex-daughter-in-law was employed by Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust until October 2016

Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

11,307 5 146 0

Clare Nesbit Associate Director of OD and 

Workforce

Ex-daughter-in-law is employed by Gateshead Health NHS Foundation 

Trust, commencing October 2017

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 21,093 0 368 0

Chris Mackin Lay Member, Primary Care 

Commissioning Committee

Member of Council of Governors, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 

Foundation Trust

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS 

Foundation Trust

51,861 0 1,318 0

Florence Gunn Strategic Practice Nurse Nurse at Wearside Practice Nurse at Wearside Practice 1,182 0 0 0

Helen Steadman Head of Strategy and Planning Brother is Estates Officer at Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

11,307 5 146 0

During the year 2017-18 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Name Title Declaration Related Party 

During the year 2016-17 the clinical commissioning group undertook transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them:

Related Party DeclarationTitleName
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18. Related party transactions (continued)

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts from 

Related Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due from 

Related Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

1,847 0 161 0

540 0 486 0

227 0 22 0

1,632 0 92 0

852 0 30 0

898 0 105 0

1,307 0 182 0

693 0 26 0

1,053 0 43 0

1,589 0 67 0

564 0 72 0

1,002 0 49 0

728 0 28 0

112 0 0 0

1,238 0 40 0

1,045 0 33 0

1,819 0 84 0

746 0 61 0

1,307 0 71 0

1,319 0 53 0

1,150 0 48 0

731 0 70 0

928 0 62 0

767 0 87 0

380 0 50 0

789 0 68 0

956 0 46 0

147 0 1 0

805 0 39 0

470 0 70 0

430 0 46 0

861 0 40 0

280 0 10 0

430 0 40 0

724 0 27 0

528 0 26 0

348 0 15 0

542 0 59 0

277 0 12 0

343 0 27 0

613 0 26 0

265 0 13 0

426 0 34 0

352 0 13 0

370 0 11 0

338 0 26 0

770 0 36 0

7,060 0 541 0

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance
1
 Drs Vakharia and Hegde Practice merged with Dr Dixit Practice in July 2017.  Dr Dixit Practice is now the provider and is known as the Galleries Medical Group.

2
 Church View Practice and Colliery Medical Group merged in June 2017.  Colliery Medical Group is now the provider.

3 
This practice was closed and the patient list dispersed in 2017.

4 
The Sunderland GP Alliance in addition to being a collaboration of local practices also directly provides primary care medical services.

5 
The Springwell House and Harraton Surgery merged in August 2017.  Harraton Surgery is now the provider.

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts from 

Related Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due from 

Related Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

185,306 46 2,139 946

53,659 0 626 0

31,436 88 528 18

22,861 0 69 0

12,250 0 0 2

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts from 

Related Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due from 

Related Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

52,430 553 4,919 1,570

Dr H Pepper & Partners (Hetton Group Practice)*

Dr Brigham & Partners (Vilette Surgery)*

Dr Shetty & Partners*

Pallion Family Practice*

Dr Reddy & Partners (Redhouse Medical Centre)*

The clinical commissioning group is a membership organisation.  The GP Practices of Sunderland are all members of the clinical commissioning group. The table below lists 

the 2017-18 related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland. In addition, the clinical commissioning group works with the Sunderland GP Alliance who are 

part of a collobaration agreement with practices in Sunderland. The table below outlines the transactions with this organisation and outlines the practices who are members of 

each GP alliance.  

Possible Related Party

Deerness Park Medical Group*

Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*

Dr Vakharia & Hegde (The Galleries Health Centre)
1

Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)*

Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)

Houghton Medical Group*

Broadway Medical Practice (Dr Mekkawy & Partners)*

Dr Lilley & Partners (Herrington Medical Centre)*

Dr Ford & Partners (St. Bede's Medical Practice)*

Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)*

Ashburn Medical Centre (Dr Parry & Partners)*

Dr Cloak & Partners*

Old Forge Surgery*

Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)*

Dr Stephenson & Partners*

Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)*

The Galleries Medical Group (formerly Dr Dixit Practice)
1

New City Medical Group

Roker Family Practice 
3

Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray)

Dr Weatherhead & Associates*

Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)*

Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland) 
5

Westbourne Medical Group*

Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)*
2

Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)*

Southlands Medical Group 

Castletown Medical Group*

Monkwearmouth Medical Centre*

Happy House Surgery

Church View Medical Centre*
2

Dr Obonna*

Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners)*

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year 2017-18 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

Department of Health Entity

Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*
3

Dr Nathan (Riverview)*

South Hylton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)*

Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)*

Harraton Surgery 
5

Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)*

Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)*

Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn*

Pallion Health Centre*

Sunderland GP Alliance (Collaboration of Local Practices) 
4

Sunderland City Council 

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 

North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies in 

2017-18. Most of these transactions have been with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.

Other Government Bodies
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18. Related party transactions (continued)

The table below lists the related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland in 2016-17

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due 

from Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deerness Park Medical Group* 1,825 0 252 0

Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)* 469 0 72 0

Dr Vakharia & Hegde (The Galleries Health Centre)** 595 0 51 0

Dr H Pepper & Partners (Hetton Group Practice)* 1,622 0 115 0

Dr Brigham & Partners (Vilette Surgery)* 772 0 37 0

Dr Shetty & Partners* 1,019 0 95 0

Pallion Family Practice* 1,182 0 0 0

Dr Reddy & Partners (Redhouse Medical Centre)* 666 0 47 0

Dr Lilley & Partners (Herrington Medical Centre)* 80 0 55 0

Dr Stephenson & Partners* 1,448 2 93 0

Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)* 594 0 44 0

Dr Dixit Practice (The Galleries Health Centre)** 498 0 26 0

New City Medical Group 659 0 44 0

Roker Family Practice 260 0 24 0

Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)* 499 0 91 0

Dr Ford & Partners (St. Bede's Medical Practice)* 974 0 50 0

Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)* 1,654 0 99 0

Ashburn Medical Centre (Dr Parry & Partners)* 667 0 33 0

Dr Cloak & Partners* 1,178 0 119 0

Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery)*1 1,055 0 69 0

Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)* 1,011 0 63 0

Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)** 663 0 62 0

Houghton Medical Group* 899 0 54 0

Broadway Medical Practice (Dr Mekkawy & Partners)* 735 0 71 0

Encompass Health Care**2 282 0 298 0

Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray) 380 0 68 0

Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners)* 710 0 60 0

Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)* 936 0 48 0

Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland) 297 0 28 0

Westbourne Medical Group* 71 0 54 0

Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)* 577 0 34 0

Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)* 415 0 27 0

Southlands Medical Group 645 0 36 0

Castletown Medical Group* 253 0 13 0

Barmston Medical Centre**2 342 0 110 0

Monkwearmouth Medical Centre* 440 0 0 0

Happy House Surgery 654 0 48 0

Church View Medical Centre* 845 0 39 0

Dr Obonna* 313 0 16 0

Dr Weatherhead & Associates* 521 0 40 0

Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)* 418 0 20 0

Eden Terrace Surgery*1 27 0 16 0

Dr Nathan (Riverview)* 456 0 20 0

South Hylton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)* 628 0 37 0

Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)* 242 0 27 0

Harraton Surgery 292 0 19 0

Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)* 179 0 24 0

Pennywell Medical Centre*2 280 0 0 44

Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)* 366 0 20 0

Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn* 324 0 32 0

Pallion Health Centre* 639 0 0 0

Sunderland GP Alliance (Collaboration of Local Practices) 4,537 59 1,124 36

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due 

from Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

180,355 22 3,698 985

51,861 0 1,318 0

31,506 82 789 37

21,093 0 368 0

12,011 0 83 0

Payments to 

Related Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts owed 

to Related Party

Amounts due 

from Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

48,362 1,008 3,985 232

Possible Related Party

Sunderland City Council 

2 Encompass Healthcare, Barmston Medical Centre, and Pennywell Medical Centre merged on 1 October 2016; the Sunderland GP Alliance is now the contract holder for these 

practices.

1 Eden Terrace  and Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery) merged on 1 October 2016 ; Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery) is now the contract holder for both 

practices. 

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance

** Member Practice of Washington Community Health Care

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 

North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies in 2017-

Other Government Bodies

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year 2016-17 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material 

transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

Department of Health Entity

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 
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19. Events after the end of the reporting period

20. Losses and special payments

The total number of losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Total 

Number of 

Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

Total 

Number of 

Cases

Total Value of 

Cases

2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17

Number £'000 Number £'000

Administrative write-offs 0 0 1 89

Total 0 0 1 89

The liability provided for in 2016-17 in relation to a possible administrative write off has been released in 2017-18 without write-off.

21. Financial performance targets

NHS Act Section Duty Duty Duty 

Target Performance Achieved? Target Performance Achieved? 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

223H (1) Expenditure not to exceed income 511,724 508,745 Yes 521,761 498,180 Yes

223I (2) Capital resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions
0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223I (3) Total Revenue resource use does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions
510,814 507,835 Yes 521,040 497,459 Yes

223J (1) Capital resource use on specified matter(s) 

does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions

0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (2) Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) 

does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions

0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (3) Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions
5,941 5,606 Yes 5,977 5,553 Yes

The clinical commissioning group received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2018 and incurred no capital expenditure (year ended 31 March 2017: £0)

The financial targets included in the table above are as per CCG Allocations Directions published by NHS England.

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

  2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue resource 502,051 5,941 507,992 491,542 5,977 497,519

Net operating cost for the financial year 502,229 5,606 507,835 491,906 5,553 497,459

Underspend against in year revenue resource available (178)              335                    157            (364)                 424                   60                 

2017-18 2017-18 2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2016-17

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource

Total Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

In year revenue resource available to the clinical commissioning group 523,054 5,941 528,995 515,063 5,977 521,040

Net operating cost for the financial year 502,229 5,606 507,835 491,906 5,553 497,459

Underspend against revenue resource 20,825          335                    21,160      23,157             424                   23,581          

There are no post balance sheet events which would have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group (2016-17: None)

2017-18 2016-17

The in year underspend against the revenue resource for 2017-18 included £2,821,666 (year ended 31 March 2017: £4,866,090) mandated by NHS England to be delivered as an additional 

surplus in order to support national system wide pressures. In addition the CCG with approval from NHS England has drawdown £5,400,000 of cumulative surpluses in 2017/18 to support 

transformation. This is included within the programme revenue resource totals provided above.

The revenue resources outlined in the table above only includes the  financial performance against in year resources available to the clinical commissioning group. The table below outlines the 

clinical commissioning groups cumulative financial position incorporating brought forward surpluses from previous financial years which have not been utilised.
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